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DIGEST 

Barnard Gratz arrived in America in l 75h, and ~·1ichael followed 

several years later in 1759. Both men began their careers in the counting­

house of David Franks, vhere they came into con tact with the ~stablished 

merchants of Philadelphia and Lancaster. The opportunitie s to advance 

were manifold, and the Gratz brothers (at first independently- and then, 

after 1768, in joint partnership) were quickly involved in trade with 

England , Eur ope, the West Indies , Canada, the other mainland colonies 

and the west. English colonial trade was compl etely dominated by British 

mercantilist policy. To enforce this policy, a seri es of Parl iamentary 

Acts were inaugurated (the Navigation Acts, Sugar Act, Stamp Act, Currency 

Act and Townshend Acts) , which antagonized colonial interests and against 

whi ch trey rebelled. Trade in the Atlantic slackened, and money grew 

scarce in the colonies . The burgeoning western trade provided a much­

needed market for the Gratz b:-others and t!ieir Pennsylvania associates. 

~lestern t rade wa s further encouraged by the continuous i.tflux of new 

iirir i grants into the interior, where land at a reasonable price was 

available to them. Ml')re and more investors began to speculate in western 

land saJe s and development. rre movel1\€ nt westward was stimulated also 

by the Treaty of Pari s, by whjch Canada and all of t he lands east of the 

Mississippi were ceded to the 3ri ti sh crown. Following Pontiac 1 s insur­

recti on, twenty'- t hree wes tern trade~s (including mal\Y of the associates 

or Barnard and ~ichael Gratz ) petitioned the king to ~rant them western 

lands as compensati on for treir losses . They were opposed in this venture 

by the Ohio Company of "irginia, which was also petitioning for land in 

the interior . These conflicti ng interests were ultimatezy merged in 
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London as tte ' .rand Ohio Company . In 1768, the Fort Stanwix Trea t1 

ceded to "the suffering traders of 176311 a large area of land along 

the Ghio - though the crown refused to honor t~ grant until 1772. 

A second company of westerr traders was f orrr~d to recoup the losses 

sustained ir the French and Indian War ; and, iri 1"'73, tney were given 

another large tract of land in Illinois . With such large land holdings 

and ••i.th the elimination of Baynton, ',Vharton and Morgan as a sour ce of 

competition in the western trade, at the outbreak of the Revolutionary 

Kar t he Gratz brothers and their associates emerged as the key figures 

in the drama of our nation's expansion westward . 
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PREFACE 

A word should oe s aid about ~he sources consulted in the writing 

of this paper. Of significant importance were two collections of papers, 

.nanuscripts and articles concerning the G,...atz br otrers, their families and 

their assqciates in colonial society. 3oth collections were compiled and 

ed)ted by A'illiazn Vincent Byars . The Gr atz Papers , 1'750-1850 (not pub­

lished, but available on microfilm f r om the l'issrur i Histor ical Society 

at St. Louis) were compiled in the years 1913-1915 from several manu-

script sources , the most significant of which were t he Etting Papers of 

the 1listorical Soc:iet; of Pennsylvania, which included an ex:tensive 

manuscript co1..lection of the l e tters and papers of ¥.ichael J ratz , the 

grandfather of Col,nel ?rank M. ~tting ; the manuscr ipts of the McAllister 

Collection of the Library ~ompany of Philadelphia (at the Ridgeway Libr ary): 

and the manuscripts of the New York Public Library, the Library of Congress, 

the Carnegie Librar-1 , and other such public or semi- private institutions. 

The following year (1916) , Byars compiled, edited and published the book 

S . and ?~ . Gratz , Y.er':hants in Philadelphia, 1754-1798 (Jeffer son City, l"'o . : 

The Hugh Stephens Printing Co . ) . "The l etters anci oapers included in 

this volume were selected solely because of their possible interest for 

the now numerous descendants of the [Gratz] brother s." ( p. ~) . The 

greatest part of his material came from sources alreaey consultad fer The 

Gratz Papers, out more extensive use was l"lade of public or semi- private 

historical o r ganizatfons . The collection of Judge Mayer Sulzberger of 

Ph:...ladelphia was the only signifi~ar.t new manuscript collection consulted 

for B. and M, Gratz. 

Since it was m.v concern not only to discuss the activities of 
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Barnard and ~ichael Gratz but to pbce them in their historical context, 

secondary sources dealing with the political and economic backgr ound of 

eighteenth century Europe and t.re American colonies were consulted. The 

empnasis t.hroughout this paper has heen on the econOJT1ic and political 

factors influencing colonial society, and little attention has been given 

to the social or reli gious activities of Barnard and Michael Grat z and their 

contemporaries • 

This paper is really a cooperative venture. It could not have 

been completed without the unfailing assistance of 11\Y r efer ee , Dr . Stanley 

F. Shyet, wnose quick response to my every inquiry gave substance and 

quality to this wor k, nor without the devoted loyalty of my wife , Cookie, 

whose unending patience and encouragen:ent gave me a sure foundation upon 

which to labor . ro t h:se two 11 collaborators, II I fondly dedi cate this 

paper . 

Frank Stern 
Cincinnati 
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CHAPTER ONE 

INTRODUCTION 

England is a small island, with relatively few natural resources 

and an ext.remely dense population, that became, in the course of a few cen­

turie~ , master of the seven seas , ruler of the world ' s commerce and possessor 

of the greatest empire ever known in history . In great measure, all three 

are the results of changes wrought by the Industrial Revolution. In need 

of money to strengthen their position at home and their prestige abroad, 

the Tudor monarchs encouraged ind..istry wit.bin their realms and granted 

trading monopolies to groups of adventurers W"i.lling to risk their 

fortunes ir. foreign commerce . There was little money to be bad in landed 

estates , and the new merchant and trading class was encouraged at the 

expense of the old nobility . Though Catholicism frowned on interest-

takir.g and excessive profit-making, the capitalist system of enterprise 

was vigor~usly supported by the ~ewly emerging Protestantism. 

As a condition to their hazardous adventures , the promoters of 

the new companies demanded and secured royal cha:.·ters from the English 

government which conferred upon them a ml)nopoly of trade with tl.e areas 

which they proposed to open. Large initial ~.xperuiitures were necessary, 

and profits were slow in coming; hence they wanted the guarantee that 

outsiders would be excluded f~om the harvest which the promoters had taken 

such pains to sew. As exporters using their own vessels, the English 

merchants desired to obtain return cargoes . Therefore, they opposed the 

foreign merchants who had previously held the lion's share of the nation ' s 

import trade . After a century of conflict with their alien rivals , the 

English merchants succeeded in dislodging them during the reign of Elizabeth . 
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Thus was inaugurated a series of struggles for colonial possessions and 

commercial power in which maritime supremacy passed from Portugal to 

Spain, then to Holland, then to England and France. England and France 

engaged in seven great wars, extending from 1689 to the overthrow of 

Napoleon, which left Great Britain as the supreme maritime and colonial 

power. Settlements in the thirteen colonies were encouraged to check 

the northward advance of the Spanish and the southward and eastward pres-

sure of the French . The fourcornered struggle for empire between Spain, 

France, Holland and England during the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries 

hastened the occupation of America. 

Between 1530 and 1635 there was acute unemployment in England. 

The nascent industries of the country could not absorb all of the workers 

who had been thrown off the land by the enclosure movement. Most informed 

men thought England to be seriously over-populated. In places a third of 

the population lived on poor relief . Vagabonds roved throughout the 

countryside - bands of "idle persons, which, having no means of labor to 

relieve their misery, do likewise swarm in l ewd and naughty practtces, . 

pestering the l and with pestilence and pen~ry, and infecting one another 

with vice and villainy wors~ than the plague i t self' . 111 Enormous numbers 

of persons, depriveci of their customary occupations, became highwaymen, 

t hieves, beggars or public charges. The colonies would provide a natural 

outlet for this surplus, unwanted population. 

With the courts and prisons crowded with 
paupers, vagrants, debtors and petty 
criminals, it seemed the most humanitarian 
as well as the most practical policy to 
shl.p them over to the colonies . ln this wq, 
England was relieved of a burden and America 
supplied witb much-needed labor.2 
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The desire to escape the economic restrictions of goverwnenta.1 

guild regulations, the hope of bettering his fortunes on a new soil where 

land might be acquired easily and the fruits of labor saved from a feudal 

lord, appealed to the poor but arr~itious countryman. Younger sons of the 

nobility and i~poverished gentlemen saw a chance in the New World to found 

a fortune and commence life anew. Traders of small capital who were hard 

pressed in coffipetition with the merchant princes and monopolistic corpora­

tions might earn larger profits and more quickly in the undeveloped markets 

of the colonies . The paupers, vagabonds and criminals might find freedom, 

escape disgrace and get a new start in life. Unemployed artisans and farm 

hands might secure work with a prospect of independence in the near future. 

The small landowners who sold out in England could secur e larger estates 

i n America and, at the same time, cast off the crushing burden of English 

taxes. To men of these types the colonies held out hope, and those in 

authority in England were in no wise loath to part with them. 

These general tendencies toward migration to the colonies were 

intensified by a severe economic depression which swept over England be­

tween 1620 and 1635 . Having its origin in the closing of England's markets 

on the continent during the Thirty Years' War, it reached its height in 

1629, paralyzing in particular the southeastern and central regions of 

England, the Chief cente.t's of the cloth industry. "Overflowing multitudes" 

could not find work. Bad crops between 1629 and 163J added t o the distress. 

Food prices soared beyond the reach of most of the population. 

After 1665, the theory tbat England was over-populated gave Wcc:J 

to the contrary view that the nation was in danger of losing its manpower. 
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The effects of the emigration of thousands of able-bodied workers prior 

to 1640 were now sever ely felt. The Civil War had taken its destructive 

toll , while a decimating pl ague, originatin~ in London in 1665, swept 

thr~Jgh the coun~ry , creating the greatest calamity of its kind since 

the Blhck Death of the fourteenth century . At the same time, England's 

industrial and commerical expansion produced an increased demand at home 

for workers . Where the colonies formerly had been prized as an outlet 

for the unemployed, they now became a source of alarm. English of ficials 

increasingly discouraged the emigration of efficient workers and seamen and 

encouraged the dispersal of certain undesirable classes - criminals , paupers 

and debtors . In 1765, Parliament forbade the emigration of skilled in­

dustrial operatives - a measure which also intended to prevent the dis ­

semination of England 1 s industrial secrets abroad. Similarly, the Board 

of Trade tried to check the desertion of seamen and fishennen from English 

vessels at NewfcJndland and their subsequent reemployment in New England, 

where, lured by higher wages and better working conditions, they strengthened 

the colonial fisheries and merchant marine to the detriment of their English 

competitors . England continued to use th~ colonies as a dumping grour.d for 

criminal population. Parliamentary stat~tes of 1662 and 1717 authorized 

judges to sentence convicts to servitude in America for seven-year terms 

in the ca~e of lesser offenses and f or fourteen-year terms in cases of 

crimes punishable by death. All told, about S0 , 000 convicts were shipped 

to America. 

With the shrinking of emigration from England, the promoters 

of the colonies began to solicit settlers in continental Europe. Immigrants 

from Holland, Germany, Sweden, Finland, and France,as well as Ireland and 



Wales, began to make their appearance in the colonies. It was just at 

this juncture that the Royal African Company announced its intention of 

supplying colonial employers with Negro slavts rather than English 

servants. 

From the Rhir.e country (t.be Palatinate, Wurttemberg and Baden) 

thousands of peasants fled from the wars that. had intermittently devastated 

their fertile lands - the Thirty Years' War, the campaigns of Louis XIV 

against the Dutch, the War of the League of Augsburg, and fina.lly the 

War of Spanish Succession. Gt.her causes of discontent were added to the 

ravages of war. In the Palatinate the peasants who had become radical 

Protestants o~ Pietists (Mennonites, Moravians, Socinians, Schwenkfelders, 

Dunkers, Amish, Quakers) were ruled by Catholic princes bent on enforcing 

religious conformity. Thes~ rulers did not hesitate to confiscate property, 

seize churches and expel the most refractory Protestants . Moreover, the 

Gennan prin-.es , enamoured of the court of the Sun King, strove to imitate 

its splendors, drawing from the peasantry the wherewithal necessary to 

conspicuous consumption . Since the great majority of Gennan peasants 

could not afford the costs of emigration t.o America, they came as i11dentured 

servants . 

Quite different forces drove the emigrants from France to English 

America. In l6e5, Louis XIV revoked the edict of Nantes , which had given 

the Huguenots something of the status of a state within a state. New 

royal decrees now forbade Protestants to leave the country, to worship in 

churches or to hold services in private homes. Royal troops, employed 

to break up Huguenot assemblies, perpetrated several massacres; soldiers 

were quartered in Hugueno~ homes and given every license; the faithful 
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who tried to escape were thrust into underground prisons or consigned 

as slaves to the galleys; and other dissenters were sold as servants 

to Catholic planters in the French West Indies. Whippings, denial. of 

burial and indignities inflicted upon the bodies of the dead were 

additional horrors which the Huguenots were £orced to withstand. Con­

fronted by the absolute power of the state and unable to muster suffi­

cient resistance, the Huguenots had to choose between submission and 

flight. Many chose to flee . 

Due t o a variety of causes New England did not attract the new 

immigrants. The poor farming of the region, the occ~pation of the most 

accessible areas during the seventeenth century, the presence of hostile 

Indians on the frontiers, and the unfriendly attitudes of the Puritan 

inhabitants toward foreigners all had a deterring effect on immigration. 

Similarly, apart from the sizable migration of Swiss and French to South 

Carolina, the southern colonies as a whole did not serve as ports of 

ent17 for many of the newcomers frorr. Europe. By 1700, much of the land 

ir• the tidewater area had been occupied, and the planters there were 

relying main:i..y on the slave trade for their labor supply. On the other 

hand, the excellent port of Philadelphia, the large areas of fertile 

lands in the Delaware, Schuykill and Susquehanna valleys, the absence 

of a tax-supported state church, the affinity between the Quakers and 

the German Pietists, the freedom of the western frontiers from Indian 

wars, and the existence of a well-to-do employing class on the eastern 

seaboard all were factors vhicb attracted immigrants to Pennsylvania 

after 1'(10. It was to Philadelphia that the main stream of i111111igratior. 
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flowed, and from there it. fed the set.tlements of interior Pennsylvania 

and the piedmont and mountainous regions of Maryland, Virginia and 

Carolina - a population trend which raised Pennsylvania and the back 

country of the South to a position of influence equal to that previously 

held by New England and the southern tidewat.er area. Philadelphia emer ged 

from a minor status among colonial towns to rank as the largest and most 

prosperous commercial center i n North America. 

During the seventeenth century .between ninety and ninety-five 

percent of the settlers in America were engaged in agriculture, though 

the colonial farmer was also a hunter , builder, artisan and, in places, 

a fisherman and l un.berman. The New England and middle colonies developed 

a diversified, nearly self- sufficient economy, centering in grains, live­

stock and household manufactures. The exports of the middle colonies 

{i.e., their surplus) consisted chiefly of wheat, flour1 beef and pork, 

while New England, which was less adapted t o farming and produced little 

or no surplus in foodstuffs , exported fish, ships, shi~ping services, 

earthenware, woodenware, lea tber goods, woolen cloth and ironware . Both 

areas were also sources of fur ano timber. Even with the unscientific 

and wasteful methods of th~ time, a rude abundance was easily obtained 

in the middle colonies. For the English, Dutch, Swedish and German im­

migrants to this are<., it ·•as a veritable land of promise. 

The settlers of Virginia found that the same amount of time and 

labor would yield six times as much t obacco as grain per acre, and, at 

times, tobacco sold as high as $12 .00 a pound (measured in today ' s 

currency). By 1617, even the marketplace and the streets of Jamestown 

were planted with it . Tobacco production completely supplanted the 
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growth of grains and veget ables and took the place occupied by the 

manufactures and fish of New England and the wheat of the middle 

colonies as the chief export of the area. ',o/hereas in 1615 England was 

exporting 200,000 pounds in specie to buy foreign ~obacco, principally 

fro~ Spain, Virginia tobacco could now be paid for with English goods 

and handled by English merchants . England ' s stock of specie wo~ld be 

preserved; t.he markets for her wares enlarged; and her merchants would 

r~ap -r.he fiscal benefits . Because of the high prices prevailing in 

England, the settlers could make five or six times more from tobacco 

than from any other crop. By 1627, Virginia was exporting 5 001 000 

pounds cf tobacco annually. In the 16J01 s Maryland became a producer, 

and North Carolina followed suit in the 1000 1 s , so that ''king tobaccc!' 

guided the social, political and economic life of at 16ast three of the 

Au1er ican colonies . 

The demand for tobacco in Burope seemed unlimited, since, by 

1020, smoking had become so~ething of a social crazP. Southent farmers 

could concentrate on tobacco and develop large tobacco plantations . At 

this point the tobacco grower encountered several significant problems. 

It was found that tobacco q~ickly exhausted the richest soil and neces­

sitated the continual use of fresh land . The age of a tobac~o field, 

under the most favorable c;rcumstances, was usually no more than three 

years , after whir.::b it was turned over to other crops. Large farms also 

meant a large labor force - at a reasonable cost. l'he abundance of open 

land in Amer ica constantly drew workers away from employers to the 

frontier with its promise of land ownership and independence. A rela-



tively larc,:. rm.111 "Pr of lmdovners , all bicidinr against each ot.her f or 

a limhed snc-::-ly f la.bore r s . s ent wa~es s}:yrocket-inF: . ,ane- earners 

were r.et.t/.nc hig t?l' pay :.: tne colon· es than in Ensla.nd Lself . The 

so_ut..:.or. t.c ttis dilePll'1a ;;e:.s found in t.ne acquisi-..ion of inaer.t.ured 

servants and Ke re slc..vcs , c.nci. tne latter ·.:ark force ul1.i,.at ely became 

tr.e dominant; source of cneap Jaoor . 

T~ slave t.raae :<Jo.s a monooo~1 01 t.ne --0yal hfricar. · ... oirpan..v of 

r.[land un't.il 1698, when the traffic was t r:r own open . 3laves were usually 

lanced 'n 't.ne .. est. ndi-=s where tney were seasoned oe:!..'ore i,ne:f were sold 

tc tne ~2inland coloni~s . Trcs requirea about t.nree years , nurin- ~hicn 

t·~e t.r.e nov ic~s wr.re p}acPd i n t,he ~omo~~v Dl exper ienced nanas and 

C'are<' for .....,,, an ol,, slave skillea in i.;bP art of nursin'-"" . ~bout half 

;,re ··"?-roi:-s rli 1> c! • 'tl:ijr. thr ee or !'ol'r years after r.;1eir removal from 

Afr · cc.. -t ., es · :r.ated tna-.. t.nere wer ?R , 000 sla·•e s in t!'!n .~e:-ican 

:'.'Tla.inl~r:'1 ct.lord.sin 172.7. c.., r u, t.t.e ml!"·er had incrPased to 263 . DOO . 

it,- 17~0 , thr>y m;r.:bPr0 d 697 . .)0() ar.a formed t;.;o-!"i~1:.r.s c:' tnc t..,t;:i.l soutnern 

r.opulation . 

l'he policy pur suea ay t;ne ngl1sh mert:oant;s ana tne< cro~:n -,dth 

respect t.c colonio.l l.OOacco was typi al of ;,ngland 1 .5 general mercant.il) st 

policy ir. ·w~ich 'thE: color.ies ·.;ere subservient t.o -r.ne polj t.:c ... 1 ::..na economic 

welfare of t.ne hom~ .::ountr;.' . En land nad oecome int.~res'&e-. in colonies 

largely oecause she nad m~u.fa, ture~ goods to se:ll. P.ari ~he ha.d only 

raw materials (wool , hiaes , tin and tl:e like) for export , she could ha··e 

Lraded with the advanced industrial nations, out hardly ~ith the backward 

peoole of ... sia , Afr · ca and ;.. ... ~rica . On ~he whale , c.he color ies naturally 

f'tted into tnis nercar.ti.l.: ' st sche~e , sir.c~ the~ were, ·n fact, normally 

oroducers ')f ra-,· or semi- .: H is'1ed rroduct.s . 

, 
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When installed in power, the Puritans were det ermined t o recapture 

the t rade of the English colonies and to depr5ve t he Dutch of the gains 

they had made during the Civil War. Accordingly, in 1650, the Puritan 

Parliament, now a mouthpiece of the London merchants, passed a Navigation 

Act which prohi~ited the vessel s of any foreign nation f r om trading with 

England' s American col onies. A second Navigation Act in 1651 insisted 

that goods from America Asia and Afr i ca could enter England, I reland and 

the colonies only if carried in English, I rish or colonial ships and that 

goods from Europe could enter England, Ireland and the col onies only if 

brough~ in Engljsh ships or ships of the fo reign colllltry "of which t he 

said goods are the growth, production or manufacture . '' This act virtually 

elimina ted the Dutch f rom trade with England and its colonies and pre­

cipitated the First Anglo-Dutch War, after which the Dutch were f orced 

to accede to ~he Navigation Acts in t he peace con::.luded in 165L. 

Having pacified E'lgland, Scotland and I r eland and having concluded 

a defensive all i ance between England and the Netl'erlands , CroMWell deci ded, 

in 1654, to take the offensive against Spain. A task for ce was directed 

to capture Hispaniola in t he Spani s h West Indies . The force !ailed to 

con~uer its objective, but succeeded in taking the island of Jamaica. 

T:le return of Charles II to Zngland represented a compromise be­

tween t he con t.ending: nart:.es in Britain 1 s government. The restoration 

of the Stuart monarchy and t he reestablishment of the Church of England 

and the Bouse of Lords appeased the royali.st and aristocratic forces, 

while Charles II consented to a commercial policy which gratified the 

London mer chants. This :rnercanti list policy became embodied in the famous 
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Acts of Trade and Navigation which were the foundation s tones of England's 

colonial system until after the American Revolution and one of the sig-

nificant r easons for the Revolution's outbreak. 

The first act of importance was the Navigation Act of 1660, reenacted 

in 1661. It contained thr ee momentous provisions with respect to the 

colonies : 

1) All trade of the colonies had to be car ried 
in :!!:nglisb ships (i.e ., vessels that were 
English built and owned, commanded by an 
English captain, and manned by a crew three­
fourths of whom were English sailors)~ 

2) All foreign merchants were excluded .from 
co!l11Tlerce with the English colonies; and 

3) Certain enumerated articles produced in the 
colonies ( i.e., sugar, tobacco, cotton-wool, 
indigo, ginger , and such dyewoods as rustic, 
logwood and barziletto ) were required to be 
exported only t o England, Ireland, Wales and 
Berwick- on- Tiieed. 

This list of enumerated articles was expanded in 1706 to inclu.de naval 

stores - tar, pitch, turpentine , hemp, masts and yar-ds; rice was added in 

1706-1730; copper ore, beaver and other .furs in 1722; molasses in 1733; 

whale fins, hides, iron, lumber, raw silk and pearl ashes in 1764. Until 

1766, fish , grain and rum. coul<i be P.Xported anywhere . After that date, 

the exporting of these products was confined to nations south o.f Cape 

Fir.isterre. This latter provtsion vtrtually excl uded the colonies from 

direct export trade with any port of nothern Europe except England. The 

Staple Act of 1663 required that goods en route from Europe to A:merica 

should be shipped to England, Ireland, Wale3 or Berwick- on- 'I\reed first and 
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there landed before reshipment to the colonies. Direct exports to the 

colonies were permitted onJ.y in three instances - servants, horses and 

provisions from Scotland; wtne from Madeira and the Azores; and salt f or 

the North American fisheries . 

The colonial shipbuilding industry made steady progress throughout 

the ei ghteenth century - a trend explained by the fact that American 

vessels could be constructed at costs twenty to fifty percent below those 

prevailing in England . New England remained the center of the shipbuilding 

industry. In 1772, she produced sixty-eight percent of all colonial- built 

vessels as against ten percent constructed in Pennsylvania, eight percent 

in N~· York a.•d fourteen percent in the sout hern colonies. By 1760, New 

England buildPrs were turning out three to four hundred coJIU!lercial boats 

annually . Thirty percent of all the vessels sailing under the English 

flag were of American construction, and seventy-five percent of t he 

commerce of the colonies was served by colonial ships. 

As a counterpart to the growth of manufacturing in England came 

the appreciation of the colonies as markets for tht finished products of 

the looms and wor kshops of the home countr7. Despite the diversity and 

extent of their manufactures , t he colonies were unable to produce al1 t he 

articles they n"eded to uphold a European standard of living and to sustain 

a growing system of production. Of necessity, they had to iroport a wide 

range of capital goods, including mill rnachinary, ship iron, canvas , cordage, 

Indian trading goods, hardware , bricks , nails, bellows, paint and instru­

ments of navigation. The colonial farmer and artisan generally worked wi th 

tools of European manufacture - spades. shovels , axes, saws , knives, chisels , 
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grinds tones , planes, ruunmers , cant hooks, trowels and the iron parts of 

plows and other implements . Throughout the seventeenth century, colonial 

soldier s fought with imported cannon, powd~r, shot and firearms. To t he 

colonial housewi fe came a vari ety of kitchen utensils. As a seamstress, 

she probably used English buttons, t hread, needles, thimbles, pins, tape, 

~ibbons and fillet.i..ng . Wealt hier families imported textiles - woolens, 

cr epe, damask, flanne~ , lace , calico, gauze, caJ11br ic, ginghain, cot tons 

and linsey-woolsey . Suen families also purchased vari ous for eign luxuries 

like wine, brand.v, spices , sugar , books and paper, as well as some of 

their furni ture - l ooking glasses, candlesticks, snuffers , curtain rings, 

chests, chair~ and cracil.es. One need only to observe how L:irge a pro­

portion of its possessions wer e of European manufacture to determine the 

wealth of a col onial f&ni1.y, and no family was so poor as to be without 

at least a few imported articles . After the coming of the Europeans to 

America, ~7en the Indians could ~ot get along wi thout the goods which the 

white trader brought f r om the Old World . 

This ilnport trade was the fundamental fact around which revol ved 

the economic development of t l'e colonies , and f r om it sprang their value 

to England. The cent ral feature of colonial t r ade was the exchange of 

American prcduct s for European wares . The central economic problem .,hich 

the colonies faced was that of finding the !!Bans to pay for their imported 

supplies, since the va lue of tre products .ir.tported was f ar ~xcess of 

t he value of tre pr oducts expor ted . As an exa.'llr le, in the eighteen years 

from 16°8 to 1717, New England and New York purchased annually f rom England 

goods of an aver age value of 10J, 50C pounds sterling and sent in return 

i 



products having a yearl,y average value of only 37,400 pounds sterling, 

thereby incurring an unfavorable balance of trade whose debt amounted to 

66,100 pounds annually. In addition, the value of colonial export goods 

as estimated a t their port of embarkation was f urther decreased by nUJ11erous 

hidden charges which colonial producers bad to pay . Chief among these 

charges were freight payments to English shipowners, the profits and com­

miss i ons earned by English merchants, the insurance premiums on cargoes 

carried, and vari ous import duties and port expenses. I t was the English 

merchant capitalists who garnered t he lion's share of these hidden charges . 

Th~se hidden charges and the continuous~v fluctuating price of 

tobacco in England particularly upset the balance of payments of the sout.hern 

planters . They would constantly bewail the scarcity of European goods in 

their colonies and lament that such goods were commonly sold at two or 

three times their English prices . Whatever coin money came into these 

tobacco colonies was quickly exported to cover the unfavorable balance o~ 

trade . An acute shortage of specie resulted vhich forced the planters to 

become more and more seriously involved in debt. A Maryland act of 171.L 

recited how the planters "a.re become vastly indebGed, and no prospect as 

yet appearing of any means wl'iereby they may extricate themselves out of 

their nds~rable and deplorable circumstances ." Interest on loans extended 

to the planters by the English merchants added to t heir already handsome 

incomes from profHs, co.mm5.ssions , freights and insurance. Such loans 

oro,•ided a lucrative field for the investment of surplus .f.'unds and were 

protected by mortgages whic h were safeguarded by the English government. 

'lhe indebtednese of t~e sou t hern pla.~ters also had the effect of strengthen~ 

ing the merchant's control of the tobacco trade by forcing the planter to 

market his future crops through his credi tor in order to pay his past deots . 

I 



'I'he reforms sought by the planters - crop restrictions, changes in the 

marketing system, lower impor t duties, reduction of debts, develoi:ment 

ot colonial specie and curt ailment of the slave t r ade - were unalterably 

opposed by t he English mercant:lists, who had the support of the imperial 

government. ~outhern planters, therefore, were foreed to look elsewhere 

for enduring relief. The most successful of ttem found two ways out of 

their distress. First, they became land speculators, acquiring huge tracts 

of land in the newer parts of their colonies which they leased to tenants 

or sold to small farmer s . Second, t hf: most efficient of them began to 

develop newer plantations with a diversified crop production, so that 

the southern economy became increasingly self- sufficient. 

Invisible items did not figure as largely in the balance of pay­

ments between England and the nortmrn mainland. Soston, Philadelphia and 

New York each contained merchants who traded in their own vessels. The 

fre li;hts, profits and coJTll!lissions earned by the English merchants as 

exporters to t he norther.i colonies were :learly equalized by similar eani­

ings of th! northern merchants as exporters of colonial goods to England. 

Moreover, t he northern towns did not consmne all the European go~ds they 

imported , rather they 1\mctioned as the distributor of these goods to 

surrounding co111!'11unities. In addition, they were obliged to engage L~ a 

complex trade with the southern colonies , the West Indies, Afr ica, the 

Wine Islands, southern Europe, Newfoundland, Canada, Nova Scotia and the 

interior fur trading areas in order to dispose cf t heir surplus products. 

I n each case, t he exports f rom the northern colonies were exchanged for 

commodities which could be used as remittances to Rngland - coined money, 

I 

I 



16. 

b~llion, sugar, indigo, dyewoods, ginger, cotton-wool, rice, tobacco, 

naval stores, furs, wine and bills of exchange. 

The political victory of the English merchant capitalists in 

lbb9, which had led to the war with France, had also resulted in the 

tightening of imparial control over the co]onies, with the object of 

restraining rival merchants in Scotland and the colonies . The Massachu­

setts charter, issued in 1691, provi ded that the governor of the province 

be appointed by the crown. Massachusetts, Plymouth and Maine wer e united 

under this charter, and the governor of Massach~setts was appointed to 

serve as governor of New Hampshi~e as well . The crown also took into 

i.ts bands the governnent of Maryland in 1691, of Pennsylvania in 1693, 

and of New Jersey in 1702, in each case assuming control of the executive 

agencies of the province . However, Penn ' s political rights were restored 

to hin1 in 169L, Lord Baltirr:ore ' s in 1716, while New Jersey remained a 

royal province . In the meantime, England labored to bring the other 

colonies (Connecticut , Rhode Island and the Caroli.nas) under royal con­

trol and opposed the establishment of new colonies i~ which governors 

and councillors were not appoi~ted by the kt.ng . 

In order to appea3e the demands of the merchant~ that Parliament 

directly control colonial administration and yet to maintain his royal 

prerogatives, William III on May 15, 1696, created the Lords Commissioners 

of Trade and Plantations - commonly known as the Board of Trade. Com­

posed of eight uorking menbers who represented the mer chant class (although 

high dignitaries of state were nominal members and occasionally attended 



17. 

its meetings), the Board of Trade i.Jnmediately undertook to subordinate 

the economi~ activities and governments of the colonies to England's 

mercantile interests. Though not authorized to make and enforce decisions 

regarding colonial policy, it was impowered ~o investigate all matters 

pertaining to the colonies and trade and to prepare recotrlJliendations for 

Parliament and the executive departments of the crown. Its influence 

was soon felt, since its members quickly became the best informed of­

ficials in England on matters of colonial administration and trade . 

In 1696, Parliament passed a suppl ementary Navigation Act to 

strengthen the existing colonial system in which all futur e colonial 

governors (whether elected, a.s in Rhode Island, or appoi.::lted by the pro­

prietors, as in Carolina) were to serve only with the approval of the 

king and were required to take an oath to enforce the Navigation Acts 

under pain of dismissal 1f they did not . Th~ act also gave colonial 

officials fu-r.her control over colonial shipping, including the right 

of unwarranted search . In 1697, the king's Privy Council authorized the 

colonial governors to establish vice- admiralty courts to try and punish 

violators of the Navigation Acts and to appoint the necessary judges, 

advocates, registrars and marshalls . Eventually, twelve such courts 

were erect~d in the colonies - all subject to a ruling of the king ' s 

Attorney General in 1702 which forbade them to allow the accused a trial 

by jury. 

British mercantilist policy also attempted to control the few 

manufac t uring enterprises in the colonies. Colonial governors vere 

instructed "to discourage all manUfactures and to give accurate accounts 

, 
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of any indications of the s3l'lle 11 to prevent colonial manufacturing 

from corning int o competition witb home industries. These restrictions 

upo~ colonial manufacturing rnay not have seriously impeded American 

economic development , but the fact that England was so qui ck to protec t 

the interests of her citizens at home to th~ detriment of those in the 

colonies did not go unnoticed. "A colonist cannot make a button, a 

horse shoe, nor a hobnail, " complained a Boston newspaper in 1.765, ''but 

some sooty i ronmonger or respect able buttonmaker of Britain shall bawl 

and squall that his honor ' s worship i s most egregiously maltreated, in­

jured, cheated, and r obbed by the rascally American Republicans. 11 3 

It appears that up until 1763 the colonists di d not suffer severely 

from the colonial domination of England. In f act, they had grown rapidly 

in population and wealth. In spite of the determination of England ' s 

merchant capitalists to enforce the variou8 restrictior.~ and prohibitoos 

on colonial trade ai1d manufacturing, these laws were constantly evaded 

by the colonial merchants, who wo~ld often ship such enumerated articles 

as sugar and tobacco directly to European ports .O.thout first taking 

t hem to England, under the pretense that the comrr:oditiP,s were destined 

for another colony. In an effort to curb this deception, Parliament 

enacted a law in 1673 (reaffirmed in 1696) levying a tax on enumerated 

articles shipped from one colony to another equal in amount to the import 

taxes levied on the articles in England. This law was also evaded. It 

is estimated that i n 1700 one-half of the trade in Boston was in violation 

of the various acts of Parliament . The colonies which produced. cO!llmodities 

competing wi.th those of Great Britain discovered other markets , particularly 

I 
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in the West Indies and so·..ithern Europe. By the opening of the 

eighteenth century, the West Indies had been turned largely into sugar 

and tobacco plantations unable to support themselves without the 

importing of cheap food for slaves and lumber for homes and for casks 

in which to transport the sugar , molasses and tobacco - and it was exactly 

t hese staples of the New i::ngland and middle colonies (fish, grain, and 

foodstuffs) which were kept out of England by high tariffs. The growth 

of the slave traffic further intensified the importance of the Caribbean 

in the commercial activities of the northern colonies. It soon became 

the principal outlet for their surpl~s capital and produce, and, as 

British commercial restrictions increased and as the French island colonies 

grew more prosperous than the British, the French West Indies - Guadeloupe, 

Martinique and Santo Domingo - became an increasingly important market 

for the goods of the mainland colonies . Another source of income for 

the ~olonies which did violence to the principles established by the 

British merchant capitalists was that gained from pirates and priva~ers. 

'llleir booty and treasure had to be disposed of, and they were often 

smuggled into the colonies and sold cheaply. Prominent coi.onial merchants 

and even government officials connived at the practice. Sober estimates 

suggest that New York alone for many years secured an average of 100, 000 

pounds sterling in treasure annually this way. 

The first permanent French settlement on the mainland was estab­

lished at Quebec in 1608. By the end of the seventeenth century, French 

posts extended from Nev Orleans at the mouth of the Miasissippi (founded 

in 1718) to Fort Radisson near t he western end of Lake Superior, and east 
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to No\•a Scotia. The economic backbone of New France was the fur trade . 

The French seemed to care little for colonization - the harsh and stub­

born soil of the St . Lawrence Valley did no~ appeal to them - while the 

persecuted Protestants, who might have formed a valuable source of im­

migration and settlement, were forbidden to come . ~!hile nine-tenths of 

the l ,J00, 000 inhabitants of the English colonies were engaged in 

agriculture in 1754, the French had only 80,000 settlers total, the great 

majority of whotn were fur traders scattered along the rivers and Great 

La~es frOM the Mississippi to Nova Scctia. The wealthy nobles and bourgeoi­

sie of Europe were willing to pay high prices for luxurious furs which 

proclaiine<l the superior affluence and social status of their possessors. 

Such furs could be obtained in North America in exchange for such cheap 

articles as hoes, axes , knives , beads, t rinkets, brightly colored cloth, 

guns. ammunition and strong drink, particularly r um. Unscrupulous traders 

often resor ~ed to using false weights and measures or to supplying the 

Indians with rwn, then driving hard bargains while they were intoxicated. 

William Penn reported that profits 1n the f ur tradP. often ran as high as 

one hundred percent. With the exception of Penn ' s colonies, wherr treat­

ment of the Indians accordL'lg to the Golden Rule kept the settlers relatively 

free of molestation, friction with the red man was the norm. 'nle French 

f ur trader was far more adaptable than his British brother-in- arms and 

tended to antagonize the Indians far less . He would often affect the 

manners and dress of the Indians, lead them on the warpath, live with 

them and intermarry. As a result, the French won the greatest bulk of 

the North American f ur trade and the friendship of practically all of th~ 
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Indian tribes, vith the exception of the Iroquois. 

A state of depression and unemploY111ent beclouded the e4r)J' years 

ot Louis ITV. Foreign commerce was languishing, and, with the exception 

of her trade with the Levant, France was forced to depend upon the ship­

ping of the Dutch. Her illlports generally exceeded her exports. Louis 

XIV and Colbert, bis chief ninister, were detenained to extricate the 

kingd<>lll !rom its finaJlcial plight. Colbert concluded that the way to 

salvation l.a.y in the davelo}'.llent o! an overseas trade. Colbert envisioned 

an integrated eJ11pire of four supplementary parts. France, as the center 

and heart of the system, was to supply manufactured goods, capital, 1111tr­

cbant senioes and shipping. Hence, he first endeavored to foster home 

industries and, in order to aocODq>lish this, established a high protective 

tariff in 1665 to exclude cO!llpeting foreign goods !rolll the French marlret. 

In order t o procure capital, be organized great trading coJIPallies in vhicb 

the king, bis officials and the merchants lUde large investments. Colbert 

further insisted that all fore i gn t raders and vessels be excluded fro• 

the commerce of the Freneh colonies. The colonies of St. Christopher, 

Santo Domingo, Martinique and Guadeloupe in the French West Indies cOlll­

poeed the second element in Colbert' s sche~e. They served a three-fold 

!'unction. They supplied articles for constt111ption in France, thereby 

decreasing the pa,fJllents to foreign nations for. the same c~odities; they 

provided r av materials for French industries; and they afforded articles 

that .might be sold in tbe export trade. In turn, they were to buy French 

aanu!ac:.ured goods and elllploy French capital , shipping and merchant 

services. As tbe third link in the imperia..l chain, Colbert faYond the 
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erection of slave t r ading stations in Afr ica, where slaves might be 

purchaseEl with French manufactures and shipp€.d to the planters of the 

West Indies. Finally, the settlements in Canada were to play the i r part 

as ~ers of French goods and as producer s of tbe foodstuffs , work animals 

and lumber ceeded on the West Indian plantations . 

Before Colbert 1 s death in 1683 , France had driven tbe Dutch frO'll 

the trade of the French West Indies, which they had virtually DLOnopolized 

in 1660 . French industries and shipping had been greatly strengthened and 

extended; the colonies bad made substantial progress; and modest success 

had been achieved in the slave trade . Only Canada had fa.i led in its role 

as producer of pr ovisions, lumber and work ani.Jnals for the West Indies . 

Jlew England and New York proved better suited to that purpose , and they 

constantly encroached upon t;he role assigned to Canada. Since Colbert's 

system all!led +,o exclude all foreigners f r om trade in the colonies, it 

became imperative that t :te Fr ench West Indies obtain these supplies froa 

French sources. Canada having failed in this connect.ion, the French 

aspired to acquire New Engl.and and New York. In short, under the gt'idann~ 

of Colbert, France embraced the very policies that had been adopted by 

England and chose to operate in the same colonial spheres - hence t he 

oitter and prolonged s truggle between the two . 

Besides the ambition of ?ranee to acquire England's northern 

colonies as a feeding ground for the French West Indi es , she was also de­

termined to monopolize the Amer ican fur trade. By 166o, the Indi ans of 

North America had become utterly dependent upon the traffic in furs. 

They had beccme accusvomed to t he European's tools and iJnplem'!nts. To 
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obtain these desi red collllllodities, they hunted, trapped and then traded 

the fur of the anilftals they caught. The fur trade , in turn, l ed to a 

r apid destruction of fur-bearing animals , s l.nce skins and pel tri es had to 

be obtained far in excess of the Indians 1 ' personal needs. As furs be-

came more scarce ( and therefore more valuable) , the tribes were forced to 

struggle against each other for c ontrol of the available suppl,y. In the 

resulting Indian vars, as well as in the actual bunting and trapping, 

European firearms played a decisive role - and the procuring of f ireanns 

became a priJna.rT concern . The Indians bad becolll8 involved in a vicious 

circle of trade and strife that ultimately carri ed them to t heir destruction. 

The fur- producing area which the French and t he English sought to 

doJll.inate was t he vast region adjacent to the Great Lakes. This region 

was controlled by the great Iroquois nation, and the rel ationships of the 

French and the E~glish to this tribal federation largely determined the 

politics of the region and the course of the fur trade. The unfortunate 

act of Champl ain in 16o9 in aiding the Canadi an I ndians against the Iroquois, 

the subseouent mistakes of tl'e French governoM, and, on the o t her hand , 

the skillful d1plo11acy of men like Governor Dongan of New York (1684) won 

for t he English t he fr iendship o. the I r oquois and access through the 

Mohawk Valley to the ves t and its furs . The penetration of t he French into 

the Illinois territory, sou·;h of Lake Michigan, heightened their conflict 

with the Iroquois, vho had long regarded this r egion as their principal 

source of i"Urs. The threatened do.m.ina ti.on o! the Illinoi s country by France 

also aroused the fears of t.he Albany traders. Very soon threats and 

accusations were s peeding between New France and New York. 
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France and England contended over another strategic mercantile 

center - the Newfoundland fishing industry. In 1662, France strengthened 

her fis hery by establishing a fort and settlenwent at Placentia on the 

southern coast of Newfoundland, which soon outstripped its English com­

pe t j tors as a supol y center tor the vessels which came from Europe. 

Sti ll intent upon conouering the Spanish Netherlands, Louis XIV had 

provoked William of Orange t" .fo!"lll an al1iance with Spa.in, Austria and 

many of the Ge?'lla%l states to resist the aggression of France . In fact, 

t he prilllary object of the Dutch Stadtbolder in accepting the English crown 

may have been to bring England into the war which had begun in Europe the 

previ ous year. The English merchants lent tmir full support to the effort 

t o destroy France 's growing commercial power . Both New France and Nev 

England embarked upon programs desi gned to conquer the other 1 s p r ovince 1 

and both faile•1 in their ambitions . The treaty of peace concluded at 

Ryswick in 1697 provided 1'or a return to the status quo ante bellum. In 

November, 1700, the King of Spain, Charles II, died, leaving a will which 

n&J'l\ed as his successor to the Spanish t hrone end its vast possessions 

f'hillp or Anjou, the grandson of Louis XIV. Hastily accepting this inherit­

ance for his grandson, Louis established him at Madri d as King Philip V 

of Spain - a move which ~ant th! domination of the Spanish Netherlands 

and the Spanis h colonies by France. The success i on was disputed by the 

Archduke Charles of Austria.. William I II , still defender of Holland and 

guardian of England's commercial interests, again assumed command of the 

anti - French forces and organized another Grand Al.liance which supported 

the claia.s of the Austrian pretender. The armies took to the field in 
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1702. By the Peace of Utrecht (1713), France ceded to Britain the Hudson 

Bay region and Acadia, excepting Cape Breton Island, and acknowledged the 

suzerainty of Britain over the Iroquois. Britain also obtained complete 

title to Newfoundland al'?d i tl! adjacent islands. In return for recognizing 

Philip as King of Spain, Brita:tn received a thirty-year monopoly of the 

slave trade of the Spanish Indies. By and large the Peace of Utr echt 

f avored the English, though the power of France was not seriously curtailed 

in Canada or Louisiana and greatly extended through its control of the 

Spanish crown . 

By 1700, the tidewater settlements along the Atlantic coast were 

fully in t he ho.lids of the European immigr ants, and most of the Indians 

had been pnshed out of the coastal plain into the Piedmont region between 

t he coastal plain and the Appalachian highlands . The Act of 1699 pro­

hibiting the export of Irish wool from Ulster , the enforced payment of 

tithes to the Anglican Church, and the fact that between 1711 and 1718 many 

of the leases granted t o the original settlers expired all contributed to 

bring about a great migration of Scotch-Irish to .America. So rapid "las 

the influx into New England that the authorities shipped the newcomers 

to the frontier, where t~y settled. Pennsylvania ' s reputation as a home 

for persecuted sects under Penn 1 s ma.ngani:mous rule brought t.o her shores 

as pennanent settlers, between 1700-1776, at least 100,000 Germans f rom 

the Palatinate and surrounding regions. About 100,000 more were scattered 

along the f r ontier s of t.te other colonies from the headwaters of the 

Mohavk River to Georgia. Pennsylvania's front ier was also the center of 

the great Scotch-Irish immigration. Between 1730 and 1770 close to a 

-
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half million Scotch- I rish immigrants streamed to these shores . At the ti.me 

of the ?.evolution, about one-third of Pennsylv&nia1s population was com­

posed of Genr.ans from the Rhineland and anot her third of immigrants from 

northern Ireland. As the coastlands became crowded, land prices rose, and 

the i'IJIIlligrants were forced to move westward to find cheap land. 'nlese 

new colonists pu~hed into the Piedmont region to take up lands between the 

fall line and the Alleghenies - and eventually through t he Alleghenies to 

plant their outposts in the Cumberland, Juniata and Susquehanna Valleys. 

In 1702, t he n\.U!'!erous and weakly organized proprietors of New 

Jersey surrendered to the crown their rights to govern the province . How­

ever, they retained possession of the soil and called upon the English 

government to enforce their claim as landlords. They parceled the province 

among tremselves, each laying claim to large tracts and carrying on an 

individual land office business. From their vantage point, the lands they 

ho.d received were an opportunity to make money, and they used their con­

trol of the governor's council and the courts to promo";e their own profit. 

The settlers who occupied the hill y parts of New Jersey west of NewarL 

took up unsurveyed land for their own use . justifying themselves on the 

frontier ohilosophy that the land belonged to hlJll who woold use it . They 

ignored the proprietors by buying their titles from the Indians, by re­

fus i ng to pay ~uit-rents and by cutting timber on lands which the pro­

prietors had reserved f or t..hem5elves . In 171.6, a certain Samuel Baldwin 

was arrested for cutting t rees on a proprietary tract . His neighbors 

rallied to his defense and forcibly removed him from jail, whereupon some 

of the rioters were arrested. They too were soon freed by mob violence, 
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the frontier settlers now being well organized under their chosen leaders. 

The proprietor s appealed to England for protection, and the Board of 

Trade favored the use of British troops to quell the revolt. However, 

the French and Indian War intervened and turned the attention of both the 

proprieto~s and the f armer s against a common enel'l\Y . 

After 1725 . Massachusetts, Connecticut a.nd New Hampshire, instead 

of granting townships to bona fide settler s, sold them to speculative 

promoters. In 1737 , Connecticut sold six townships at public auction, 

each purchaser being allowed to bu,y one of abcnt fifty proprietary rights 

in a toWJ".shi p. Massachusetts went even f artber in 1762 when she disposed 

of ten large tracts and allowed a single purchaser to acquire an entire 

township. After such purchases had been made (usually on the partial 

payment installment plan) , the speculators operated larxi offices in 

eastern towns, like ~ston, whence they s ent their agents on sales mis­

sions. These agents did not restrict themselves to tbe New England area 

a.lone. They were often to be fcund in other colonies and even in England. 

Many of their customers were non- pi oneer) ng inves tors who bought titles 

witP the hope of a profitable resale. 

Both 3ri ta in and France indulged in frenzied financial schemes 

inspired by the American dream. France had its Mississippi Company, 

fathered by John Law in 17J.7 . Givea , at .first, a monopoly of the trade 

of Louisiana and the beaver trade of Canada, it expanded so rapidly t hat 

it absorbed most of its competitors and virtually monopolized the ca!111!erce 

of France. Acting in harmony wi t.h Law 1 s companion national bank 1 which 

issued France 1 s paper currency, the Mississippi Company took charge of the 

mint and the collection of the nation 1 s taxes. Britain had its South Sea 

• 
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Company, now holding the asiento and, as rUJ!lor had it, about to fall heir 

to the silver mines of Peru. In 1720, Parliament gave this compa?zy" official 

sanction by authorizing it to manage the national debt . Both canpanies 

promised such fabulous dividends to stockholders that a speculative craze 

drove the price of shares to ten times their par value. Then , in 1721, 

both bubbles burst. Stock prices declined to almost nothing , and thousands 

of investors were ruined . The crash br ought Walpole to power in England, 

while Law was forced to leave France. Still the dream of colonial 

exploitation remained uppermost in the public mind . 

While land specuJa tion and settlenent were becoming increasingly 

more attr active enterprises for colonial investor s, the f ur t rade still 

retained its lucrative rewards. After 1713, the French had resumed their 

advance into the Great Lakes country, re- occupying strategic sites pre­

viously abandoned and constructing new for ts and trading posts. Two routes 

led from Montreal , the metropolis of the fur trade, to the great west. 

One traversed the Ottawa River and Georgian Bay to the northern end of 

Lake Huron . There it divided, one branch leading to Sault St. Marie and 

Lake Super ior, the other to Milchililllackinac and Lake Mighigan. The 

second and more important route 13d from Montreal by way of the St. Lawrence 

River and Lake Ontario to the western end of Lake Erie. The Maumee River, 

flowing into the western end of Lake Erie, opened the way into the Ohio 

Valley. 

Usual.ly a favored company held the exclusive right to buy all furs 

exported f rom Canada - a privilege which enabled the cO!llpany to keep prices 

low. This monopoly, in addition to the government licenses which the 

bourgeois were r equired to buy at substantially high prices, meant the 

-
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interior traders could not pay high prices to the Indians for their furs, 

thereby creating an opportunity for English interlopers to cut into the 

fur trade by overbidding the French concessionaires. There were four 

routes leading through the Appalachian barrier. The most northerly and 

the best, t.hat by way of the Hudson and Mohawk Rivers to the J..a.kes, was 

closed to the early settlers by the Iroquois. A second route led from 

the headwate!'s of the Mohawk to the upper Allegheny. A third led across 

southern Pennsylvania to the Monongahela River and from thence to the Ohio . 

The southernmost route led through the great Appalachian Valley and out 

via the 0.llTlberland Gap into the Tennessee Valley. Alban;y, New York, 

became the center of the northern fur trade; Lancaster, Pennsylvania, 

the center for the middle colonies; and Charleston, South C&rolina, of 

the southern fur trade. It is estimated that the value of the furs ex­

ported from t~e British mainland colonies at the end of the colonial 

period was well over 200,000 pounds sterling annually. 

After 1713, the New York f ur trade divided into three branches. 

The Iroquois continued to bring furs to Albany, encouraged to do so by acts 

of the New York Assembly (1711-1717), yet this source of supply steadily 

decreased until by 1725 only seventeen percent of the furs reaching Albaey 

were broaght there by the Indians. The aggressive advance of the French 

into the Ohio and Mississippi 7alleys convinced the more enterprising of 

the Albany traders that they too must go directly to the west. 'Ihe Iroquois 

began to lose their earlier status as middlemen for the English as Albaey 

magnates bought more and more western land from the Six Nations and promoted 

settlement in the Mohawk Valley. The numerous frauds in such deals further 
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estranged the Iroquois f r om tbe British cause. In 1744, Governor Colden 

of New York lanented tbat the "Indians ••• will on no occasion trust an 

Albany man. tt By 1725, sixty- eight percent of the furs arriving at Albany 

were brought in by the western ~raders themselves. Albany also obtained 

furs through trada with Montreal, made possible by the low cost of English 

dry goods - particular 1y a ooarse woole.n blanketing called 11 s trouds • " This 

latter route was opposed by the New York Assembl,y, but the Privy Council 

in 1729 overrode the assembly 1 s rest raining acts. 

Pennsylvania traders had penetrated beyond the mountains in the 

17201s; the Virginians followed in the 1730 1s. New York's preoccupation 

with her Oswego trade and Seuth Carolina's concentration on trade in the 

far sou~h left the Ohio Valley region open to the Pennsylvanians and 

Virginians , between whom a heated contest for supremacy ensued. '!hough 

Pennsylvania bad a shorter route to the Ohio, the provincial assembly, 

anxious to avoid any conflicts wi. th the Indians, gave inadequate backing 

to the prOJT1oters of western expansion in its midst. In Virginia, on the 

other band, land specula ti.on bad become a primary cuncern which the colonial 

government pursued with vigor. At a conferGnce held at Lancaster, ?a., 

in 1744 the Iroquois ceded to Virginia all their lands within ~hat province 

(lands ld:lich they claimed as overlords of weaker tribes, such as the 

Delaware and the Shawnee-) . I n addition, a group of Virginians , among whom 

were Thomas Lee, Thomas Nelson, George Fairfax, Lawrence and Augustine 

Washington and, later, George Mason and Governor Robert Dinwiddie (one of 

the original promoters was John Hanbu_7, a London merchant, indicating 

that English capitalists were also looking to the Ohio Valley as a field 
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for investment), organized the Ohio Company of Virginia and, in 1749, 

obtained from the crown a grar.t of 200,000 ac~es on both sides of the 

Ohio River between the Monongahe la and the Great Kanawha Rivers, together 

with the promise of an additional 300 ,000 acres if a hundred families 

were settled on t he first tract wi thin seven years. The company immediately 

dispatched Christopher Gist to search out the sections best suited for 

settlement. The company also erected a trading post on the Potomac River 

opposi te the mouth of Will's Creek (now the site of Cumberland, Maryland) 

and, in 1752, negotiated an Indian treaty which authorised construction 

of a fort a t t he forks of the Ohio. 

For more than a decade the British traders had been strengthening 

their influence among the Ohio Valley Indians by virtue of their ability 

to overbid t he French in the fur trade. In 1741, France adopted a new 

commercial pc licy. All traders 1 licenses were revoked, and thereafter 

the interior posts were leased by the government to individuals on a 

monopoly basis. The merchant princes of Montreal purchased the leases, 

but at rates so high as to oblige them to charge exorbitant pri ces for the 

goods which they supplied the natives. '!be British traders were still 

able to outbid them. When the dissatisfacti on of tbe Indians had becOlle 

critical , t he governors of Canada prepared to protect the monopolists by 

force. First, in 17L9, an expedition under Celeron de Blainville was 

sent fran canada to assert France 1 s claim to the upper Ohio. De Blainville 's 

party deposited a l ead plate with the French claim at the mouth of each 

important river. Next, in 1752, the French destroyed an English fort, 

Fort Pickawllla.ny; t hen, in 1753, the newly arrived governor of Canada., 
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the marqujs Duquesne de Menneville, dis patched a second expedition which 

erected se7eral French forts and captured Venango , a British trading post 

at the junction of Frenc h Creek and the Allegheny River. 

When the newe of this advance reached Governor Dinwiddie, he sent 

young George Washington to demand that the French withdraw. (Washington 

as yet did not belong to the inner circle of the Virginia aris tocracy, 

but he was already one of its most trus tworthy agents . ) The French re ­

jected his demands. Dinwiddi e immediately retaliated by sending Capt. 

WHliam Trent with a small force to erect a for t. at the forks of the Ohio. 

No sooner was the work under way than a French fo r ce expelled the Virginians 

and completed the fo r t - which t hey called Fort Duque s ne . Dinwiddie called 

for volunteers and again dispatched Washington with a small body of troops 

with orders to drive out the French . Washington defeated the French 

force and hurriedly erected For t Necessity. In July, 1751.t, the Fr ench re­

taliated and captured For t Necessi t-y. Virginia and Canada were now a t 

war. 

Upon learning of Washington's defeat at f ort Necessity, British 

officials ceased their effor ts to P.ffect a colonial union and dispatched 

a force of two regiments to Virginia under the command of Edward Braddock. 

On July 9, 1755, a force of 1.inE' hundred French and Indians decisively 

defeated Braddoe:k in a day' · f ighting . Braddock perished, and the British 

survivors fled until they r e ached Fort Cumberland in Maryland. All sup­

plies wer e lost, so that the whole campaign had to be abandoned . The 

Indians, havi..'1g now chosen Franc~ as the stronger party, ravaged the 

frontiers of Virginia and Pennsylvania fa:r and wide. 
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This colonial rivalry eventually grew into a general European con­

flict when the Seven Years ' War was officially declared in May, 1756. The 

European source cf the conflict is to be found, in the main , in Austria ' s 

hatred of Prussia - a legacy of Prussia ' s seizure of Silesia during the 

preceding war. In the spring of 1756 the French Bourbons and the Austrian 

Hapsburgs united in a Diplomatic Revolution against Prussia and Britain . 

Still, the war was essentially one of colonial supremacy, and England and 

France fought their mos t dramatic battles on the high seas and in the 

colonies. Until 1758, the fortunes of war frowned on the British. The 

French destroyed For t Oswego in 1756, repulsed a large expedition sent 

against Louisbourg in July, 1757, captured Fort William Henry on Lake George 

the following August , and maintained their pres tige among the upper Ohio 

Valley Indians, par ticularly the Delaware and Shawnee, whose raids upon 

the Virginia- Pennsylvania frontier drove the British settlers back beyond 

the Allegheny Mountains. These reverses brought into power the resolute 

and energetic William Pitt, who, as Secretary of State for the Southern 

Department (1757-1761), directed Britain 1 s successful campaigns for the 

conquest of Canada. He concent rated on America as the decisive theater of 

the war, at tbe same time subsiaizing Prussia to keep France occupied in 

Europe . Success greeted his first efforts when, in 1758, British forces 

conquered Louisbourg, Fort Duquesne (renamed Fort Pitt) and Fort Frontenac, 

thereby opening the way to Canada. By 1759, Britain had shattered the 

French navy. Montreal fell in September, and all of Canada lay prostrate 

before Britain ' s armed advance. 

Britain's relation to ~he war unde1-went a decisive change as a result 
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of the accessior. of Geor ge III in 1760. He was detennined to break the 

power of the great Whig families and to assert his own right to rule. 

Pitt was now the chief symbol of Whig influence, and, since his prestige 

stelTlll'ed mainly from the war, Gecrge III was detennined to restore peace -

both as a means of ousting Pitt and of gaining sovereign power. The 

hChilles 1 heel of P1tt 1 s policy was the expensive and unpopular practice 

of subsidizing Prussia. In opposition to this policy, George III built 

up a peace party which ultimately forced the great var minister to resign. 

Pitt was determined to push the war against Spain, who, in 1761, had just 

renewed a defensive alliance with France against England, but George III 

was able to thwart his efforts . Pitt res~ned in October , 1761, rather 

than remain in office without power. Brita1n was forced to declare lf8.J' 

against Spain nevertheless and to prolong the conflict another year, during 

whic h time she conquer4tf the French sugar island of Martinique and occupied 

Havana and Manila, thereby gaining control of Cuba and the Philippine 

Islands. 

The Treaty of Paris of 176) awarded Canada to Bri\.ain, as well as 

the territory west to the Mississippi. Spain ceded Florida to Brita.in 

as the pr ice for the restoration of Cuba and the PhUippines , while France 

c01T1pen:-.ated Spain for the loss of Florida by giv ing her that part of 

Louisiana west of the Mississippi and a Slllall strip of land east of the 

riTer. Britain and Spain were now the premier colonial powre of the world. 

Ha~ing expelled France from North Allerica, Britain no longer needed 

to 111ake political concessions to the colonies in order to aeeure their 

assistance agamst the French. She vas now free to enforce those plrta of 
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her colonial system which had previously been neglected. Furthermore, 

the acquis : t ion of Canada and the Ohio Valley imposed upon her the task 

of governing the whole interior. Her western policy was now shaped by tiio 

goals - to e..<ploi t the r.eidy won ter ri t or ies 1 or her ovm profit and to 

r~3olve many of t he deep-seated conflicts between her and the colonies 

which had been exposed by the war. In attempting to enforce policies de­

signed only for t he benefit of the home country, she merely heightened the 

animos i ty and mistrust which already existed in the colonies. 

When, at t he outbreak of the war, Britain prohibited all commerce 

between her subject ti and the French, the mainland colonies engaged in an 

indirect trade wherein they used the Spanish and Dutch islands as depots 

fo r the goods which they sold to or recei ved from Guadeloupe, Santo Domingo 

and Martinique. In this wa;y, neutral vessels made the direct exchanges 

witb the French. In order to stan;p out this traffic, Parliament, in 1757, 

prohibi ted t he exporting of all provisi ons (excepting fish, roots and rice ) 

from a British colony to QJ'\1 place except Britain, Ire!and or another 

British colocy. With the same obj ect in mind, an English admiralty ccurt 

promulgated th~ Rule of 1756 which declared that neutrals could not carry 

on in t:!Jne of war a trade which was legally closed to them in time of 

peace. France , of course, regularly excluded tbe Dutch and Spaniards from 

peacetime trade with her colonies . The merchants of the tJ1irteen colonies 

were f orced to exhibit grea t boldness and ingenuity ~ evading British 

anti -French statutes and de~rees. Some merchants obtained licenses from 

colonial governors which authorized their vessel s t o proceed under a "flag 
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of truce" to the French islands in order to effect an exchange of pris­

oners of war - such vessels being permitted t o bring with then. a cert.ain 

quantity of goods to trade . Other merchant~ sought out of the way trading 

stations. Particularly i~portant in this regard was the trade which the 

colonists conducted in Monte Cristi, a Spanish port on the northern shore 

of Haiti near French Santo Domingo. In 1760: more than four hundred 

French vessels unloaded their cargoes of sugar there, though the little 

town had had no commerdal i mportance at all before the war . 

The great commodity cf the colonial trade in the ei ghteenth cen­

t ury was sugar. By tha 17601 s, British investments in Jamaica, Barbados 

and the other sugar islands amounted to the enormous sum of 60, 000, 000 

pounds sterling, six times the amount of British investments in the 

mainland colonies . Seventy "sugar lords" sat in the British Parliament 

to protect these interests. Meanwhile, absentee ownership, worn- out 

soil, inefficient management and a high export duty at the island ports 

had put the British growers at a distinct disadvantage in comparison with 

those in the French islands . Colonial import.ers were buying their sugar 

and molasses at twenty- five to fifty percent less from the French, and 

the British islands wer e supplying only one- eighth of the needs of the 

mainland colonists. Angered that this trade between the mainland colonies 

and the French islands continued even during the French ar.d Indian War 

{to the great advantag:.· of the French), Pitt ordered the navy to stamp 

out smuggling in the foreign West Indies trade. In the saroe year (1761) , 

colonial courts were ordered to issue writs of assistance (i . e . , general 

search warrants ) to aid in the apprehending of smuggler s . 

By 1750-1760, several tendencies had become apparent in the 
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col onial economy. Tobacco productien, due t o soil exhausti on, the bur­

den of dec.t, heavy fixed labor costs and the rest.raints of the British 

Acts of Trade, had reached the limits of expansion. The deroands for 

currency inflation in Virginia as a rooans of reducing debt and the com­

plaints of the planter s against the British colonial system revealed t hat 

the investment of British and colonial capital in tobacco production had 

ceased to be attractive. After 1763, Geor ge Washington , one of the most 

efficient of t he Virginia planters, shifted his principal economic pursuits 

from tobacco to wheat, flour, plantation manufactures and investments in 

-western l ands . The acqui sition of Ohio Valley lands served two purposes. 

It was excellent wheat country, and i t could provide handsome profits 

through l and speculati on and settlement. Sillrl.larly, by l76o, t he commerce 

of the northern colonies and the economy on which it r ested had reached a 

poin t where its expansion threatened Britain 1s mer cantilist progr am. 

Clearly the commercial opportunities within the empire were not sufficient 

to support both the British mercants and their colonial rivals. Because 

the colonies had copied the English methods of business enterprise , tiey 

r apidly duplicated the merchant capitalism of the mother country - wit h 

the result that American merchant activities clastEd violently with t he 

goals of the B~itish merchant capitalists . L. M. Hacker i s probably cor­

rect when he terms t his mercantilis t cl.ash as lithe first knter ioan Revolu­

tion. "L. 

The land policy-which Britain pursued also refl ected the purpose 

of British mercantil1SJ!I. The crown di d not seek to obtain a r evenue for 

itself through lnnd sales and quit-rents, rather t he object ~as to increase 
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3r itish trade. 'Illis was to be accomplished by opening the land t.o bona 

fide settlers w!'lo would enlarge the demand for supolies and manufactured 

goods from which British merchants made their profits. After 1760, several 

new factor3 gave a new slant to Britain's attitude toward the west . First, 

nor• that France and Spain had been expelled from the territory east of the 

Mississippi , Britain no longer needed to encourage settlement as a defense 

measure. Sec aid, the region into wh.i ch colonial pi oneers were nov pene trat.­

ing lay west of the mountains , and there was the fear that these settlers 

would be beyond the reach of Br itish commerce . 'lhird, migration to the 

west cons t i tuted a t hreat to the established seaboard area, particularly 

to those industries, such as tobacco, in which British merchan t s had 11\ade 

substantial investments. Fourth, now t hat the North American f ur trade 

was exclusively in British hands, the British merchants proposed to exploit 

it fully and opposed further settlement which would drive the I ndians away 

and destroy t he fur- bearing animals . Finally, the new land policy might 

be made to orotect Britain's established hegemony over the colonies. The 

French and Indian ~lar had shown that the Act~ of Trade and Navigatic"l were 

but poorly er.forced, largely because British officials were pa.id by the 

colonial legislatures and, consequently, were not dependent upon the English 

crown. If the king ' s lands in Amorica could be made to yield more revenue 

through sales and quit -rents, a .fund might be established which would make 

colonial off i cials independent of legislati ve appropriations and more 

attentive to the demands of their new paymaet,er - the crown. 

In October, t.be Sritish government issued the Proclamation of 1763 ·· 

a highly important state paper drafted by the Earl of Shel b urne when he 
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was president of the Board of 'L'rade. It provided that, for the tiine 

being, colon\al settlement was not to extend westward beyond a line run­

ning through the sources of the rivers flowing into the Atlantic Ocean . 

Colonial governors were not to authorize surveys nor issue patents for 

any land west of this line - nor for any land to which the I ndian ti tla 

had not been extingui shed. In 1767, Shelburne, now Secretary of State 

for the Southern Department, proposed that the western country be opened 

to settlement and that three new colonies be established - one at Detroit, 

one on the Ohio and one in the Illinois country. Hillsborough, who now 

occupied the newly created post of Secretary of State for the Colonies, 

rejected Shelburne ' s proposals and advised instead that no new colonies 

should be established and that the flow of settlement westward should be 

carefully regulated - lest the interior drain ths eastern seaboard of i t s 

population. In c.mformity with Hillsborough 1s program, Bri tain, in 1768, 

adopted the idea of an Indiana boundary line to be located periodically 

with the consent of the Indian tribes concerned. In 1770, the line was 

located as follows: n Beginning at Lake Ontario, it bent westward so that. 

it opened for settlement the t!pper waters of the Ohio as far as the Mouth 

of the Great Kanawha; thence it t urned south and east, closing for settle­

ment the back country of the southern colonies. 115 

The landed interests in the colonies recei ved anot her shock f r olll 

Britain in 177L when the c~own promulgated ne# r egulations for the disposal 

of ungranted lands in Virginia, New York, Ncrth Carolina, South Carolina., 

Hew Hampshire, Georgia, Florida and throughout the west. The king ordered 

that all future grants 111\lst be surveyed in .regular lots (mini.mum, one 
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hundred acres; maximum, a thousand acres), that the quit-rents exacted 

for such lands should amount t o four shillings t 11pence a hundred acr es 

(double the pr availing rate), that governors were not to make further gifts 

of lands, and that all tracts should be sold at public auction to the high­

est bidder - at a price not less than sixpence an acre . In addition, it 

was in 177h that the Quebec Act was passed. With the object of resening 

the lands between the Ohio River and the Great Lakes , west of Pennsylvania 

t o the ~ississippi , as an Indian count ry, this act annexed this territory 

to the province of Quebec and place it under its governing power . Ill t his 

way, the crown hnoed to quell the divergent claims of Virginia, New York, 

Connecticut, Massachuse tts and Pennsylvania to this region and to remove 

i t from the influ.ence o.f the settlers and s peculators of these colonies. 

I t also served to divert the movement of f'urs f rom New Yor k and Pennsylvani a 

to Montreal. L ll t r aders were to be regulated by the governor of the 

province of Quebec. The merchants of the thirt.een colonies were to be 

excluded from the northern fur trade in precisely the same mam1er that 

colonial promoters were t o be denied the profits to be found in western 

land speculation. 

Those who felt these regulations most severely were the southern 

plantation owners. Many of them were finding it increasingly difficult to 

operate profitably under the restri ctions o.f mercantUist regulations, ar.d 

maey were sinking deeper and deeper into debt to British investors . The 

situation in Virginia was particula.r).y desperate. Excluded from the country 

north of the Ohio 'by the Quebec Act and on the point of being excluded from 

West Virginia and Kentucky by the VMdalia project and the Indian boundary 

line, the Virginians were forced t o act quickly and aggressi vely in defense 



LL 

of their western claims. In 1774, Lord Dunmore, governor of Virginia 

and himself a speculator who hoped to make bis fortune from western lands, 

instigated a war against the Shawnee in which he defeated them and wrung 

f r om them the right of Virginia pioneers to hunt in Kentucky. The Shawnee 

were isolated and could not call on their overlords, the Iroquois, for 

ass i stance, since the Six Nations had already granted to Br itain the lands 

occupied by the Shawnee south of the Ohio and west to the Tennessee River 

(Treaty of Fort Stanwix, 1768) . 

The r estrictive land policy applied to the colonies by the British 

government did nut mean, b~wever, that British investors and speculators 

were being ignored. After 1763 , the crown conferred numerous large tracts 

upon merchants, army officer s and wealthy landowners (all residents of 

Britain) - such tracts being located in Canada, Nova Scotia, Florida and 

Prince Ed1.o1ard ~sland, regions accessible to British trade and not likely 

to produce commodities that would compete with the products of industries 

in -which British investors had a large stake. 

Pontiac's uprising bad demonstrated to British officials the urgent 

necessity of ~rotecting the f r ontiers, and, since the colonies could not 

be counted on to support a large anny or the act together in harmony, the 

British ministry, headed by George Grenville, in 1763 decided to station 

an imperial force of 10,000 men in North America. But Britain was in no 

ll'looa to pay in full the estimated 350,000 pounds in expenses annually -

by now she bad accumulated a national debt of 130,000,000 pounds, which 

cost the public 5 , 500,000 pounds per year in interest, and she staggered 

under oppressive taxation. Arguing that the colonists should bear part of 
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the cost of their own defense, Grenville induced Parliament to enact 

two momentous statutes . The first measure ins ti 4:iuted by the new regime 

was the Sugar Act of 1764. It cut in half (fr om 6d. to Jd. a pound ) the 

duties of the Molasses Act of 173), while, at the same time, ma.king pro­

visions for the more efficient collection of the new tax. British naval 

officers were to collect the custom duties , and cases arising from in:­

dictment .for SI11Uggllng were tc be tried in Britis h admiralty courts . 

Duties were laid on sugar, indigo, coffee, wines, silks and calicoes, 

and the DU!llber of enumerated articles was increased. The Sugar Act was 

supplemented in l?65 by t he Stamp Act , which provided that stamps varying 

in cost from a halfpenny to ten pounds be affixed to licenses, contracts, 

deed~wills, newspapers, pamphlets , almanacs and other papers , playing 

cards and dice . T'ne Stamp Act added to the enW11erated articles a new 

group of produLts desired by British 111B.J1ufacturers - whale fins , hides, 

akins , raw silk, potash, pearl ashes, coffee, pimiento and cocoanuts . 

'lhese measures tended to center colonial trade in England, thereby assuring 

that the .freights, commissions, profits and interest charges involved would 

go to British firms. With like intent, the Sugar Act required that non­

enumera.ted articles bound for parts of Europe north of Cape Finisterre 

should first pass through a British port. Another clause of the Sugar 

Act, designed to protect Briti.Gh merchants in too colonial wine tr&de, 

raised the duty on wine imported f rom Madeira, the Canaries and the Azores 

(i.e ., the famous Wine Islands) to the colonies from ten shillings a tun 

to seven pounds a tun. 

The Stamp Act, following so :::losel,y on the heels of the Sugar Act, 
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created an excitement unparalleled 1n the colonies. England's policy had 

now become a real grievance and one which seemed to signal the ruin of 

colonial coJT1Jnercial interests . Their opposition was il'runediate and 

strenuous, and, when petitions and remonstrances failed, the colonists 

inauguarated a boycott on British manufactured goods, wherein colonial 

merchants bound them.selves to illlport no British goods until the act was 

repealed. English merchants and manufacturers were so adversel,y affected 

by the boycott that the Stalllp Act was repealed in 1766, and the Sugar 

Act was r evised downward. 

Rand in hand with these duties and trade restrictions ca.J11e a series 

of neasures f or the strict enforcement of all !3ritish r egulations, old 

and new. The Gr enville ministry ordered that absentee officials should 

take th?mselves to the colonies and perform their duties in person, rather 

than through 10-11-paid and inefficient deputies. I t authorized anew the 

use of wri ts of assistance , ard i t put Bri~ish naval vessels in American 

wat.ers with the task of enforcing the Acts of Trade. In 176L, Parliament 

decreed that cust.om officials who made seiz·.ires and arrests with g ~od cause 

cruld not be sued for dair.ages by colonists who were not prav-ed guilty as 

charged. The burden of proof' as to whether duties hid been paid or whether 

goods were o! foreign o:.-igin was pl.aced upon the accused, and an act of 

176L authorized the establishment of a general vice-adJ'l\iralty court for 

all tbe colonies, tbe:reby removing tri als for smuggling from the home 

neighbor hood of the defendant. In 1767, the Townshend Acts Acts were 

established, one of which i mposed duties on glass, paper, painters • coior s, 

red and white lead, and tea. Though not high, these tariffs fell on 
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More dangerc:us thin the duties were other features of the Townshend Acts 

which called for a reorgani zation of the customs servi ce, strengthe.ned the 

vice-adl'lliralty cmrts, and provided that the money raised in cases involving 

smuggling be used to pay t he expenses of the civil government. 'lhe Townshend 

Acts also reaffirmed the legality of the writs of assi stance. The king 

immediately appointed an American Board of Commissioners of the Customs 

whose authori ty extended over all of British North America and whose sole 

task was to v igorously enforce the Acts of Trade. 

Immedi ately f ollowing the passage of the Townshend Acts, the colonies 

again resorted to their policy of non- intercrurse. The boycott of 1768-

1769 was more than a voluntary movement. I t was backed and encouraged by 

the colonial assemblies, and it was more thorough and universal than the 

non- impor tation movements following the Stamp Act . The value of English 

goods imported into New England and the middle colonies dropped from 

1,363,000 pounds sterling in 1768 to 504 .ooo pounds sterling in 1769 . The 

economic unrest which developed in both England and the colonies as a r~­

sult of t he l:oycott caused a partial repeal of the Townshend Acts in 1770 . 

Non-intercoorse arrangenents broke down, and trade was resUJned. Imports 

immedi ately jumped from 5041 000 pounds to 4,200, 000 pounds sterling in 

1771. 

Since l76J, an army had been maintained in America to provide for 

colonial defense, especially along tie wilderness f r ontiers. Its support 

wa s drawn partly from taxes on the colonists. In 1765, the British govern­

men t passed the QU-i.rtering Act, declai-ing that the colonists should also 

prov ide for the light, lodging and fuel of garrisons to be placed in 

• I 
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~pecified districts. When the colonists rebelled against the restrictions 

of the Sugar Act, the Townshend duties and the custom agents of the crown, 

the army was transferred from t he west to the east to be used against the 

colonial merchant revolutionaries if necessary. A special act suspended 

the New York Assembly, because it had refused to comply with the law of 

1765 calling for the adequate quartering of soldiers . 

The majority of the disaffected rrerchants and planters in the 

colonies desired to retain the advantages of the empire and, a t the Sa?lle 

time, to f r ee themselves from its shackles of restraint. When it became 

apparent to them tha~ such advantages could be had only at the cost of 

British taxes and trade restrictions , many decided that the restraints 

outweighed the advantages. Interested primarily in the growth of their 

own influence and fortunes through the continued expansion of colonial 

trade, such membe1s of the upper class were forced to recognize that 

American economic developnent could be maintained only with the eli.'11.ination 

of British mercantilist control. 

In the end, it was the British government which ended all possibili­

ties of reconciliation. The climax came in an effort to save the East 

India Company from bankruptcy- - a bankruptcy which would d!'ag dow -wl-th it 

a horde of influential British politicians and capitalists. 1he company 

had 17 1000,000 pounds of surpl us t ea stored in its warehouses. The Tea 

Act of 1773 granted to the F.ast India Company t he r i ght to sell directly 

to the colonies and remit ted the customary shl_ll~-a-pound .tax on all tea 

tranahipped to America. This would help the company find a narket for its 

tea and, a t t he same t irrie, pr ovide the coloni es with cheaper t ea than they 

had ever enj oyed before. In the process, however , profits were taken away 
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from two mi ddlemen - the English shipping agent and the American importer. 

Furtl'ermcre, tl"e decrease in costs would lead to a virtual monopoly of the 

tea market in the colonies. If a monopoly could be conferred on the East 

India Company, a similar monopoly on o t her cO!llJTlodi ties might be granted 

to any company. 

When Lhe tea arrived in Anerican ports, vigiU!.nce committees 

usually destroyed it or refused to allow it to be landed. The Boston 

Tea Party vas a direct c hallenge to British authority, and Parliament 

responded by four disciplinary measu:-es. Known as the 11 Intolerable Acts," 

these pr oscriptions closed the port of Boston until the tea could be paid 

for, revised the Massachusetts charter so as to remove from it some of its 

liberal features, provided for trial in England of colonial agents accused 

of violence in executing treir duties, and revi ved the Quartering Act of 

1765 for the pt.rpose of stationing solciiers in Massachusetts. Immediately, 

a third boycott was organlzed, encouraged by tile separate colonial assemblies 

and by the Continental Congress on Dece~be~ 1 , 177h. Though colonial mer­

chants were l'esita.nt to renew the ir economic loses , the public was incen~ed 

and carried the merchants Cllong ;: i th them. This third boycott was more 

strictly enforced than eitrer of the previous two . English i.rr.vorts dropped 

from 2,590,000 pounds sterling in 177L to 201,000 pounds sterling in 1775. 

In November , 177L, George III declared to Lord North that the New England 

colonies were 11 in a state of r ebellion11 and that "blows must decide whether 

they are to be subject to this country or independent.i• The die was cast , 

and there was no turning back froJ!I the ultimate struggle which would now 

ensue. 



CRAFTER TWO 
1751-1763 

Barnard Gratz was born in the village of Langendorf in the valley 

of the Oder River. between P..atibor and Breslau, : n upper Silesia about 

the year 1738. Since the Peace of Westphalia ( 1648) , the German empire 

had bPcome a loose confederation of some three hundred independent princi-

palities and free cities . Any of a half-dozen chi ef German states might 

have emerged into the lead: and it was not until 1700 that two states, 

built by the unusual skill and per sistence of their rulers , definitely 

assumed significant power within t he empire. The Austrian Hapsburgs had 

lone enjoyed an eminent role in Germany . Formerly, their position had 

r ested on their ~adship of the Holy Roman Empire and on their family 

connections with the more prosperous Haps burgs of Spain. Even now they 

were able to make the difficult t r ansition from the destruction of the ol d 

empire to t he building of a new emp)re of t'heir own . Through several con-

fl~cts l>ith t he 'I\lrks and as a r esult of the War of the Spanish Succession, 

much new territory was added to the realrrs governed by the Hapsburgs - the 

most significant of which was an area which included most of Hungary , to-

gether with Croatia and Transylvania. The Hapsburgs were determined to 

make their nefl eJ'!lpire unmistakably hereditary and Cat holic. (They had 

understandably acauired a s trong distaste f or Protestantism and an elective 

monarctv.) The Jews in the Austr)an empire fol'l!ed a much-needed middle 

class between the landed nobility and t'he great masses of rural peasants. 

Stringent measures were taken to limit their rights and to keep down their 

number to that required for the efficient economic management of the nation. 

In 1701, the Hapsburg Enp?ror was preparing to enter t he War of the 
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Spanish Succession, and he desired the support of 8,000 of Brandenrurg•s 

crack troops. The Elector indicated his willingness and named as his price 

the recognition of himself, by the Emperor, as king in Prussia. 'Ihe 

Emperor yielded, and an L"Teparable rent was made in the fabr ic of the old 

Empire. 'lhe less honorable king in Prussia soon became king of Prussia. 

In Prussia, classes were frozen by a system which prohibited the sale of 

all noble lands and manor s to oersons who were not nobles. More than any­

where else, the middle cl ass defE:rred to t te nobility, served the state 

and stood in awe of the anny. For religious 111.inorities, such as Catholics 

or Jews, there was no question of equality with members of the established 

church of the realm. Jewish affairs wer e under the control of the home 

ministry, which was also the department of the treasury. The Jews of the 

kingdom •er e either of the protected class (Schutzjuden) or merely tolerated 

(gedulciete Jude_E) . T'nere were t hree types of protected Jews : those who 

had a general privilege covering all the members of the fa.rrdly and entitling 

them to unrestricted residence and t r ade; ordinary protected Jews wi th 

l:imited rights of residence and occupation, inheritable only by one or at 

the most two children; ext raordinary protected Jews, like arti sts, p.iysicians 

and other professionals, whose limited rights of residence did not pass 

on to t heir children. Fven the most privileged Jews , however, were str ictly 

limited in the numbP.r of \"!hildren they wer e permitted t.o settle with them. 

"In order that in the future all fraud, cheating and secret and forbidden 

increase of the number of families may be more carefully avoided," stated 

the Charter of 1750, "no Jew shall be allowed t o marry, nor will he receive 

permission to settle in f'urther numbers, nor will he be believed, until a 
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careful investigation has been made by the War and Domains Offi ces. 116 

With the death of Charles VI in October, 1740, Maria 'Iberesa, his 

daughter. became sole heir to the vast dol'TIB.ins of the Hapsburg Empire; and, 

in the same year . Frederick Il succeeded his father, Frederick William I of 

Prussia. With swift rapidity he pressed his legal claims to a porti on of 

Austrian-cont rolled Silesia and stunned his southern neighbors (and tbe entire 

':lestern world) by marching his troops into Silesia to enforce his claims . 

Thus began a series of military conflicts in which Silesia was t o see her 

fields continuously stained wi t h tre bloodshed of war . Tbe Treaty of Breslau 

and Berlin ceded t o Prussis upper and lower Silesia and the county of Glatz; 

and , though several more wars woul d be fought over t his territory , Silesia 

remained a Prussian possession. Fran 17L2 on, the Jews of Silesia were sub­

ject to the stringent interdicts and r egulations lih i ch characterized the 

re ign of Frederick the Gr eat. 

Byars suggests that the Gratz fami.Ly was r ather wealthy. Tney were 

probably among the second cl ass of protected Jews who were well-established 

in business, but whose business r ights could be transmitted only to one or 

two children in each family. This would account for ~he fact that so many 

Jratz family members were sent to England for their aducatior. and fo~· a 

start in bwsiness. It. was the COJl'llllOn practice of .Jewish familit:s in Prussia 

to send their "surplus" sons to other lands whe?"e they might get a start 

in life . 

Barnard Gr atz was probably a very young teenager when he was sent 

to London to be placed under the watchful tutelage of his cousin, Solomon 

Henry, the recognized head of the English branch of the family. He vas 

employed in Solomon Henry's co'ID'lting-bot.Se where the opportunities to learn 
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the merchant trade were llla1lifold. Solomon Henry ' s business Tentures 

extended around the known wor ld, including trade with India and Africa 

and a special "concessi on" from the British government for trade in the 

West Indies. He also had very close business connecti ons with the nations 

of Europe. In fact, Solo111on J1enry 1 s sister, 'Iherese, urri ed Jacob Praeger, 

one o! the signi!ican t Jewish merchants of Alllsterdam. The mercantilist 

systell! often depended on trust and confidence in one's confederates in 

business , since i t was generally necessary to wait a long time until one 

saw the returns f rom his investment. A cargo had to t r avel l ong di stances 

and pass through many "safe hands" before it was finally sold and the 

money returned to the original i nve stors. Furthermore, lll!rcantiliSlll was 

structured upon an elaborate system of credit . Very little cash changed 

bandJ!. A trader bought his goods on credit - the SUlll to be paid after the 

successful completion of his trading venture . And since the returns of'ten 

took months (even years) to emerge, confidence in the trader 1 s ch~aeter 

was essential to the continued funct ioning of the system. The amaunt or 

risk was dlld.nished and th! sense of security enhanced "mn one w.as deal­

ing v i th family. With respect t,o the Gratz family, th< re is a kind of 

international system of faJT1i ly inter-relationships that constantly reappears 

in their business dealings.7 

After s everal years of apprenticeship in London, Barnard Gratz 

decided to venture out on his own. He chose not to ?'elllain in England but 

t o sail to the American coloni es , vher'e the opportunities were plentifu1. 

for any yolD'lg man with dri ve and aJ11bit i on and where it did not take 1mcb 

money to get s tarted Solomon Henry probably staked hiJll to his first 

venture ; and, on February 1 , 1754, Barnard Gratz arrived at Philadelphia 

wi t h-the remains of a SJl'lall cargo of goods wilich he had brought over with 
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him from London. There was a job waiting for him in the counting-house 

of Dav1 d Franks, where he would have an opportunity to apply the business 

methods and techniaues be learned in London.8 His goal now was to earn 

enough money to be able to go into business for h.ilnself. Before he could 

do this, however, he had to learn how the b'.lsiness colT!l1lunity in America 

operated. He had to discover where the opportunities for profit lay. 

And be had to find trustwortey associates interested in working together 

with him in what were general.l,y risky adventures. It was David Franks 

who provided him with these opportunities. He placed young &.-nard in 

charge of certain accounts, sent him on errands of business interest, 

introduced him to his O\IJ'l partners anci often gave him the opportunity 

to invest what small sums he could in their business ventures. As his 

gr~sp of the Anler ican business scene expanded, he quickly C8Jlle into con­

tact with a wider circle of business associates that was t o prove of 

3ignificant influence in his life, foremost among whom were William Trent, 

George Croghan, David Franks and Joseph Simon - all of whom were associated 

to~ether in the western trade and the latter two of "'nom were the surviving 

partners of tl'e firlll of Levy and Franks . 

Nathan Levy appears to have been active in Philadelphia as early 

1:-s 1735, for on July first of that year he supplied his ship "Dispatch" 

with beer from a brewery 1.n which Isaac Norris was a partner. He seems 

to have made yearly trips, and be appears again the following June to 

load Norris' beer aboard the 11Abbot. 11 Levy must have liked what he saw 

of Philadelphia, for some ti.me in 1737 he settled there permanently with 

his family· and his brother I saac . Like other enterprising col onists , they 
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located as close to the waterfront as possible. Their first address was 

"Front Street, not far from Pemberton ' s Wharffe . " 

The Levy brothers worked hard at their business, and their four­

year partnership brougrtthem success . Involved with them was at least one 

other Jewish busine~sman, George Miranda, son of the first identifiable 

Jew in the colony. He had recently returned from an expedition in wester n 

Pennsylvania, where he traded with the Mingo and Shawnee Indians, to set tle 

down to a quieter life as shopkeeper on Philadelphia's Second Street. 9 

In 1740, two other Wew York Jews arr ived in Philadelphia - David 

and Moses Franks, whose mother was Nathan Levy 1s aunt . Like the Le-vys, 

they , too, were American-bor n, and t hey had been reared in the Sephardic 

congregation, Sbearith I sr ael , by their father , Jacob Franks , who (again 

like the Levys) had come to America from Germany or lands farther t o the 

east via London . However, Nathan Levy was David Franks' senior by seventeen 

years; and, since he was an already established merchant, he became the 

teacher and guide in mercantile af'fairs to the ycunger Franks brothers . 

David and Moses Franks entered into partnership together, and, by 

the spring of 17Ll , they were conducting a lucrative business "at their 

store at the Wid01o.1 Meredith's on Front St r eet." Their partnership was 

brief , however, and sooJ:1 thereafter Nathan Levy and David Franks combined 

to f<rm the first major Je'liish company in Philadelphia - the .finn of Levy 

and Franks. The shipping interests of the firm expanded rapidly, due to 

the excellent l-0ndon connections of both partners .lo Ships hired or 

registered in their names t1ailed regularly .from Philadelphia to London and 
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back. Perhaps tbe most. famous of their ships was the "Myrtilla," on which 

arrived the famous Liberty Bell which had been ordered for the State House 

on the occas i on of the fiftieth anniversary of Penn's Charter of Liber ties 

for Pennsylvania. 

The young partners did not limit themselves to shipping and :import­

ing staple coJTt111odities 1 or to dealing with the usual cargoes of sugar and 

rum from the West I ndies. Freight and passage to London could be arranged 

through them. Whol esale and retail goods could be bought a.t their ware­

house. All sorts of English dry goods, hardware and luxury items could 

be obtained through their offices . Also available at either their store 

or their warehouse here nAdvices" - that is, news and commodity and 11\0ney 

quotations from all of the capitals of Europe, for their ships brought 

back European news as up-to- date as the winds and waves permitted. 

Ph:i.l~delphia alone was not suffici ent to absorb the inuilense quantity 

of ll'erchandise that poured in from all of the English ports of the eigbteenth­

cent~ world. Competition was f i erce, and many colonial 111erchants fell 

by tl-ie wayside because they could not regularly find aJ 1 outlet for their 

wares. For this reason, the Bayntons , Wharton:;, Drinkers and Shippenr 

began to develop trade with the western frontier, t apping in return that 

rfob source of furs. Here again much depended upon the stability and 

industriousness of one' s c~nnections. The Shippens bad r elatives and 

stores in the Lancaster outpost, and Levy and Franks, quickly realizing 

the importance of the west, found the perfect representative in Joseph 

Simon. 

When EYans .11'..9.pped the middle colonies in 17h9, Lancaster County was 
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placed a t the edge of the western f r ontier. The 11 improved parts of 

Pennsylvania" lay to the east. To the west of Lancaster la,y the perilous 

roads to distant For t Duquesne and the heart of the Indian f ur country. 

Lancaster becaJ11e the way station connecting east and wes t, and from this 

point t he first s teps toward the western expansion of Pennsylvania began. 

The road between Lancaster and Philadelphia soon became deeply rutted by 

the coacll!s and wagons of the Shippens and Levy and Franks , and the 

Simon-Levy- Franks consortium ouickly became one of t he major factors in 

the western trade . Indian goods and furs began to fill more and mare of 

their invoices . 

By 17L9, Joseph Simon and the f ur- traders of Lancaster had pushed 

westward chm t he Ohio River as far as the Mississippi. In the same year, 

Gallisonierre, then governor of Canad.a, sent Louis Celeron with an expedition 

of soldiers t o claim the Ohio River Valley for France. The Canadians were 

to place lead plates on which were enscribed France's rights to the region 

at t~ mouth of each significant river in the area, Br itish settlers and 

fur-t~aders were warned to depart, and those that did not were attacked. 

Daniel and Alexander Lowrey, George Croghan and William 'fi•ent l ost so 

heavily during the years l 7L9- 17511 that they were virtually bankrupted. 

Most of the capital for the i r western ventures had been advanced by Joseph 

Simon, and much of the:..r In-'ian goods were credited to the11 by Levy and 

Franks. 

'Ihe French were also heavily occupied in repelling the advances of 

the Virginians into the West, fo1· i t was just at this juncture that the 
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Virginia government began to press its claims to the Ohio Valley on both 

sides of the r i ver from the border of Pennsylvania . Its r oyal charter 

stated that all lands "five degrees from Delaware to the setting sun" were 

contained within its domain. In 171'8, Thomas Lee, "one of bis Yiajesty 's 

Council in Virginia, 11 organized the Ohio Company of Vir ginia. There were 

t welve other persons from Virginia and Maryland ICho were associated with 

him in the founding of this company, including Lawrence and Au gustine 

Washington , Ri chard Lee , Presley Thornton , and Robert Ca.rt er. 11 Thomas 

Cresap was also a member of the company and kept i ts storehouse at Will's 

Creek. John Hanbury, a merchant in London, was a charter member of the 

com'08.1\Y and represented its concerns in England. In fact, one of the 

firs t acts of the COlllpat\y was to order .from Hanbury "two cargoes of goods 

suited to the Indian t r ade." '!he first shiµnent arri ved in Novemoer, 1749 , 

and the second in ~:arch, 1750 . 12 

The company immediately appointed Christopher Gi s t agert.and surveyor 

general and sent him to explore the western territory. During the years 

1750-1751, he t raversed the Allegheny Mountains and s~eyed wes tward as 

far as the Falls of the Ohio (later to be called Louis'9'ille) . The Lanraster 

fur traders were already in this region , as were t he French. Geor&e Croghan 

had been appointed one of the justices for CUJ'Oberl and County at t he time 

of its establishment i?: 17W, and he served as chief deputy .for Indian 

Affairs in t his region. During the years 1750-1752 , he travelled tlloughout 

this western region with his interpreter, Andrew Montour, in order to 

appease the Indians and bring them over to the British s i de. In addi tion, 

he sold I ndian goods and oought .furs both t hrough his t rading house at 
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Logstown and through the offices and agents of the Lancaster consortium. 

In fact, Croghan and his partner, William Trent, had been trading in the 

upper Ohio Valle} since the early 17L0 1s . 

In February, 1751, Christopher Gist reached as far west as the 

M gtree (or Twigtuis) Indian terriotry, where he was eventually able 

to settle eleven families . This first British settlement on the Ohio 

was COlllJ>leted in 1752 . It consisted of a. sml.1 trading post on the Mi8.Jlli 

River and was within the area of th! Twigtrees . The French demanded the 

sl:rrender of the post and its settlers, but the Indians refused to hand 

them over . The French then attacked the trading- house, killing fourteen 

Ind i ans and carrying away captive the t raders and settlers . 

In t h! 11eantilne, the Ohio Compan;y of Virginia requested that the 

-r irginia government invite the Indians to enter into negotiations for lands 

west of the mountains. The governor was quick to comply, but the Indians 

refused to show up for the meeting scheduled to take place at Logstown. 

Both the French and the Lancaster traders were unitP.d in their efforts to 

thwart the company 1 s attempts to reconcile too ir conflic'l.s with the Indians 

and did all that they could to stir up the India..;_1s against the negotiat:...ons. 

Nonetheless, a second meeting ~as scheduled for the coming year . Tnis meet-
/ 

ing 9roved to be mare successful; and, on June 13, 1752, a treaty vas signed 

at Logstown betv6en the representatives of ~company (Christopher Gist ) , 

the Virginia government ( Colonel Fry and Commissioners Lo!llaX and Patton ) 

and t he Indian tribea which reaffirmed the tenets of the Lancaster 'Ireaty. 

However, the Indhns were careful to clarify exactl.v what lands were in 

question and disclaill'led anv recogniti on of the English title to t hese lands. 
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You acquainted us yesterday with the King's r ight 
to all the lands in Virgj_nia, as far as it is settled, 
and back from thence to the sun- setting, whenever he 
shall think fit to extend his settlements . You 
produced also a copy of his deed from the Onondoga 
Council, at the Treaty of Lancaster, and desired 
that your brethren of the Ohio might likewise con­
firm the deed . We are well acquainted that our 
Chief Council at the Treaty of Lancaster confirmed 
a deed to you for a quantity of land in Virginia , 
which you have a r ight to, but we never under stood , 
before you told us yesterday, that the lands then 
sold were to extend farther to the sun- setting than 
the hill on the other side of the Allegheny H.\11 .12 

Shortly after the ratification of this treaty, Christopher Gist 

was instructed to lay off a town and fort at Shurtees Creek, below the 

present site of Pitt.;burgh and eastof the Ohio River. The company was 

anxious to begin its development of this western region as quickl,y as 

possible . In addition, William Trent was sent out as an agent of the 

company to concili.a te the Indians and prepare them for the western ex-

pansion of Englis,1 settlement which ;ras to come. It was during this trip 

that he encountered fierce French resistance and learned of tll:l lead plates 

laid by Celer on and his forces . Major George Washingtor. was sent to the 

Yrench fort at French Creek to register the vigcrous protest of the Vir&inia 

government . St. Pierre, the r.omm.ander of the fort , refused to yield and 

reasserted f rance•s ~laim to the Ohio Valley . Governor Dinwiddie wrote 

to the Board of Trade in London to i nform them of the continuous French 

encroachments along the Ohio River. He also requested support and assistance 

from the governors of New York and Pennsylvania; and, on the advice of his 

Council. be oroceeded to eilist two companies of soldiers - one to be raised 

by Washington, the o~her by William Trent . Trent secured his troops from 

• 
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the frontiersmen, and he and F.dward Ward proceeded immediately to the Forks 

of the Ohio where they wer e to build a fort. On Apr il 17, 1754, Ward was 

.forced to surrender his still incomplete stockade to the French. Washington 

was more successful at first; but on July L, 1754, he, too , was f orced to 

surrender and to abandon Fort Necessi t y t o the French. 

Upon learning of Washington' s defeat at For t Necessity, British 

offi cials dispatched a force of two regiments to Virginia under the command 

of Edward Braddock. (Through the efforts of John Hanbury and t he Ohio 

CompaJ\Y , Braddock's forces landed in Virginia instead of Pennsylvania, 

th!Nb.r necessi tating an unduly long march through the wilderness t o Fort 

Duquesne.) On July 9, 1755, a force of nine hundred French and Indians 

deci s ively defeated Braddock in a day's fighting. Braddock was mortally 

wounded and died t hree days later· Washington barely escaped with his 

life - four bullnts were shot through hi s coat: and the Briti sh survivors 

fled i n rcut to Fort Cumberland in Maryland . All supplies were l ost, so 

that the whole campaign had to be abandoned. The Indians, having now chosen 

Franc~ as t he stronger party, ravaged the frontiers of Vir ginia and Pen~yl­

vaida. One ray of hope was kindled by the Tictory of t he British forces 

under General. William Johnson at } ort George . On September 8, 1"155, Johnson 

successfully repelled a French attack and capt ured Baron Dieskau, the 

French cx>111111ander- in- chi ef . As a result of this victory, Johnson received un­

paralleled prestige and influence in London with respect to Indian affairs 

and was elevated to the peerage as a baronet. Nonetheless, the French still 

controlled the Ohio and so donri.na'ted the region that rel.atively little busi­

ness couid be conducted in t he West until after the French and Indian War. 

• 
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In 175L. on their way to stop Washington , the French and Indians 

attacked a pi.ck train of Daniel and Alexander Lowrey , which was r e turning 

east filled with pelts. John Kennedy and Andrew McBriar, the leaders of 

the pack t r ain, were taken pr isoner and carried into Canada. This latest 

incident resulted in a loss of 428 pounds sterling and brought the total 

value of goods thd two brothers had lost to the Indians in the period 

1749-1754 to 1,878 pounds sterling. In 1756, William Trent, George 

Croghan, Rober t Callender and Michael Traffe " in company" filed claims 

for losses amounting to 2, 496 pounds sterling, while Trent and Croghan 

petitioned for an additional 6 ,180 pounds - for a t otal loss of 8, 676 

pounds in goods stolen or destr oyed by the Indians since 1749. By 1756, 

the Lowrey brot her s were bankrupt, and Simon and Franks were f orced to 

secure a mortgage against ~aniel Lowrey's plantation in Donegal Township 

as security on a two-year mora torium on interest. George Croghan and 

"!illiam Trent suffered such hea-;ry loses in Indiar. raids tba t they, too, 

were virtually bankrupted . and George Croghan was forced to flee from his 

creditors into the interior to remain in seclus ion at Aughwick. On 

Noveni>er 28 , 1755, over a dozen of their creditor 3 petitioned the Pennsyl­

vania Assembly to declare them " fr~e f r om any arrest , suit , troucle, or 

molestation whatsoever, for any sums of money which are now due , or con­

t r acted for and yet to become due," to the under signed petit ioner . David 

?ranks signed the petition for Levy and Company. 

It was into the midst of this struggle for the w~st that Barnard 

Gratz arrivt'Uin 1754 . Without doubt, it was a const ant topic of conver sation 

at the counting house of David Franks. Not only was ther e concern to recoup 
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the losses sustained b.v fur traders whose ventures were financed by 

Franks al"'<l Simon, but there was the more positive need to tap the vast 

resources of the west as an outlet for manufactured goods and imports 

and as a source of furs . Even as General Braddock arrived at Big 

Crosa.:...g in 1755 on his way to meet the French at Fort Duquesne, he met 

one of Joseph SiJllon 's pack trains in the charge of Daniel East. Evans , 

the map-111aker, was correct when he extended "the geograplzy of opportunity" 

to the Mississippi River in 1755; and Simon and Franks and their associates 

were anxious to realize this opportllllity. Barnard was placed in charge 

of several accounts . One of them may well have concerned Franks dealings 

with Joseph Simon and the Lancaster fur traders . In any case, he was 

well aware of thi s account and often directly concerned in the correspondence 

which took place between Franks and Simon. 14 

The Pennsylvania and Virginia merchants were not t he only elements 

in the colonies concerned with the western frontier . London looked on 

the ves t as a buffer to the French and the Spanish and as a possible mar-

ket for its goods . Every colonial assembly was forced to deal with the 

continuous struggles between the frontier settlers and the Indians. And 

most colonial merchants , north and south, were beginning to perceive the 

opportunities for investment and profit which lay to the west. On July 

11, 1754, the CoJll!.llissioners of New York, New Hampshire, Massachusetts Bay, 

Connecticut , Rhode Island, Maryland and Pennsylvania in session at Albany­

adopted a seri es of r~solutions designed to deal with the problems of the 

western f rontier . They proposed that the management of Indian affairs should 

-
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be placed 11under one general Administration directed t.o the general 

interest and supported at the general expense of the whole." They urged 

the i.mm~d.iate construction of forts in the northwest !or the protection 

and control of the Iroquois nations, for the enhancement of trade, and for 

the control and developnent of the Great Lakes regjon. And they strongly 

encouraged the formulat ion of "a general plan of Union of the Colonies " 

~>hich would pr ovide for these services. '!be "Pl.an of Union"under consideration 

at this Albany conference was that proposed by Benjamin Franklin for the 

establishment of "new COllllllonwealtbs" between the Appalachian Mountains and 

the Mississippi. As the west "on both sides of the Ohio'' wa.s claimed by 

Virginia under Hs charter and by France by right of exploration and 

settlement, this new Pl.an of Union proposed to dispossess them both and 

met with the vigorous opposition of the Virginia government. 

Wl-.ile still working for David Franks, Barnard Gratz began his lii'e 

as a nerchant venturer. He began to invest the small amounts of money he 

could save in projects of his own interest - often at the advice of his 

eMployer. His Day- Book for the years 1755-1769 sWl'D!larizes his activities 

during these early years . Most of the entri t=s are ciated for 1756-17~7, 

and anong his cnstomers ar~ included Mathias Bush, Myer Hart; Solomon 

Henry of London· Levy Isaacs. Mordecai Isaacs, Moses and Lazarus Jacobs , 

of London: Is~ael Joseph, )o\rer Josephson, SaJ'llSon Lazarus and Compal\}', 

Moses Mordec~i, Michae l Moses and ~er Myers, of New York; and Joseph Simon 

of Lancaster. NUlllerous entries deal with his relationship to Da.vid Franks. 

In l.755, he entered into partnership with 9enjamin Moses Clava, formerly 

of New Jersey but recently settled in Philadelphia. The partnership ended 

-
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in 1759 , though the final settlements were not comple ted for another 

decade . In 1758, after f our years in the employ of David Franks, Barnard 

Gr a tz wa::s ready to start out on hi s own; and , in August, 1759, he opened 

his first store on Water Street, where he hoped to dispose o! a cargo of 

"every varie ty of dry goods, cutlery , hard~are and other commodi ties" whi ch 

he had just r eceived .from London , 

In March . 1760, Captain I saac Martin informed Barnard Gratz that 

the sloop "Esther ," captained by Thomas Bruce, would be arriving soon from 

Savannah . Georgia wi tn a shi pnent of r i ce and beaver skins. ( The young 

merchant was beginning t o expand t he hori zons of bis mercantile activiti es . ) 

I n May of the same y ear , Captain Bruce wrote that another sbipnent of r ice 

was en route to him fram Beaufort. In his letter, be told of the upri sing 

of the Creek Indians and the murder of three fur t r aders . "This will 

enti rely stagnate the l ittle commerce we had here," he lamented. The 

f ollovi.ng month s aw the arri val of a second cargo of goods from London 

and word that Isaac Martin was bound for Jamaica and Honduras in the hopes 

of developing new markets f or the products of the 111&illland. Shortly t here­

after~ Jacob Henry , Barnard' s cousin , left Wicaster to move t o Newp<1rt , 

Rhode Island, where he entered into business relations wi th Naphtali and 

I saac Hart. In July, 176o, >t,rer Levy, of Spotswood, New Jersey , a recent 

i.Jmrtigrant to J.11ter ica from Gennany, ordered goods f rom Gratz and asked that 

he convey hie regards t o David Franks, whom he owed a balance . In September , 

Barnard received a shiinent of four barrels of r ice and four barre ls of 

deer skin from I saac Delyo::i in Savannah, Georgia, who requested that he 

-
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send foodstuffs by a return shipment. The f ollowing month, Captain 

I saac Martin wrote f ran Nev York, telling bow he vas captured by pirates 

on the way to Jsmaica and sent to Amster dam for ransom. He returned to 

New York, where he dined with Samson Mears. While in New York, he offered 

t o buy half a ship with Sarnard - a rather expens ive proposition for a 

young merchant . Nonetheles s Barnard's tireless efforts were beginning to 

bear t heir fruit; and, on No'Vember 6, 176o, he moved f r om his store on 

Water Street to a larger establis hment on Chestnut Street, near the 

wharf and close to the source of news regarding the sea t rade. Perhaps 

the most significant indicat i on of his growing affluence and maturi ty 

was his marriage t 0 Richea Yiyers ( or Mears), the daughter of Samson Mears. 

on December 10, 1760 . Samson Mears was the uncle of Rosa Bunn, the wife 

of Joseph Simon. Gratz and Simon thus became f i rs t cousins by marriage . 

In fact , it was probably through Mrs . Joseph Simon that Barnard ll'let Riche& 

Mears. Shortly t aereafter, Simon began to throw a larger propor tion of 

his Philadelphia business in Barnard's direction.15 

The entire problem of western trade v as tremendously compl:icated 

by the fresh outbreak of var between England anc~. France. In 1756, the war, 

which became known as the Seve n Years 1 War in Europe and the French and 

Indian War in the mainland colonies, -was formally declared, and Earl Loudoun 

was named commander- in- chief of the British forces in Ameri ca. The French 

were commanied by General Montcalm, who took and destroyed Forts Oswego 

and George in 1756 and Fort William Henry in 1757. The garrison, whose 

r etreat to Fort Edlfard had been assured by Montcalm, was massacred by his 

Indian allies. The s trength of the English positi on was further weakened 

by the f r iction between Lord Loudoun and the Massachusetts general court 
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over the quartering of t r oops d.lld between t he governor and assembly of 

Virginia over various matters of taxation. In 1758, General Aber cromby 

was defeated before Ticonderoga , but Amber st and W~lfe took Loui sbourg , 

Bradstreet took Fort Frontenac , and Forbes took Fort Duquesne . Having 

gained entry to the St. Lawrence, the British moved upstream to Quebec; 

and, in 1759 , a force under General Wolfe stealthil,y scaled t he height s 

about the French sti ·ongbold and appeared by surprise on the Plains of 

Abraham outside the for t r ess, fo~cing the garrison to accept the challenge 

of battle. On September 18, 1759 , Quebec surrendered to the British. 

Both Montcalm and Wolfe bad lost their lives in the fighting. On September 

8, 176o, Montreal C:llpitulated. and all c.anada passed into the bands of the 

Brit i sh. In 1762, Rodney forced the surrender of Martinique, Gr enada, 

St. Lucia, St. Vincent and the other French Indies. 

The Treaty of Paris, ending seven years of bitter fighting, was 

ratified on Febru...i.ry 10 , 1763, between Great Britain, France, Spain and 

Portugal. France ceded to England all claim to Acadia, Canada, Cape Breton 

and all that part of Louisiana situated east of t he Missi.ssippi River, save 

the Isl and of Orleans. France retained certain fishing rights on the N~w­

foundland banks and vas given Ue islands of St. Pierre and Miquelon. 

England restor ed to France the islands of Guadeloupe , St . Lucia, Martinique, 

&!lle I sle and Maria Galante in the West Indies. Spain ceded Florida to 

Britain, and England restored Havana to Spain. France , by an earlier tr eaty, 

had ceded to Spain all the French territory west of the Mississippi and 

the Island of Or1eans as cOll\pensation for the loss of Florida to the English. 

-
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'Ihroughout the per iod of the war, t~ re were constant attempts 

to establ ish nonnal t r ade r elations in the west. As early as July, 1759, 

the administrators of Indian Affairs for the British urged the Indian 

tribes to quit th~ French and r esume trade with the English "and l eave 

them and us to fight our own battles •11 Present at this convention at 

Pittsburgh were r epresentatives f r om the Indian t r ibes around Venango, 

George Croghan, Captain William Trent, Captain Thomas McKee and Captain 

Henry Mountour . In May of tbe following year , William Trent, Joseph Simon, 

David ~anks and Levi Andrew Levy, Simon ' s son- in- law, forned a partner­

ship for the expansion of their trade activities in the West . Fur traders 

tended to l:and together for protection and often shipped their goods in 

large pick t rains, under the protection of British forces whenever pos­

sible. Nonetheless, the western fur trade was a very ris.ky business. 

Many a fur t r ader not only los~ his supplies and materials but his life 

as well . The new firm of Simon.: Trent , Levy and Franks was to suffer 

several severe setbacks before peaceful trade in the lest couJd be restored. 

'lbro~ghout the course of the war, the search for new markets con­

tinued unabated. Trade in the west was hazardous; t rade with the isl.ands 

of the .-lest Indies exceedingl,y difficult due t o military blockades and 

privateering. Trade with London wa.s very slow durir.g these war years , 

a.nd t r ade with the rest of Europe was prohibited . No matter in what 

direction be t urned, young .Ba.t7!ard faced unparalleled business risks -

yet he had to find outlets for hi3 goods , or he was ruined. Ther e was 

often no recourse but to neglect the rules of warfare and the laws of 

commer ce and to t r ade even ~lth one's enemies. 
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In January, 1761, Barnard filled the wagons of Joseph Simon with 

goods slated for the Indian trade and rendered account to him for the raccoon 

and beaver pelts he had received. In the following month, Preston Paine 

wrote from Quebec to report that ~e had sold the ninety gallons of Geneva and 

other goods which Barnard bad sent to him. He stated that shoes and leather 

goods wer e the items most i.n demand in Quebec at this t ime and requested t hat 

Barnard obtain some for him. In March, Barnard received an order from Levi 

Andrew Levy in Lancaster r equesting him to send goods to John Franks in 

Quebec to be sold on Joseph Simon ' s account. During that same month, Gratz 

received word that his cousin, Jacob Henry, had died. He had been sick for 

some time , and by January , 17 61, he qs prac ticany an invalid. He had re -

tired to New York duri ng ~us illness, where he lived under the car~ of Samuel 

R..irt. The records of Apr il, 1761, show that Trent, Levy, Franks and Croghan 

were operating a store at Pittsburgh. They sold goods to the Indians on cre­

dit and successfully undersold the store opened at Pittsburgh by the 

Pennsylvania Commissio'1ers of Indian Affairs. In May, Barnard issued an 

insurance policy on the goods t ransported by the sloop "Hester," captained 

by Thomas Bruce , from. Philadelphia to the coast of Africa and back to 

Philadelphia. The policy was underwritten by Henry Harrison and Abraham 

Judah. In July, 1761, 'William McKee chartered a sloop and instructed 

Barnard to lo1d it with tobacco, oats and Indian corn . He also ordered 

molasses and earthenware frQlTI Barnard . M~Kee 1 s goal was t.o sail southward 

to the West Indies to sell his goods tand to return by November to pay oft 

his account . On August f irst, George Croghan went to Detroit to try t o 

appease the Indians in the area who were preparing to attack Forts Detroit 

artd Niagara. Several month later, in November, he appeared again at 



~ittsburgh in conference with the Shawnee chiefs, who pledged their 

friendship to the English and r ejected the French . On October 8, 1761, 

in order to assuage the Indians, who continually complained of being 

swindled by the English fur traders, Sir William Johnson established 

fixed prices on all goods traded with the Inci.ians. All British traders 

were expected to adhere to them. 

In 1762, with the capture of strategic points in the West Indies, 

the prospects for peace seemed optimistic. The British had occupied most 

of the French positions in Illinois and around the Great Lakes, and the 

French and the Indians were in a more conciliatory frame of mind. 1'1e 

English fur traders were quick to take advantage of the lull and pushed 

westward once again . In July, George Croghan, George Armstrong and 

Tnomas Smallman became pa.I"""t.ners in an attempt to buy ten tracts of 

western land. Croghan1 s brother- in-law, F.dward Ward, was nov in charge 

of Indian Affairs at Pittsburgh. David Franks came there with John Reed 

to settle the "provisions account" (probably for the garrison troops) . 

On August 7, 1762, Simon and Mitchell shipped to Barnard Gratz forty-wo 

separate bundles of f urs and peltries, including one hundred and seventy­

two beaver skins. Later that month, Barnard received word from Joseph 

Simon that several more shipments of skins from Simon and Mitchell were 

on their way. One of Simon 1 s wagoners, Snank by name, also had a ship­

ment of skins which he was delivering to the rival firm of Baynton and 

Wharton. Mathias Bush also was to receive a consignment of fall skins 

to pay off aprt of the bill Joseph Simon owed Jeremiah Warder. Barnard 

was asked to supply the i;Oods for Simon ' s store in Lanc;aster. Late in 

--------------............ 
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August., SiJnon sent furs on his own accotWt through Barnard to David Franks, 

on SilTi:>n and Mi t.cbell 1 s account through Barnard to David Franks, on his 

own account to be sold by Barnard, and on Si.Inon and Mitchell 1 s account 

~hrough Barnard to Baynton and !Jharton . In addi~ion, Simon ordered 

:nore goods froo: Mr. Derham through Barnard . In the roidst of this booming 

~ercantile activity tragedy struck the Gratz household . Sor::e time at 

the beginning of the autunm season, Barnard's oldest daugh~r, Frances, 

died . 

On November 20, 175~ , Benlard Gratz wrote :.o his cousin, 3olomon 

Henry, in London a~ follows: 

I likewise heard my brother Michael is corning back 
from the Fast Indies, which I am very sorry for, 
and I should be glad to know his reason for return­
irl.g . I don ' t know what advice to give hi.In that 
would be for the best of bis interest, as I do not 
lmow his dispositi.on. If he cnuld content himself 
with living in the /American back7 country, or 
else with living here rin Philadelphia7 at Mr. 
David Franks ' s in my p! ace, /he might- do well,7 as I 
intend to leave him next sprlng . •. I believe I- could 
soon get him my place, where he could learn the 
business of this country by staying with him two 
or three years, and might do a little business for 
himself as he has sorre money of bis own. 

'!his place requires honesty , industry, and good 
nature , and no pride, for he must do everything 
pertaining to the business. So if you and he 
think he is capable of the last - I have no doubt 
of his honesty - and he has a mind not to be 
stubborn but. to take advice after his arrival, 
I woul.d advise him to come by the first vessel 
lll the spring. I would assist him as far as is 
in my power as a brother •.• But if he thinks him­
self wise enongh and refuses to take advice of 
Coi;sin Jacob [Henry] and myself, then let him 
do what be pl~ses; I would not advise him to 
cov:e here, as it would give me much pain and 
uneasiness.16 

• 
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Clearly delineated in this letter is the spirit of Michael's personality. 

He was sanewnat of a ne'er-do-well, who continually squandered his money 

on f~ivolities and who devoted little of his attention to the pressing 

concerns of the business world. He had failed in Berlin and Amsterdam, 

and he had obviously disappointed his brother by his early return from 

the East Indies. SolOlllon Henry, who had hired Michael when Barnard left 

for the colonies, was getting tired of his shenanigans. It was up to 

Barnard, his older bro~her, to assume the burden of his training now. 

oarnard, somewhat reluctantly, accepted. 17 

Barnard Gratz approached David Franks and made arrangements with 

him for his brother to take his place when he left. That same da,y (November 

20, 1758), he wrote to his brother in London to advise him of the arrange­

ments that had been made vi.th Franks, and he suggested to him that he bring 

with him to Philadelphia a cargo of watches, watc!1chains, wOIJ\en ' s shoes 

and mittens and other assorted articles which were somewhat scarce there. 

He was prepared to introduce his brother to the many contacts he had 

made in the past four years, so that Michael might be able to establish 

himself very quickly. 

When bis family in Silesia heard the news that Michael was planning 

to join Barnard in America, they forbade it. Hayim and Jona.than Gratz 

wrote to Michael early in 1759 demanding that he (and Barnard) return to 

Langendorf to help out the family fortunes. Michael replied that his 

mind was made up. Be was leaving for Philadelphia. He hesitated to 

return tc Silesia, because "it is now a time of war." With t'ervent 
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idealism, he rationalized that 11 ! must, lear:1 the ways of the world and 

learn something of how things are done in the world. 1118 Unfortunately, 

that is exactly what he had failed in accomplishing at London, the very 

center of world trade. Michael Gratz made out his last will and testa-

ment, establishing Sol<T.non Henry as its executor , and set sail for 

Ame.rica on April 2, 175?. He was able to bequeath a total of llu pounds 

sterling - enough to give him a good head start in the New World. 

Sometime during the summer of 1759, Michael Gratz arrived at 

Philadelphia, after a brief stay in New York . He irmnediately set to 

vork to establish himself in America. He took ad.vantage of the experienced 

tutelage of both his employ~r and his brother and soon began to invest 

small amounts of capital in some of their business ventures. Like bis 

brother, he became caught up in the movement westward and in the opportunities 

for trade and investment attendent upon that movement. His early economic 

opportunities lay elsewhere, however, since the western frontier had 

become the battleground for contending nations. He had too little knowledge 

of American businass life and too little capital surplus to take the tre-

merrlous risks then involved in trade with the west. He began to tap the 

more normal and stable trade markets - other mainland colonies, England 

and the Wes~ Indies . 

His first venture as an independent merchant startt?d as soon as 

he arrived in the colonies . He had brought with him a cargo of goods 

from London {probably acquired on credit from his cousin, Solomon Henry), 

and he began to sell them from the moment he docked in New York harbor. 

He continued to sell this cargo even while he was working in Philadelphia 



71. 

at David Frank~ counting-house. The record of his Sales B Account (1759) 

indicates that these goods included muslims, calie<>es, caster hats, worsted 

hose, razors, silver watches, wo.tchchains, jewelry and looking glasses. 

His early cu~tomers were to be found in Halifax, Nev York, Virginia and 

Georgia; and they include<! among them David Franks, Meyer Josephson, 

~am David, Elias Hsrt, Thratorius Corbin and William McKee. His range 

of trade began to expand, and he began to deal with the islands of the 

West Indies. Guadeloupe, St. Helena and St. Christopher soon became out­

lets for his goods. By Februar;r, 1760, 1".ichael had already requested of 

Solomon Henry that m ship hbl another cargo of goods from England. Within 

three years of his arrival in America, Michael had succeeded in business 

to so great an extent that he was able to send money to his sisters in 

Silesia. 

Tb.at same month (February, 1760), Michael travelled to Georgia 'to 

purchase goods on his own account. Helping him was Captain Isaac Martin, 

the same seaman who bad worked so closely with Barnard in his early years . 

Several months later (in October), Michael received word that Captain Martin 

had been captured by a Spanish prjvateer off the coast of St. Martin's and 

ransomed. In August, 1760, Michael shipped a cargo of goods to London; 

and, in November of the same year, he received a shipnent of goods fl-Oil 

Solomon Henry. The following May, Michael again shipped goods to Guadeloupe 

Island in the West Indies.: and, in August, he sent a second cargo of goods 

to Solomon Henry in London. According to his records, in March and September 

of 1761, Michael also became involved in several adventures to Nev York. 
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He continued his trading activities throughout the following year as vel1. 

Ir. January. and again 1n December, 1762, Michael shipped goods to Guadeloupe: 

and, i n August of the same year, he sent a cargo of goods to St. Christopher. 

I n April and June, he was involved i n trade with Halifax; and, in Septe111ber, 

he embarked on a third New York venture . 0.ne brief setback cue in 

November vhen Sol omon Henry refused to send Michael ariy- more goods, "having 

detennined t o a fixed resolution not to involve 1'f\YSel.f iD any business 

beyond the seas." Henry vas probably under pressure frOJft the hOJl\e govern­

ment for dealing v i th the colonies, especially vi th those 111erchants still 

trading wi t h the ene1111.19 

By November J, 1762, the preliminaries to ~ace had been concluded. 

The French abandoned their claim to the we s t between Fort Pitt and the 

Mississi!)pi Rive!". The fur trade rs, the investors and speculators, and 

the settlers began to pour into the area once again. And it was just 

about thi s time that richael started his "Beaver Account." On December 

13, 1762, Michael assj gned 190 pounds to this account - his first entry 

into what wc;.s to oonsume the greaU!st part of his business lile from that 

tilile forward. 

It was shortly after this time that Mi chael Gratz sever~d his con­

nections vi th David Franks as an employee in his cotmting-house and opened 

a coo.nting-house of his own and a warehouse. He had travelled the saae 

path as his older brother. He bad been able to secure guidance in the wqs 

of the colonial busir...ess world , introductions to key m.ercbanta and CJUtlets, 

a certain modicum cf capital surplus, and several opportunities to im"est 

that surplus in the ventures of more exper5_enced entrepreneurs. Now be 
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was ready to sti ke out on his own . He vas no longer dependent upon Franks 

and his br other, and he could begin to solicit his own busine ss ventures . 

Among his ear-lier contacts were the Adolphus br others of New York 

and Rays and Polock of Newpor t, Rhode I sland. I saac Adolphus, the lead­

ing merchant of the famil,.v-, specialized i.n the West Indies trade , exporting 

flour, provisions and food.8tuffs for muscavado sugar, molasses, rum, coffee 

and spices. His primary eon tact was his brother, Moses Adolphus, in 

Jamaica, though his a ssociations took )n the entire West Indies chain. 

Michael became J11ore and more concerned with Adolphus. The West I ndies 

provided a much needed outlet for his col onial and English pr oducts , and 

the opening of the west gave both Gratz and Adolphus a new market for 

_mported West India pr oducts . Eventually-, through hi s oonnections wit h 

the Adolphus brothe r s, he formed a partner ship wi th Elias and I saac 

Rodriquez Mit·anda, 'Whose headquarters were in Curacao and whose trade 

relations encompassed all of the West Indies. The new firm took the name 

of "Miranda and Gratz." 

Though Barnard and Michael worked a s independent merchants at th.is 

time, they were ofter: associated in business together. Both Barnard and 

I saac Adol ohus took an acti ve part in the adventures of Miranda and Gr atz, 

and Micha el was of ten invol ved in Barnard' s t rading enterpr ises alCJng the 

coast and into the wes t 1 On Janu.u-y 3, 1763 , Barnard and Willi8.l!I McKee 

chartered the sloop 11 Ranger 11 from its owner, John Adams of Philadelphia, 

for a pe r iod of six months. 11Messrs . Gratz and McKee were author i zed to 

send tle Ranger on such voyages a s they thought proper, provided, h011ever, 

tru..t such voya ges do not e~nd f urther East than Bost on or i'urther South 
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than Charle ston in Sou th Carolina. n20 McKee sailed as far south as New­

bern, Nort h Carolina, when trouble began to plague the voyage. Michael, 

who was ill Nor folk, Virgir.ia, on rosiness for Dav id Franks, was instructed 

t o proceed to Newbern to clear up the situation . When he arri ved, he dis­

covered that McKee had died. Tllere were no relatives to claiJll the body, 

and no further arrangements had been made concerning the "Ranger" and its 

cargo . Michael paid for his burial and hired John Pindar, J r . , to pilot 

the Ranger back to Philadel phi a. 

On February 10, 1763, the 'lreaty of Paris fonnally c losed the 

Seven Years 1 War. The French evacuated their forts and installations in 

the huge wes tern territory they had ceded to Great Britain, leaving the 

vast Ohio River Valley to t he exploi tat.iTe abilities of the English. They 

did not move far - merely across the Mississ ippi River; nor did they cease 

to t rad:<! with the Indians in this Illinois area - they merely did it 

illegally and as far frOJll the prying eyes of tbe British as possible. 

Nonetheless, the oppor tunities were enormous for the speculative merchant 

and fur t r ader alike, and the British were quick to t r y to exploit them. 

As early as March, 1763, the canoes of Joseph Simon and his partners were 

plying their t rade on the Ohio River as far as ¥uskingum . At Will 1 s Town, 

they were to deliver ten to twelve bushels of corn, and they Nere to receive 

furs in return from Will Ives and T'nomas Smal.l.J1lan. In New York, in April 

of the same year, there aopeared an advertisement to raise money for a new 

colony on the Ohio. 1be pr oponents of this colony hoped to raise enough 

money t o petition the cro'ltm for 400,000 acres ol' land. While the effort 

was sporadic and the mi tiator s of the r.>r ogram were not among those normally 
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involved in the wesward push, t he program did indicate a gr owing aware-

ness on all i:arts of the colonies of the speculative oppor tunities avail-

able in the ·11est. Throughout the year, Joseph Silllon continued shipping 

his f ur s to Barnard, in return for Mhich he order ed staple items and 

dry goods for hi s stores in Lancaster and Pit~sburgh . 

In t he SUJTD'ller of 1763 , twenty- thr ee t r aders journeyed as far west 

as the Mississippi River. Feartul of further encroachments upon the Indian ' s 

terri tory by the English, enraged by the constant deceit of the English 

fur traders and stirred to rebellion by the French, the Ottowan Chie f Pontiac 

was able to i ncite the northern and wes tern Indians t o attack the front i er 

settlement s in an eft·art to dri ve them back beyond the mountains . 'Ihe 

entire western f r ontier from Detr oit and Mackinac to the eastern seaboard 

was caught up in t his struggle. B. B. '!batcher ( 1832) quotes the following 

news paper repor ts of the panic \obich ensued :21 

(Fort Pitt, May 31, 1763) 'Iber e is mos t ly me lancholy 
news here. The '.hiians have br oken out in diverse 
places and have murdered Col . G. and his family . 
An Indian has brought a war belt t o 'l'usqueror a, who 
says Detroi t was invested and St . Dusky cut off , 
All Levy's goods are stopped at Tu.squerora by the 
Indians, and last night eight or ten men were killed 
at Beaver Creek. We hear of scalping every hour •• • • 

(Fort Pitt , June 16th) We have dest r oyed the upper 
and lower Shawnee Towns, and by tomorro" ni ght shall be 
in a good posture of defense. Every morning, an hour 
before day , t he wh~le garrison are at their alarm­
T)()Sts. Ten days ago. t hey killed one Patrick Dunn 
and a man of Ma jor Smallman's ; also t wo ot her men. 
Capt. Callender ' s oeople are all killed, and the goods 
taken. ~re is no account of .,.r, Welch, e tc . 
Mr Crawford is made a pr isoner, and his people are 
all murdered Our small posts, I am afrai d, are 
gone • • • 
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(Philadelphia, June 23rd) By express just now from 
Fort ?itt we learn that the I ndians are continually 
about tbe place; that ou~ of one hundred and twenty 
traders but two or three escaped • • • 

(Philadelphia, July 27th) ••• Shippensburgh and Carlisle 
are now become our frontiers, none living at their 
plantations but such as have their houses stockaded. 
Upwards o~ two hundred women and children are now 
living in Fort Loudoun, a spot not more than one 
hundred feet square. I saw a letter from Col . S ., 
late of tle Virginia RegiJllent , to Col . A. wherein he 
mentions that Great-Brier and Jackson' s River are 
depopulated - upwards of t hree hundred persons killed 
or taken prisoner; that ~or one hundred miles in 
breadth and three hundred in length not one family 
is to be found in their plantations ; by wh ich means 
there are near twenty thousand people left destitute 
of the i r habitations . The seven hundred men voted by 
the ass~~bly recruit but very slowly •• • 

As reported, all of Levy's goods were confiscated by the Indians at 

1\iscouerora. '!Wenty-f ive horse loads of skins, belonging to Cray and 

Allison, -.Jere sei zed. Major Smallman and Captain Gallender lost both 

goods and men. In -ill, twenty-f our traders suffered severe losses during 

Pontiac ' s brief insurrection . The total value of the goods lost amounted 

to 80,862 pounds sterling, of which one- third represented the losses sus­

tained by Franks, Trent, Simon and Company. 'Ibey were the heaviest loser.-. 

by far, though Baynton, Wharton and Morgan, their r i val firm in Philadelphia, 

also lost a considerable sum of goods . Many of these t raders were destitute 

and vere most anxious to recoup their loeses. Their hopes were thwarted, 

however, by a Royal Proclamation, issued on October 7 , 1763, which for bade 

the colonization of British Al:':erica beyond the headwaters of those r i vers 

which flowed into the Atlantic Ocean and closed the lest to further 

settlement. 

.. 



CHAPTER mru:E 

1763-1768 

The losses sustained by the western fur traders and their mer­

chant backers during the Pontiac insurrection of 1763 brought a score 

of them into sympathy as claimants for redress . A meeting was held at 

the Indian Queen Tavern22 at which time "the Suffering Traders of 1763" 

decided to push forward their claims . George Croghan was commissioned 

to go to England to place their case before the Crovn, while William 

Trent was to coordinate their efforts in the colonies . 23 With the 

cooperation of Moses Franks, Cr oghan was able to gain the ear of the 

British authorities; yet, though he pleaded his case well, his pleas 

were L~ vain. Within a year Croghan r eturned to the coloni es thoroughly 

disgusted with the reception his ideas had received. In spite of the 

recent Royal Proclamation against further westward expansion, be organized 

the claimants of 176) into the Indiana Company to continue to press for 

compensation (in the fonn of land grants) for the losses they had sus­

tained in the Indian uprising. Shares in the company were issued in 

proportion to the losses, and William Trent was empowered to represent 

th'3 company as its attorney. fa Febraary, 1765, Trent presented the 

petition of these men to Sir WillLam Johnson, with the suggestion that 

be :>btain from the Six Nations a grant of land to pay for the spoilati on. 

Croghan also pressed Johnson to implement this suggestion and spent the 

greater part of 1765 meeting with Indian tribes throughout the western 

region in order t o gain their support for the proposal. Late in Apdl, 

1765, after the success of Broadstreet and Bouquest, Sir William Johnson 

was able to convene representatives of the various nati ons of the Western 
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Indians at Gennan Fla.ts to conclude a definite peace. At this conference, 

the Indians agreed to the proposal that they should grant a tract of land 

as compensation for the losses sustained by the fur traders in 176). 

However, shortly after the Treaty of German Flats was completed, settlers 

crossed the Alleghenies and took possession of lands in Western Virginia 

and along the Monongahela River - without paying the Indians for it. 

General Gage issued orders for the removal of these settlers, but they 

defied his command and his power and remained where they were • ...--Once 

again the spectre of border warfare cast its shadow over the vest. 

In June, 1763, a group of forty entrepreneurs, including sOllle 

of the mos~ prestigous figures of the aristocracy of Virginia and 

Maryland (the Lees, the Washingtons, Presly Thon ton, the Fi tzhughs), 

formed the Mississippi Company ''with a view to explore and settle some 

tracts of land upon the Mississippi and its waters.'' The members of 

the comp'Ul;f were to be drawn primarily from the residents of Virginia 

and Maryland, ''though a few shall be from England and other colonies," 

and its initial goal was to establish a cclony at the mouth of the Ohio 

River. At a second meeting, held at Belleview on September 9, 1763, 

the members of the COtltpan,y drafted a Memorial to the British monarch in 

which they asserted their undying loyalty to the crown and outlined their 

proposals for new settlements in the west. On April 2, 1764, the articles 

of the company were formally endorsed and sent to the Earl of Chatham 

in London for the king 1 s approval. 

These latter petitions for land grants in the colonies further 
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complicated an already confusing situat~on in London. As early as· 1754, 

Governor Dinwiddie had proclaimed certain western lands as compensation 

for the soldiers who had fought so valiantly under Washingtun at Fort 

Necessity, and representatives of the recipients of these lands vere in 

London attempting to gain recognition from the Crown of their claims. 

In 1760, John Mercer, secretary to the Board of the Ohio Company oI 

Virginia, drew up a statement of the compaey ' s case and forwarded it to 

Mr. Charlton Palmer, a solicitor in London, who was to apply to the crown 

for instructions on how the company might carry out its original grant. 

The petition was delayed by the ministry for three years, when the company 

finally empowered Col. George Mercer to go to London to settle the case. 

Mercer remained in London for six years without making any apparent pro­

gress in the object of his mission. His task vas all the more complex, 

since lands contained with the Ohio Company's grant were also claimed 

under the Proclamation of G wernor Dinwiddie. Benjamin Franklin, Who 

was in England at this time and who was vitally interested in western 

expansion, attempted to draw the conflicting colonial claimants together 

to develop a plan for the coordination of all western interests for a 

combined movement westward. On December 12, 1765, George Croghan wrote to 

Franklin, urging him to lend his support to the proposal that grants of 

land be obtained from the Indians as a way to express 11their sensibility 

and sorrow'' for the wrongs of the Pontia~ War of 1763. 

The whole question of western settlement in the mainland colonies 

caused considerable discussioll throughout England, and tbe colonial pro­

ponents of the program often met wi.th encouragement and support. In 1763, 
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immediately after the peace had been completed, there appeared in London 

a widely circul<!ted pamphlet, entitled "The Advantages of a Settlement 

upon the Ohio in North America, 11 which supported the position of the 

colonists . On the whole, however, the program met wi. th general dis­

approval at the highest governmental levels. Britain was now in complete 

control of a vast territory of land from which her rivals - France and 

Spain - had been successfully eliminated . She no longer needed to en­

courage western settlement as a means of defense . Now the concern of 

the crown became one of control and exploitation, not protection and 

defense . The fur trade was exclusively in British hands; and British 

merchants opposed ft:rther settlement westward, which would drive away the 

Indians and destroy the fur-bearing animals. There was also the fear 

that these ultramontane settlers would be beyond the reach of British 

commerce. Finally, there was the possibility that the new lands could be 

made to yield morn revenue for the crown by which it could more fully 

fina.~ce and control colonial administration. The Proclamation of 1763 

provided that, for the time being, colonial settlement was not to extend 

westward beyond a line running through the headwaters of those rivers 

flowing into the Atlantic Oceen. This would allow the authorities ti.Jte to 

assay the situat.ion f ully, so that they might develop a policy for the 

administration of this new territory. On July 10, 1764, the British Lords 

of Trade proposed a program for "one uniform and general system of admin­

istration" for the Indian trade . The proposal was signed by Hillsborough, 

George Rice, Bamber, Cascoyne and J . Dyson . Shortly thereafter, Sir 

William Johnson published a s tandard schedule of barter prices by which 
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Indian goods could be exchanged for furs and peltry. It was expected 

that all western :"ur traders would adhere to this schedule. 

The Proclamation of 1763 did not deter colonial efforts to push 

westward. The representatives of the various suffering traders and 

soldiers contin~ed to push for redress from the crown. The various 

western land companies continued to develop their plans for future ex­

pansion and settlement. The fur traders continued their western advance. 

By 1765, they were to be found throughout the Illinois territory and 

all along the Mi~sissippi . St. Louis had been founded by the French a 

year earlier, and the first trail across the Mississippi River westward 

tot.he Pacific was bsgun at Boone ' s Lick Road near St. Louis in 1764. 

The pronouncements of t he Board of Trade in London could not sti..11 the 

demand for land needed by the new unmigrants to the Appalachian region. 

The hopes f o~ colonial contrcl on the part of the crown did not diminish 

the economic deprest.ion of the s outhern plantation owners, many of whom 

looked to the west for their salvation . In fact, the continued growttl 

of urban settlement along the Atlantic coastal plain, the consequent. rise 

in the cost of living: the increased pressure of B=itish administrators 

for compliance with the demands of the home country, and the growing 

domination of life by mercantile elements tended to force the ffiOre im­

poverished, more independent frontiersmen away from the settled areas 

of population further into the western interior. Clashes between them 

and the authorities were common and generally involved their unprincipled 

dealings witt: the Indians . One incident of note among many was t!'le massacre 

of the Conestoga Indians ir. Lancaster County by a group of unknown assassins 

who ~ere cal.led the "Paxton Boys. 11 On December 29, 1763, Governor John 
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Penn wrote the following letter to Col. John Armstrong: 

I am ext r emely surprised at the late very 
extraordinary insurrdctions among the p~ople in 
so~e of the back counties. They have, in defiance 
of all laws and authori ty, assembled in arms , 
marched i nto the heart of Lancaster County, and 
barbarously murdered a number of Indians who have 
peaceably resided in the Conestoga Manor for many 
years. And notwithstanding my proclamation of the 
22nd instant, another party of those r ioter s, con­
sjsting of upwards of 100 men, came into Lancaster 
on Tuesday last, forceably broke open t he Work House 
and murdered the remainder of the Conestoga Indians 
who were lodged there as a place of safety. 

It is absolutely necessary for the preservation 
of i:eace and good order in the government that an 
immediate stop be put to such riotous proceedings. 

I do t herefore her eby require you forthwith to 
use all the means in your power, both as a civil 
and military officer, to discover and apprehend the 
ringleaders of t hose riots and their accomplices, 
that they be brought to justice; and I furt her strictly 
enjoin you to be extremely active in discouraging and 
suppressing all such lawless insurrections among the 
people and to give me the earliest notice of their 
future notions and evil designs . 

As it is supposed, not without great reason, that 
the chief put of the r ioters live on the frontier s 
of Cumber land and Lancaster Counties, it cannot be 
doubted but, if you are diligent and strict in your 
enquiries. you will soon make a discovery of them, as 
they could not assemble and march in bodies through 
the countr v without being seen and known by a great 
number of p eoole . 24 

The Paxton Boys were not apprehended, and the frontier rioting continued. 

On January 29, 1764, Governor Penn wrote to Captain William Murr~, who 

was COITlJ!landing the British troops at Carlisle, to return with his £orces 

to Lancaster to secure the peace.2S 
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Throughout this per,iod of border tension and apprehension, the 

Grat z brothers continued to ply their trade up and down the Atlantic 

seaboard. Jonas Phillips of New York ordered butter from Michael Gratz 

late in October, 1763, while another Nev York nercbant, Sam.son Mears, 

(Barnard's fat.her-in-law) wrote to Micr.ael tl'I! following month to tell 

hil'n of his impending voyage to St. Eustatia. Mears hoped to sell the 

rings Michael had shipped t o him. In the meantime, Ba.mard Gratz was 

busy developing his contacts in Virginia. On December 1, 1763, James 

Arbuckle, sometiJl'le member of the Virginia House of Delegates, wrote to 

Barnard concerning the McKee estate. No doubt Barnard hoped to recoup 

some of his losses from the estate of his erstwhile partner. Arbuckle 

thanked Barnard for his generous gift of tea and stated that he was look' .. 

ing for grain to buy for Barnard. Shortly thereai'ter, Arbuckle must have 

borrowed money from Dama.rd, for, in February of the following year, he 

transmitted to Barnard a testimonial from the governor of Virginia, wit­

nessing to his good character, and he promised t o pay back the money by 

May. In addition, he secured for Barnard the approval of tbe governor of 

Virginia for a business venture Barnard va:; developing in Virginia. 

Michael Gratz left for New York on business during the early part 

of 1764; and, in April, he wrote several letters to his brother in 

Philadelphia. Michael echoed Jonas Phillips' earlier request and ordered 

thirty to forty additional kegs of butter. Though he ha.d hoped to return 

to Philadel.phia, he could not, since Captain Drummond had not yet arrived 

at New York. While in New York, Michael settled t~ cheese account with 

H. Cloppa and embarked on an attempt to sell lllol.asses . He also ordered 

forty to fifty bushels of he111p seed from Barnard. His final request vas 
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a most interesting one . He asked Barnard to s end mine-stones to Mr . Myers 

for testing. It is possible that he or Barnar d had invested in mining or 

were thinkj ng of investing in mining . Mr. Myers (rossibly Myer Myers) 

owned a mine in New England and could properly advise them on the sagacity 

of such an investment. In short , he and Barnard were willing t o invest 

in any enter pr i $e which pr-omised the opportunity f or profit . 

On April 9, 176b. W. Bagge, Barnard's agent in the settling of McKee ' s 

estate , wrote from Accomac, Virginia, to tell him that James Arbuckle 1 s 

pledges were unreliable . He was doing li ttle to pay back the money he owed 

Barnard. On April twenty-eighth he wrote again t o declare that he had paid 

off all the judgements against McKee . rtnytbing that he collected now would 

accrue t o Barnard. And he rei:eated again the difficulties he was having 

with Arbuckle. By this time , Michael had re turned to Philadelp.11ia, and 

on M8¥ 3, 176L, he finally settled his old account witb David Franks ( from 

February 12, 1760, to May J, 176u). 

Michael returned to New York t he following spring. He was able to 

obtain t hree boxes of tea, which he sh i pped to Barnard via the Bordentown 

stage, and a cargo of salt, which Captain Davenport was shortly to deliver 

t o Philadelphia . Michael instructed his brother to sell both the tea and 

salt before the next London vessel arri ved. While in New York, he and 

hi s partner, Elias Miranda . met with Mr. Pinia to discuss their West Indies 

business . Pinia was soon to voyage to Curacao . By the end of April, 

Michael had left New York to return to Philadelphia. Elias Miranda seems 

to have returned with him, since, in his letter to Michael of April 29, 1765 _, 

Isaac Adolphus sends Miranda his compliments. He outlined for Michael the 

current New York market pr ices . Myer Polock of Hays and Polock in Newport , 
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Rhode I sland, wrote to Michael in May, asking hi.'ll to supply Captain 

Grinnell , whose ship was now sailing from Newport to Philadelphia, with 

flour equal to the value of t re wines Polock had previously sent to him. 

On June 22, 1765 , L. S. Hayne wrote to Miranda and Gratz f r om Montreal for 

credit to suoocrt a distillery which he had just set up in that city. He 

promised to pay for the goods he rece ived either in furs or ready cash. 

I t was jn June. 176S. that Michael embarked on his longest voyage 

since arr iving in America. He planned to sail to the West Indies to 

develop his business contacts at St. Eustatia, St. Christopher and Curacao. 

He ass i gned Barnard and !'.iat hias Bush to be the executors of his will, dated 

june 15 , 1765; and he designatea over six hundred pounds ster ling for dis­

t r ibution to his relatives in Ameri ca and Silesia - a significant increase 

over the llL pounds v ith which he started his American adventure. No doubt 

¥.ichael purchased a small cargo of goods to take with him, and he was 

empowered, as the a6ent of Miranda and Gr~tz, to collect a debt owed t o 

Willing and Morris by Harry l-7onroe of Curacao . Y.ichael probably sailed 

soon after he signed his will, for he wrote to Barnard fro.n St . Christopher 

in July forwarding a bill for one hundred pounds payable to Francis Clay # 

ton. During that same month, Elias and I saac Miranda arrived at Curacao. 

They were able to remit to Barnard 1, 2~0 milled dollars to be credi ted to 

theis• account, and they ordered flour and shipsbread. Earlier that month, 

Elias Miranda and Thomas Sampson had received a shipnent of goods at St. 

Eustatia from Y.iranda and Grat.z. Affairs in the West Inciles seemed to be 

progressing well, and nothing further was heard for several months . On 
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On O.:: t-ober 13, 1765, David Franks wrote to Barnard indicating his grave 

concern over Michael 1 s delay in returning to t he mainland. 26 However, 

~ichael seems to have returned s hortly thereafter . What had detained 

him was shipwreck. 

On October 25, 1765, Michael and Barnard Gratz joined with other 

PhUadelphia !l\erchants in indicating their oppositi on to the recent enact­

ments of Parliament wi th resi:;ect to colonial administration and government. 

Pontiac ' s upri sing and the continual border conflicts which followed it 

convinced the Grenville ministry that imperial action bad to be taken to 

secure t he a rea. A force of 10 ,000 soldiers was to be stationed in North 

America. But. argued Grenville , Britain could no longer bear the entire 

cost of t he administration and defense of the colonies. 'Ibey must be 

induced to share part of the cost. The ministry decided to enforce the 

Navigation Acts, tax the colonies directly and use the revenue obtained 

to maintain the army in America. The powers of the admiralty courts were 

enlarged; British naval officers were instructed to enforce the trade laws. 

The Sugar Act of 176L. increased the number of enW'!lerated articles and laid 

duties on sugar, indigo, wines, coffee, silks and calicoes. The Currency 

Act prevent ed the coloni es from pay...ng their debts in England with depre­

ciated currency and forbade the further issuance of unsound money . 'Ibis 

meant that debts must be paid for in British sterling - but the Sugar Act 

bad injured the colonial trade with the r:est Indies, which had previously 

supplied the needed specie . 'lhe result was a shortage of sterling in the 

colonies - and a shortage of money generally. Disregarding the protests 

raised by the colonists against toose enactments, Parliament passed the 
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Stamp Act in 1765, providing for stamps on canmercial and legal documents, 

pamphlets, newspapers , almanacs, playing cards and dice . It further in­

creased the nwnber of enumerated articles and tended t o center colonial 

t r ade in England, where Br itish firllls would obtain the profits , f r eights, 

inter~st charges and commissions. England's policy had now become a real 

grievance to the colonie ts and one which seemed to signal the ruin of their 

commercial interests. On October 7, 1765, twenty-eight delegates from 

nine c~lonies convened in New York to lJTOtest the enactments of Parliament 

and to declare their r ights and liber ties . Several communities issued 

resolutions to boycott British goods until the Stamp Act was repealed. 

On October 25 , 1765, the merchants of Philadelnhia joined suit and passed 

l series on Non- Importation Resolutions "in hopes that their example will 

sti.'llulate the good people of this province to be frugal in their use and 

consu.~ption of all manufactures exce!)ting those of America. 11 Michael Gr atz, 

Barnard Gr atz , Mathias Bush, Abr aham Mitchell , Moses Mordecai , Thomas 

Wharton , William Henry, Hyman Levy, Jr. , David Franks, Robert Morris , .Benjamin 

Levy, David Sproat, Samson Levy, James Til ghman, John Ross , and Ba.ynton , 

wr,artcn ard Mor gan were among those who signed. 

By signing the Non-Importation lte~olutions, Barnard and Michael 

Gratz cut them.selves off from their excellent London connections - and, 

through then:, from opportunities in Amsterdam, France, Germany and Austr ia. 

There was still the West Indies trade, and there were opportunities for 

business all along the Atlantic seaboard from New Orleans and Mobile to 

Halifax and ~uebec - but the essence of this trade had consisted in the 

exchange of manufactured art'cles and lu.v.ury items for raw materials, pro-
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duce and furs . The only manufactured goods available now were those pro­

duced by the colonies themselves . The types of cargoes changed f rcmi im­

ported luxury goods to colonial staples and products. Furthermore, British 

naval vessels closely guarded the t r ade lanes and strictly enforced the 

navigation and trade restrictions. Any form of sea t r ade was fraught with 

hazards and complications. To survive the decline in sea trade which now. 

set i n, Barnard and Michael began to invest more and more heav11-Y in the 

western fur trade . 

On March 23 , 1765, George Croghan r eceived from Simon, Levy and 

Compal'\V Indian goods valued at 2,037 pounds sterling to outfit his first 

expedition into Illi111.>1.S - with the understanding that he would repay 

the advance by the following February. Edward ~ard, Croghan•s brother- in­

law, had just returned from Carlisle and was able to give him a firsthand 

account of recent developments in the area. The French still continued to 

incite the Indians on the Ohio to oppose British settlemmt and trade . 

Colcnial frontier smen still continued to rebel against the r ulings of the 

colonial magistrates and the Department of Indian Affairs . In fact, the 

twenty-second regiment {abont three hundred men), under the command of 

Major Loftus, vas ordered to capture Fort Chartres and bring peace to the 

region; and it was hoped that Croghan could accomplish a similar purpose 

through his amalling ability to deal with the Indians . Croghan embarked 

on his journey from Fort Pitt on May 15, 1765, having ful),y r ecovered .from 

a severe fit of the gout ; and, by t.he time of the signing of the Non­

Importation Resolutions in Philadelphia, he had concluded several treaties 

with the I ndians which permitted white traders and settlers into the area. 
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(Tne expedition of ~.aj or Loftus failed, and the regiment was forced to 

return to Mobile. In fact, Croghan ' s company also encountered some 

extraordinary hazards . He was captured by Indians in June, but ransomed 

his way out; and, on his return to Fort Pitt, his pack trains were attacked 

by white frontier settlers, "the lawless inhabitants cf Cumberland County .") 

These treaties supplemented the basic treaty of peace secured by Captain 

William Murray, t hen in command of Fort Pitt, on May 11, 1765. On June 

28 , 1765, Alexander Lowrey received a license from Gov~rnor John Penn 

to trade with the western Indians. By December, Crogha n had returned 

from his most successful mission; and it was in the glow of this achieve­

ment that he wrote to Benjamin Franklin in London, urging his support 

of the proposal that western lands be awarded as compensation for the 

losses suffered in the Indian raids of 176). The Indians had agreed to 

this arrangement in principle in the Treaty of German Flats, and Sir 

William Johns~n and William Murray aould lend their backing to the 

program. Croghan then approached William Franklin, the Governor of New 

Jersey, with plans to organize an Illinois Company for the establisb111ent 

of a new colony in that region. Governor Franklin approved oI the ;ro­

posal and sent a draft of the program to his father in London. By April, 

1766, Ben Franklin indicated his approval of the plans and proceeded to 

secure their support in F.ilgland. In June, Sir WilliaJn Johnson j oined 

Croghan and the Franklins in the company and tried to enlist General 

Gage in the venture. General. Gage, however, declir.ed to be concerned.. 

Tile association grew to include twelve pr0111oters, among whOllJ vere De:njamin 
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and William Franklin, the Wharton brothers of Philadelphia, John Bayot.on 

and his son- in- law, George Morgan, George Croghan, Sir William Johnson, 

and a number of William Franklin's close associates in the Burlington 

Company of New Jersey and the Loyal and Greenbrier Companies of Virginia. 

It. was hoped that the new company would become a ''Charter Company" witb 

powers similar to those obtained by the original charter companies 

which founded the Atlantic seaboard colonies. The London ministry was 

divided in its opinions. Lord Hillsborough opposed the plan for a new 

colony; Shelburne was in favor of it; and others, like Lord Adam Gordon, 

still had to be convinced . Though Franklin pursued the scheme for more 

than a year, he failed to obtain the grant. 

In the meantime, plans were proceeding to develop trade and 

settlement in the Illinois territory . George Croghan was beginning to 

organize his second expedition to Illinois . He had already paid back 

1, 066 pounds to Davfo Franks (February 26, 1766) and was convinced that 

the remainder would be remitted shortly . In March, John Jennings and 

Major Thomas Smallman sailed down the Ohio to take up residdnce at 

Kaskaskia on the Mississippi. In June, George Crog~an and George Morgan, 

representing the firm of Baynton, Wharton and Morgan, left Fort Pitt with 

a company of soldiers and thei r supplies and trade goods to establish 

trade centers throughout the Illinois ar~a . In July, they were met at 

the Scioto River by two hundred Indians, anxious to speak with Croghan 

and to develop exchange relations with the white traders; and, by August, 

they had visited St. Genvieve, Kaskaskia, Fort Chartres, Cahokia a.~d 

St. Louis . In all, their company consisted of thrteen bateaux - enough 

supplies to fill several trading stations for a few months. Samuel Wharton 
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was expected to arrive in the fall to inspect the progress being made 

and to decide ths f uture interest of Baynton, Wharton and Morgan in that 

area . Unfortunately, business in tbe west did not go well for the company; 

and, in December , 1766, they were forced to ask for an extension of 

their loan of J,000 pounds sterling from Richard Neave and Son of London. 

George Morgan was recalled to Philadelphia to explain the difficulties . 

In part, the failure of the Philadelphia firm may have been due to the 

aggressive competition of the "Lancaster consortium. " As early as July, 

"".J. 766, Ephraim Blaine was in business at Carlisle, and Levy, Trent and 

Company were operating a trading house at Detroit. Both were associates 

of t.he Gratz brothers, and Michael Gratz was a commisary to General 

Wilkens expedition to Kaskaskia in 1765. 

Michael continued to keep a running tab on the New York market 

through Isaac Adolphus, who would send him the pr:ice quotations about 

once a month. Thf' market was poor after the inauguration of the economic 

boycott on British goods , ann Adolphus wrote on November 8, 1765, that 

there were "very troublesome things here concerning the stamps . '' None­

theless, commerce continued between New York and Philadelphia; and, in 

Dec~mber , Michael shipped a ccsrgo of goods to Adolphus with the reque~t 

for a return shipment. Michael aho kept a close eye or. the West Indies 

trade. The price of import.ed goods had declined in Curacao, and J. Cohen 

Henrig reported on the arrival of a competitive cargo on the brig "Catherine. 11 

Elias and Isaac Miranda took a more hopeful view of things . They credited 

Michael with one- third of the five percent commission on the cargo con-

signed to the Miranda brothers by Messrs . Bradford (about fifty pounds 
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sterling), and they recommended that he acqui~e a ship to f'urther his 

trade in the Indies. In reality, however, conditions were growing worse 

in the islands. So many mer chants in St . Chri stopher became delinquen~ 

in their debts that the governor was forced to 13.ke steps to cont rol the 

:natter; and, on July 6, 1766, Joseph Brown wrote from St . Eustatia con­

cerning the difficulti es he was having collecting the debts owed to 

Michael . Samson would continually put him off, so that he would probab;y 

have to sue him; and he did sue Halley and Hillegas - and still r eceived 

no ~oney from them. Even the coast t r ade was slow. On July )1, 1766, 

Cornelius Tucker wrote that ther e was no market in Mobile for the gin 

Barnard had shipped i1i111 . He recommended butter as a better commodity. 

Cornelius Bradford had left Mobile for New Orlea.~s in the hopes of finding 

a better market there for Barnard's cargo . James Cunningham of Quebec 

also vowed to sell the cargo shipped to hi.Jn, but conditions were equally 

difficult in this northern province . Baruard bad attempted to resume 

trade with England under the restrictions of the boycott by shipping bar 

iron (an acceptable product under the resolutions) , only to receive word 

in October that the market in American bar iron w~s very slow. The westLrn 

trade, which was uegirming to blossom, took on an even more significant 

meaning. Here was a m~ans to economic prosperity and salvation, providing 

that land titles and trade c011cessions could be obtained from Whitehall 

and its colonial administrators. 

J! series of letter s between Sir William Johnson and General 

Thomas Gage indicate how men on the highest levels of government were 

gravely concerned with this question of western expansion - some for i t , 

Ct.nd some against it. On January 2, 1767, Johnson wrote to Gage concerning 

the report he had just received from George Croghan, who had just re-
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t.urned frOfll the Illinois country . C:-oghan reported that only fifty 

men and three off i cers were still fit for duty in Illinois. The rest 

were ill . In fact, Croghan himself was so ill that he could not make 

the journey back along the Ohio River, but returned via New Orleans. 

while in New Orle::ins (on August 20 , 1766 ), he met with r epresentatives 

of eight Indian nations to discuss the further settlement of the area 

by colonial immigrants . The French had endeavored unsuccessfully to 

obstr uct the meeting. ~roghan {and Johnson ) continued to push the 

proposal that western lands be given as compensation for losses due to 

Indian attacks and that new colonies be developed in the western frontier. 

On January 16, 1767, Johnson wrote to Gage again to sa:y that Croghan 

had arrived in Philadelphia, but was very ill. He reported that the 

French traders aJ.ong the Wabash and Miwii ~i vers were doing everyt hing 

in their pcwer to incite the Indians against the British and their 

traders. Crorthan had either recup~rated quir.kly or was summoned to New 

York nonethel ess , since, on January nineteenth, he appeared before General 

Gage to repor~ on his Illinois venture. He emphasized two areas of con-

cern - the continued activities of the French in stirring up the Indians 

and the tremendous expense of shipping pelt s by way of New Orleans. He 

suggested that a route on 'the Ohio River should be developed t o f acili-

t ate trade with the northern provinces. Croghan also reported on his 

own expenses during the t~ip and hoped that 3eneral Gage would remit 

him the money at his earliest convenience. General Gage again ¥rote to 

Johnson on January 2,, 1767, to state his conclusions in the matter: 

From all I can pick up out of the many accounts 
receivea from all parts cor.cerning the Illinois and 



the Mississippi in ~eneral, very little benefit 
is likely to arise to Great Britain from the 
trade thereof. 

Some British manufactures may possib1..y be 
disposed of, but as long as skins and furs bear 
a hign price at New Orleans, they will never be 
brought to a British market . The Indian trade in 
general , from the observations which I have made, 
will al.ways go with the stream; anci the whole will 
either ~o down the St . Lawrence or Mississippi 
Rivers . 7 

No doubt General Gage was also concerned about the French and the con-

tinual conflicts between frontier settler s and the Indians, and he 

realized that these would increase if western settlement were encouraged . 

Until British posts were established in the region and the peace secured, 

11 it is better to abandon it . 11 After bearing General Gage ' s conclusions, 

Croghan returned to Philadelphia dejected and disconsolate. His entire 

work in the west had been discredited, and he tendered his resignation 

from the Department of Indian Affairs . Johnson was incensed; a~d, on 

January twenty-ninth, he wrote to General Gage that he had refused to 

accept Croghan 1 s resignation. He urged General Gage to take immediate 

steps to build posts along the Ohio River to discourage the Indians from 

taking their furs down the river to New Orleans and to facilitate trade 

with British traders from the Atlartic colonies. Croghan remained in 

Johnson 1 s employ, and Gage remained adamant in bis opinion a-gainst the 

Illinois venture . As late as April third, Croghan had not yet been re-

imbursed for his expenses, and Sir William Johnson was forced to plead 

with General Gage to pay the poor man off. Finally, on April 2h, 1767, 

Johnson received an order from Gage for 1,732 poi;.nds sterling to cover 

Croghan 1 s expenRes in D l ine is. 
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Th~ money carne just L11 time. Croghan had oeen forced to rely 

on his friends for support, and they and he were getting tired of the 

effort. Still, he was not able to pay off his debts; and, on May 10, 

1767, Joseph Simon wrote to ask Barnard to dun Baynton, Wharton and 

Morgan fer the money due on George Crogban 1 s account . Simon asked 

Barnard to pay William West seventy pounds to be applied to his own ac­

count with Baynton, Wharton and Morgan. Joseph Simon was, by far, the 

outstandi.ng leader of the "Lancaster syndicate" in its western ventures . 

He was the ~ealthiest and most influential merchant in Lancaster , and 

the traders who received their goods through his stores were .among the 

most industriouc aod illust rious western traders in the west. He had 

long been associated with David Franks, the Gratz brothers , Baynton, 

Wharton and Morgan and other pro~inent Philadelphia merchantmen; and 

he was probably well acquainted with George Croghan and William Murray. 

His position ai~d influence was all the more enhanced when , on July 22, 

1767, he was introduced to Sir William Johnson by the prestigous Reverend 

Thomas Barton. One can be sure that the central topic of their conver­

sations together was the opening of the west and the possi bility of 

establishing new colonies there. 

In London, Ben Franklin continued to pursue this the·ne with 

rrernbers of the Board of Trl\de and t"ne ministry . In August, Franklin 

dined with Lord Shelburne and Mr. Conway and discussed his proposal 

for a new colony on the Mississippi. Both Shelburne and Conway approved 

of the plan. Shortly thereafter, Franklin l eft for Paris with Sir John 

Pringle for a much needed rest . On his re·~urn, he met with Shelburne 
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again; ar.d , on October 5, 1767, Shelburne presented to the Board of Trade 

letters from Croghan, Johnson, General Gage and Sir Jeffery Amherst re ­

commending " t he establishment of new goverruuents on vbe Mississippi, the 

Ohio and a t Detroit." I n November, Ben Franklin himself was called to 

appear before the Board. The issue was to be given a full hearing - news 

wr.ich caused great exci tement and enthusi a sJ11 in the colonies . On November 

25, 1767 , Joseph Gallow~, George Croghan and Samuel Wharton each wrote 

l e t ters t o Ben Franklin encouraging the establishment of a new western 

boundary . Franklin turned the l etters over to Shelburne for his use. 

The issue was, by no 111eans , uncontested. Franklin him.self admitt ed that 

the London merchants were arrayed against the proposal. 

In addition to the mercantile opposition to the prograJn and the 

strident voices of other colonial claim.ants to land in the western regions, 

all of which tended to complicate the issue consider ably , Ben Franklin 1 s 

tas~ was made even harder by the many reports of unscrupulous business 

practices of the western trader~ . The rumor that ~ton, Wharton and 

Mor gan were selling furs to the French and Spainish at New 0--leans was so 

pers i stent that ~'ranklin was forced to ask his son about its veracity; and , 

on Dece;nber iB, 1767 , John Caapell, Joseph Spear, James Milligan, Danie l 

Elliot and Alexander Lowrey - all pr ominent fur traders - accused C.Olonel 

Thomas Creasap of opening a trading house at Redstone Creek wher ein he 

t raded with the Indians at one-half the rates agreed upon by the Depart-

ment of Indian Affairs and the chie$ of the Indian t r ibes, and they suggested 

that Colonel Cresap was responsible for the murder oI Captain John Peters, 

a Delaware chief. None theless , about Christi.mas of 1767 , Sir Willial!I 
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Johnson received orders to complete the proposed purchase of lands from 

the Six Nations . The orders were almost immediately rescinded, hGwever, 

wl::en a new administration came into power in London. 

Des Pi te the indecision and opposition which manifested itself in 

England, colonial agriculturalists and promoters carri ed forward their 

plans to open the west to exploitation and settlement. On September 21, 

1767, George Washington ;rrote to his chief surveyor, Willi am Crawford, 

as follows: 

I then desired the favor of you, as I understood 
rights might now be cad for the l ands which have fallen 
within the Pennsylvania lines, to l ook me out a tract 
of about fifteen hundred, t wo thousand, or more a cres 
somewhere :in your neighborhood •.• It will be easy for 
for you to conceive that ordinary or even middling lands 
would never answer 1llY purpose or expectation, so far from 
navigation and under such a load of expenses as these 
l ands are encumbered with . No, a tract to please me 
must be rich, of which no person can be a better judge 
thal1 yourself, and, if possible, level. Could such a 
piece of land be found , you wruld do nte a singular favor 
in fallint; upon some method of securing it immediately 
from the attempts of others, as nothing is more certain 
than that the lands cannot remain long ungranted, when 
once it is known that rights are to be had •• . • 

I r ecommend that you keep this whole matter a 
secret, or trust it only to t hose in whom you can 
confide and who can assi st you in bringing it to bear 
by their discoveries of land. This advice proceeds 
from several very good reas,ns, and, in t he first 
place, because 1 might be censured for the opinion I 
have given in respect to the king's proclamation, and 
then, if the scheme I am now proposing to you were 
known, i t might give the alarm to others and , by put­
ting them upon a plan of the same nature before we 
could lay a proper foundation f or success ourselves, 
set the different interests c~ashing and probably, in 
the end, overturn the whole.2 

. Washington was right when he asserted that his proposal would incur 

the disfavor of the crown, for, on March 7, 1768, the Board of Trade issued a 
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policy statement which resolved to collfine the population of the colonies 

t o the Atlantic coast and to oppose the development of nev colonies in the 

west. "The great object of colonizing upon the continent of North America 

has been to i.Jnprove and extend the commerce , navi gation and Jllallufactu.res 

of this kingdom, upon which its strength and security depend. n29 '.!be 

mainland colonies were to be enccuraged in the pranotion of their fisher ies, 

in the growth and development of the naval stores industry 1 in the production 

of raw materials which could be exchanged in England for manufactured goods, 

and in the procurement of lumber, provisions and ot her necessities for the 

support of English settlements in the West Indies. ill of these might be 

accomplisil3d entirely by the colonies along the Atlantic seaboard. 

We admit as an undeniable principle of true policy that, 
with a view to prevent manufactures, it is necessary and 
proper to open an extent of territory for colonization 
proportioned to the increase of people, as a large number 
of inhabitants, cooped up in narrow limits without a 
sufficiency of land for produce, would be compelled to 
convert thei- attention and industry to manufactures; but 
we submit whether the encouragement given to the settle­
ment upon the sea coast . and the effect which such encour­
agement has had, has not already effectually provi ded for 
this object, as well as for more easing the demand for and 
consUJ11ption of British manufactures; an advantage which, 
in our humble ofinion, would not be promoted by these new 
colonies which are) being proposed to be established at 
the distance of above fifteen hundred llliles fr0tn the sea 
and in places which, upon thP fullest evidence , are found 
to be utterly inaccessible to shipping. JO 

Shortly C:tereafter, Lord Hillsborough proposed that all English t roops be 

r ecalled from the west to be stationed only in the Atlantic colonies. If 

they so desired, the settlers tbell!Selves could man the western farts. 

The fight was far frQ!I over, however, and the pr oponents of the new 

colonies continued to push their program. 'nlomas Pownall. presented to the 
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Duke of Cumber land Ben Franklin 1 s "Plan for Settling the West" and received 

his interested support . Ben Franklin himse~.f continued t o exert bis in­

fluence with the ministry to promote the western progr8.Jll. And, in the 

spring of 1768, Sir William Johnson again received orders from 'Whitehall 

to establish a new treaty with the Indians . Johnson went ahead immediately 

on plans for a congress of representatives from the cr own, the colonial 

assel'!lblies and the Indian nations , which he said would take place in 

October at For t Stanwu. 

It was about this tilne that the permanent partnership of "Barnard 

and Michael Gr atz, Merchants in Phil adelphia" was formed. Until this time , 

the two br others worked as independent 11terchants, though they were often 

concerned together in adventures. One of their first ventures was t o 

become concerned with Willi.all! Murray at Kaskaskia and Fort Chartres in 

shipping goods to be us ed in outfitting Illinois as a new government in 

the west . The roads into Illinois had been opened by George Croghan in 

1765, but it was the expedition of Colonel John Wilkens f r om Fort Pitt t o 

Fort Chartres on the Mississippi (much of whose goods and supplies w~re 

conveyed through Michael Gratz, as one of the expedition's off icial com­

misaries) that brought the Grat~ brothers into the Illinois trade in any 

full sense. Among the other firms engaged in the Illinois trade were 

Baynton, Wharton and Morgal' of Philadelphia and the Lancaster syndicate of 

Silnon, Trent, Levy and Company - with which David Franks and the Gr atz 

br other s were actively concerned. 

On March 1, 1768, John Baynton wrote to James Rumsey at For t Chartr es , 

congratulating trill! on t he way he had managed t o br ing Negroes f rom Jamaica 

.. 
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to Kaskaskia. Probabl7 these Negroes were to be sold to the settlers who 

were soon to pour into the region, since Baj'nton assured Rumsey that "a 

civil government w~ll soon take place there. n Such reass·.i.rances delighted 

neither the Prench nor the Indians, and the English were often hard p-essed 

to maintain their positions along the Mississippi and the Ohio. Kaskaskia, 

Cahokia and Fort Chartres were under constant danger of Indian attack. 

On May 25, 1768, William Murray left Philadelphia to begin his journey into 

the Illinois territ~ry. He gave Barnard Gratz power of attorney over all 

of bis affairs, as well a.s power of attorney over the affairs of Messrs. 

Woodrow and Company of Virginia for which Murray had power of attorney. 

Barnard was to sell Murra.r's land in Shea?"ll'lan's Valley, pay off all of his 

del..ts and send him the remainder at Kaskaskia. On June eighth he wrote 

again, suggesting that Barnard send him a supply of shoes and stockings, 

which seemed to be 111uch in demand in the frontier. He was on his way frOll 

Carlisle to Fort Pi~t w1.ere he would begin his journey westward as part of 

the Wilken 1 s expedi tion. The hazards of such a journey were clearly evi­

dent in his next letter to Barnard. The forty horse-loads of goods from 

Simon in Lancaster were late in arriving at Carlisle - and barely arr ived 

in time at Fort Pitt; and the twelve bateau-men hired in Philadelphia never 

showed up ("are gone to h-111"), and new men bad to be procured from among 

the frontiersmen available at the fort . Smet:ill'le in July, Murray was joined 

at Fort Pitt by Mrs. Murray; and the joorney westward finally began. 

John Jennings, George Morgan and James Rumsey bad arrtved at Kaskaskia 

on June 24, 1768 Jennings continued on to Ner• Orleans and returned to 

/ 
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Philadelphia on October fourteenth, while Mor gan and Rumsey remained in 

Illinois to set up their trading establishments . George Morgan wrote, on 

July eleventh, that he bad wo=ked out a plan with Rumsey to sell t he re­

maining supplies, especially the beef . In this report to the home office , 

ae r ecommended that Baynton, Wharton and !for gan apply for the contract to 

supp1.y the army outposts with beef , He asserted that he had access to 

any suppl.v of buffalo neat through the hunters ir. the Illinois terr i tory. 

Morgan expressed his concern about competition f rorr. Lancaster and asked 

Baynton , Wharton and Morgan to raise t he pri ces on the goods they sold to 

David Franks and hi s agents. In addi tion, he proposed that an entire 

year ' s !)rovision of flour be sent to Illinoi s to cut down the price of flour 

gr own in the area - and he requested that this be done before David Franks 

did the very same thing . He also r eoorted that be had heard that t hree 

London gentlernen (one of 11;h om was Mose s Franks, David Franks ' br other) 

were successfully bidding on the contract to supply the western troops with 

provisions and supplies . I f they gained the contr act (and they did), it 

would probably undermine Baynton, Wharton and Mor gan 1 s efi'or ts in Illinois. 

In addition, Messrs . dlouir.. anci Captain Campbell d.t Cahokia were detenrll1ed 

to undersell hi.Jl'I; and he was unaware of what Croghan's plans were at Kaskaskia. 

Mor gan reported that t he French traders in I llinoi s were bankrupt and that 

t rade with them vas extremely slow. Thus, most of Morgan 1 s business had to 

take place with the frontier garrisons and the fur trader s. Unfor t unately, 

he had antagonized both Croghan and Campbell and vas on the ver ge of 

alienating many of the l'u.r traders in the area . Even his re a t ions with 

his emoloyee, James Rwr.sey ye re tenuous, e ince RUJnsey had yet to be paid 
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for any of his services Morgan pleaded with h.i.s Philadelphia partners 

to pay Rumsey's bills - 11he is still in our service." It is without wonder 

that Yorgan opposed the departure of Samuel Wharton for a tour of the 

western provinces . 

Things became even more strenuous for Morgan with the arrival of 

William Murray in t he latter part of July, 1768. He bad j\Ult received 

1 ,200 pounds sterling worth of Indian goods from Campbell, which he expected 

to sell qui~k.ly as one of the sole suppliers of goods to the I ndians in 

that territory . Murray's entry into the region created an unexpected COll'l­

petition. Furthermore, Silllon Girty, one of Morgan's hunters, reported an 

Indian uprising along the Shawnee River, f'rom which he alone escaped. At 

!askaskia, George Gibson and Henry Prather forced Morgan to pay for the 

goods they had given to ~..r. Callender in skins and furs - and then they 

confessed that the goods really belonged to Joseph Simon and Barnard 

Gratz . When ~organ discovered t.bis, be attacked Prather and was alr.ost 

strangled to death in the process. All of these matters - ~ompetition from 

Gratz and Murray . the loss of the army contract to David FratJ.ks and bis 

London associates, the overstocking of goods which cvuld not b6 sold quicklJ 

enough to meet maturing obligations, and the alienation of the frontier 

leaders and the fur trader-s - caused t.be fortunes of Baynton, Wharton and 

Morgan to decline in Illinois after 1766. 

Of course, the western trade was not the only area of concern for 

Barnard and Y.icbael Gratz . Each had made contacts throughout the colonies, 

and they continued to develop business enter prises wherever they could. 

However, where the western trade was beginning to boom, the inter-colonial 
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trade was undergoi:r.g a period of great hardship in which money was scarce 

and goods difficult to obtain. Levi Andrew Levy, Joseph Simon's son- in­

law and partner at Lancaster, reported in January , 1768, that Mr. See had 

just completed his surveys on "our land" near Bedford. Michael wou ld do 

well to tell his brother to invest in these land.~ as ~ell - even if he had 

to brioe tbe clerks to do it. Levy and Croghan were to go up to inspect 

the lands in March. Later in January, Isaac Adolphus wrote frOl!I New York 

t o declare his inability to honor Michael's draft for $300 . He was com­

pletely without resources and had only twenty pounds to his name . In the 

next month , ttte same message was conveyed by Peter R. Livingston. Due to 

the money shortage in New York, 1:.ivingston . was forced to draw on his 

account with Michael to pay- Sampson Si.Jllson one hundred pounds in Phl..ladel­

phia currency. In April, Levi Andrew Levy reported to Michael that plans 

for the Bedford lands were progressing satisfactor ily, and he sent him 

an accounting of all the groceries sold through their Lancaster outlets . 

On May 17, 1768, I saac Adolphus wrote an angry letter to ¥.ichael , rebuking 

hilll for drawing sixty pounds against Adolphus ' accGunt. AC:.olphus had no 

money at present, and he t.old Michael to suspend the sbipnent of all good& 

to him at New York. In July, Joseph Simon sent a shiµnent of pelts to 

Barnard. David Franks was to receive the invoice and insure the cargo. 

'!bat same month, shor~ly before he left for IlJ.inois, Willi&111 Murray bad 

written to Michael from Fort Pitt to recommend Aeneas Mackay. In August, 

Michael received four drafts from Mackay, drawn by Thomas Hutchins on New 

York and Philadelphia accounts. Three of the drafts were immediately 

acceptablet but the fourth, on McKay, had to wait until he returned. Both 

McKay and Croghan had gone up to see Sir William Johnson. Michael then 
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shipped more than three wagon loads of goods to Mackay at Fort Pitt. Wagons 

were beginning to replace pick trains in the shipment of goods to and frolll 

Fort Pitt (trade was growing so brisk that an established road was emerging) , 

but the trade was still risky Wagon drivers were hard to come by, and 

t}'iey had to be paid promptly upon the delivery cf their goods. On September 

23: 1768, Michael wrote to Mackay to tell him that vessels had arrived 

from London with Indian goods, but no goods would be purchased until the 

treaty with Indians was settled. A congress was scheduled to convene at 

Fcrv Stanwi.x on October first . 

The conference was delayed slightly, and the first assembly did not 

convene until October 24, 1768, at which time representati ves from New 

Jersey, Connecticut, Pennsylvania and Virginia, Sir WilliB.Jll Johnson and 

his deputies, agents of the fur traders of 1763, and delegates from the 

six Iroouois nations, the Delaware Indians and the Shawnee Indians met to 

discuss the establishment of a new Indian boundary and the purchase of 

lands ¥est of the Alle£heny ~ountains in the vicinity of the Ohio River. 31 

William 1'rent and Samuel Wharton represented the fur trader s who had suf­

fered losses in 1763 (the Indiana Company), and t:Jey helped Johnson draft. 

the text of the treaty. On November 4, 1768, a treaty was ra t.ified which 

gave thousands of acres of land along the Ohio t o William Trent, as attorney 

for the fur traders, for the price of five shillings cash and in compensation 

for goods and merchandise 0 unjustly seized and taken" by the Indians in 

1763 in the value of 05 ,916 pounds in New York currency. The first !118.jor 

step in acquiring t he Indiana territory hl.d been completed; and; with this 

treaty in hand, Sir William Jolmson-' Willia.'n Franklin and the other pro-



10s. 

ponents of the Indiana Company hoped to force the crown to reconsider its 

pleasure in restricti ng settlement just to the Atlantic seaboard. 

Now this indenture witnesseth, that we the said 
Abraham, Senngheis, Saquarisera, Chenaugheata, 
Tagaaia, and Gaustarax,--Chiefs and Sachems o! the 
said Six Uni ted Nations, --and being and effectually 
as aforesaid representing all the tribes of the Six 
Uni ted Nations, --for and in consideration of the sum 
of eighty-five thousand nine hundred and sixteen 
pounds, ten s billings and e~bt-pence, lawful money 
of the province of New York; tbe same being the 
amount of the goods and merchandise, which were un-
justly seized and taken, as aforesaid, by the Shawanese, 
Dela.,are and Huron tribes of Indians aforesaid, from 
the said William Trent, Rooert Callender, David Franks, 
Joseph SiJnon, fevy Andrew Levy, l'hili p Boyle, John 
Baynton, Samuel wbarton, Geor ge Morgan, Joseph Spear, 
Thomas Sll'JalL"'lan, Samuel Wharton, administrator of John 
Welch, deceased; Ednru.nd Moran, Evan Shelby, Samuel 
Postlethwai te, John Gi bson, Richard Winston, Dennis 
Croghan, Willi&Jn 'Ihompson, Abraham Mitchel, James Dundas 
T"hOmas Dundas and John Ormsby , in the aforesaid year of 
One thousand seven hundred and sixty-three t whereof just 
and !ai r accounts have, on oath and affi nnation, been 
produced, interpreted, and erolained t o us; and which, 
at our Jesire, are now lodged and deposited with the 
sai d Sir William Johnson, Baronet; and for and in con­
si derati on of the sum of five shillings, lawful money 
aforesaid, to us in hand paid by the said Willi&Jll Trent, 
the rece i pt whereof we do hereby acknowledge, do give, 
grant, bargalli, and sell unto bis said Majesty, his 
heirs and successors, t o and for the only use, benefit 
and behoof of the said William Trent, in his own right, 
and as a t torney aforesaid, all that tract or parcel of 
land, beginning at the e outherl;r side of the mouth of 
the little Kenhawa Creek, where it empties itself into 
the river Ohic, and running from thence south east to 
the laT.ll'el Hill; thence along the Laurel Hill until i t 
stri kes the River ifonongahela; thence down the stream 
~f the said r i ver Monongahela, according to the several 
courses thereof, to the southern boundary line of the 
Province of Pennstl vani a; tnence westerly, along the course 
of the said Province boundary line, as far as the same 
shall extend, and from thence by the sue course to the 
river Ohio; thence down the said River Ohio, accordingto 
the several courses the reof, to theplace of beginning, 
toget.her wit.!'i all and singular the trees s woods, under­
woods, ll'lines, :minerals, ores, waters, water courses, 
fishings, fowlings , huntings, profits , commodities, 
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advantages, r ight s , liberties, privileges, heredita­
ments, and appurtenances whatsoever, to the said tract 
or parcel of land belonging, or in any way appertaining; 
or which now are, or formP.rly have been accepted, re­
puted. taken, known, used, occupied or enjoyed, to or with 
t he same, or as part, parcel or mEl!lber thereof, and the 
r evPrsion and reversions, remainder and remainders , rents, 
issues . and profits, of all and singular t he said premises 
abpve menti oned and every part or parcel thereof, with 
the appurtenances; And also all the estate, right, title, 
interest, property, claim and demand whatsoever, whether 
native , legal or equitable, of us the said Indians, and 
each and every of us , and of all and every other person 
and persons w~.atsoever, of or belonging to the said 
na~ions, of, in, to and out of, all and singular of, 
every part and parcel thereof, with the appurtenances; 
to have and to hold, all and singular the said tract, 
parcel and parcels of land , given, granted, and bargained 
premises, with their appurtenances unto his said t-1.ajesty 
King Geor ge the Third, his heirs and successors, but to 
and for tre only use, benefit and behoof of the said 
William Trent in his own right , and as attorney aforesaid, 
his heirs and ass igns forever: 

And the said Abraham, Senngbois, Saquarisers, Chenaug 
heata, Tagaaia, and Gaustarax, for themselves , and for 
the Six United Nations, and all and every other nation 
and na t. •.ons , tri bes , tributari es and dependant s of t he 
said Six United Nations, and tneir, and every of their 
oosteri t i es, the said tract and parcel of land and 
premises. and every part thereof, against them the said 
Abraham. Sennghois, Saquari sera, Chenaugheata, Tagaaia, 
and Gaustarax, and against the sai d Six United Nations , 
and thei r tributaries and dependants, and ~11 and every 
of their posterities, to his said Majesty , his heirs and 
successors but to and f or the only use, benefit, and 
behoof of the said William Trent in his own right, and 
as att orney aforesaid, his heirs and assigns, shall arui 
will warr ant and for every defend by these presents. 



CHAP'IER FOUR 

1768-1771! 

A s i gnifi cant objective of the Fort Stanwix Trea t y was to be the 

est abUshment of a new western b:>undary, beyond whi ch t here were to be no 

unauthor i zed set t leJrents. When the boundary was drawn up, tre whole country 

s outh of t re Allegheny anci Ohio Rivers, t o which the Six Nations laid claim 

by virtue of their suzeraint y over the Delawares and tbe Shawnees, was 

t r ansferred t o the Bri t i sh. A deed for part of the terri tory wa s granted 

to William Trent on November 3, 1768, as compensati on for the losses in­

curred by t he fur traders of 1763 . On November fifth, the remaining 

territory was deeded over to t he king, and the pri ce agreed upon was paid 

down. Two other deeds , for lands in t he interior of Pennsyl vania, may 

have been issued at this time - one to Ge orge Croghan and one t o the 

propr i etors of Pennsylvania. These deeds expressly voided t he tenets of 

all pr evious treat ies ( i.e., those ~t Lancaster, Logstown, German Flats, 

etc. ) . 

Many of t be same f ur traders had also sustained grave losses a 

decade ear}ier in t he insurrecti ons of 17$~, and t hey decide~ t o press 

t he i r claims for compensation in l'llUCb t he same manne:: as t hey had done 

wi t h respect t o t hei r losses of 176J . However, Sir Wi lliam Johnson r e ­

fused to br irig pressur e on t he Indians t o compensa t e f or the losses of 

17SL, which he said were the r es1.lt of French-inspired aggres~ion in which 

t he Six Nations had no part. Not in t he l east di smayed, the fur traders 

decided to appeal direc- tly to the cr own . A group of s ix prominent rersons, 

including David Franks and Ben j amin Levy, were a ppointed as "the legal 

representatives of tre Indian t~aders who were the real sufferers in the 
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year 1754, n and they iromediately contacted Moses Franks, David Franks' 

br other, to be their advocate before the London authorities. A company­

was formed in which the shares were to be divided equally between the 

t r aders and the merchants (one half to the t rade r s and one half to the 

merchants). Moses Frank~ was to receive one-ninth of the land granted to 

the merchants as his commission. His task was to petition the c r own for 

a tract of land distinct f r om that granted to the traders of 1763 (since 

the merchants feared that the earlier claim would be disrupted by this 

later claim for comoensation) , but within the territory ceded by the 

Indians to the king Captain William Trent and Samuel Wharton would leave 

for 3ngland soon to help Moses Franks press their cla.iln. Moses Franks 

accepted the offer and imlllediately drafted a memorial on behalf of his 

clients, setting for th their claim to compensation . 

In December, 1768, Arthur Lee, representing the promoters of the 

Mississippi Company, presented a petition to the king's Council for two 

and a half million acres of land west of the Alleghenies, between the 

thirty-eighth and the forty- second parallel north latitude (~ . e. , in what 

is now West Virginia). Thirty six of the fifty memb12rs of the company had 

signed the petition; and, on Deceni.ber 16, 1768, it was referred to a 

oommitte!'! of t he Council for stuey. On March ninth of the following year, 

it was r ead by the ccmunittee, di~cussed, and r eferred to the Board of 

Trade . Unfortunate].y, nothing more is heard of the petition. It was 

certainly not granted. 

On December 28, 1768, a meeting of the members of the Sus quehanna 

Compan;r was held in Hartford, Connecti cut, ~for the purpose of beginning 
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to occupy t.he lands former ly purchased by the Ne-.i England people and others 

.•• on the Susquehanna, within t he grant made to the Governor and the Colony 

of Connecticut." Pennsylvania. disputed Connecticut's clais:. to these 

western lands along tte Susquehanna , claiming them a s her own . In additi on , 

in s pite of the border settlement of 1768, white settle r s were pouring into 

the western f ront ier a t an alarming rate - to the distr ess of the I ndians . 

?oremost am ong these settlers were the Virginians. On the wole, t hey re­

garded the Stanwix Treaty as a temporary expedient t o quiet t he I ndians 

and did not for one n0111ent consider giving up fertile wes tern lands, whi ch 

they consi dered tbe)r own by r ight of both grant and possess i on. They be­

gan, man by man, af ter 1768, a movement which never ceased until the Pacific 

o~eaJl was reacred . Virginia claimed the l ands west of the Alleghenies by 

virtue of her or iginal charter : Pennsylvania claimed the region by virtue 

of her Indian treaties, deeds and grants . Ultimately, the two colonies 

were to clash violently as each became more and more involved in the wes t­

ward push . 

Fur was still t.he pricel e s s resource of the west , though coloniza ­

tion and set tlement were becoming increasingly mor e important in the 

economic understructure of the movement we s tward . Throughout t hese years 

of explorati on and debate, Joseph Simon cont:i.ned to supply bis Philadelphla 

compatriots wi t h skins ;ind peltry. Two hundred and twenty- two skins arrived 

at the Gr atz eatabl1shtnent in January of 1769, and additional skins were 

on their way. Barnard was a sked to confront Geor ge Croghan wl t h the 150 

pound debt for supplies wh i ch he owed SiJllon. ThE' money f r om the furs 

and fran Croghan were to be given to Levi Andrew Levy men he arrived in 
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Philadelphia. In addition , Simon ordered goods to be shipped wi tb Capta in 

Trent when he returned to Carlisle. While trade with the west continued 

t o develop. trade between the established mainland colonies was quite slow. 

Sola.iion Y~ache wrote to Michael at the beginning of March to report that 

the market in New York was "very dull, " and Isaac Bart sent his bills to 

Michael over land from Newport, Rhode Island, because it was too risky to 

send them by water conveyance. The trade rest r ictions and economic embargo 

particularly hurt those northern merchants that depended solely on trade 

with England and the Indies. The Harts , ffa3's and Polock and the Livings tons 

were all associated in t r ade with the West Indies . They owned a fleet of 

trading ships - which were beginning t o cost more to :maintain than they 

were bringing in in trade . When Hays and Pol ock were arr ested for debt, 

it was decided that t heir share in the 11Risir.g Sun" might provide the 

needed capital to cover their expenses. T'ne "Rising Sun" was put up for 

sale: arxi Yi..ichael bought it, thereby acquirin~ part. owner ship in the first 

of several sailing vessels . 

On April 3, 1769, William Trent borrowed LOO poun~s from Joseph Morris 

of Philadelphia, who took as security on the loa:; some J0 , 000 acres of ):ind 

that Trent bad r ece i ved as a r~sult of the Fort Stanwix Treaty. Dui· ing 

this same time, Ja.Jll8s Rumsey and Geor ge Morgan were acquiring land in 

Illinois for Ba,ynton, Whartor. and Morgan from the military land holdings 

comm.anded by Colonel John Wilkens "for range for cattle, and for tilling 

for gra in, as well as fo r other uses. 0 wilken 1 s was to receive one- sixth 

inter est in the lands . In the mea.."'l time, William Murray had sold much cf 

bis original supply of goods ; and, on lipril twenty- fourth, be requested 

more goods from Barnard and Michae 1 Gratz. Murr ay insisted tha~ no Indian 
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goods be included. The goods were to be used ir1 t rade wi th the white 

set tlers in the area. rtumsey and Morgan were being r uined because they 

had overs tocked on Indian goods, and the French traders at St. Genevieve 

and St Louis \-1ere determined to keep the I ndians away from the stores at 

Fort Chartres, Kaskaski2. and Cahokia. Murray suggested that the goods be 

insured, j ust in case the rumors of an Indian uprising came to pass . 'lhe 

opening of the west to settlers seemed ever more irraninent, and Murray also 

purchased a small plot of land to prepare for the day. 

The antic i pation grew even greater when, in May / 1769, Lord Hills­

borough wrote from Wh1 teha.11 that the king would accept the cessation of 

l ands made by t re Si x Nations at Fort Stamr:ix, but specific action on the 

I ndian grants to the traders was deferred to a later date. 'lhis announce­

ment spurred the colonial peti t ioners in England to even greater efforts. 

Benj amin Franklin continued t o use his persuasi ve influence to further the 

western cawe ; and William Trent, attomev for t he 1763 traders, in whose 

name t he St am"ix grant was given , arrived in London t o add his voi ce to 

the cr y for western land. In t he colonies, the announcement gave the fur 

traders, merchants and land 8 peculators new hope . George Crogha.'l and his 

associ ates ordered a second survey of the region south of the Mohawk River, 

in order to purchase an additfonal 100,000 acres of land (t he Otsego tr~ct). 

On June 20, 1769 , MicbaeJ Gratz married Miriam Simon, t he daughter 

of Joseph Simon of Lancaster. 'Ille Gratz and 3imon fami lies were now doubly 

cemented by marriage~ and their rela~ionships grew even more close.33 

On June 28, 1769, Willi8J!\ Murray wrote t o Bar nard to report on his 

first profits in Illinois . He sent a draft f or 2h0 pounds and estima.ted 
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that about 500 pow1ds were still outstanding. In short, Murray was able 

to realize a hundred percer.t profit on his first venture in the I l linois 

trade, s~nce he nad started out with about LOO pounds worth of goods (which 

he had originally rece jved on credit through Barnard' s Phil adelphia associ­

ates) . He needed more goods, which he had already ordered frOJ'll Barnard 

and Michael, and' he was concerned ~~at he had recei ved no word from t hem. 

He wrote again t he next day with further payments , and be reminded Barnard 

t o send him the goods before he set sail f or England. Murray's success 

in IlJ.inois gave George Morgan good cause for concern; and, on July sixteenth., 

he wrote from Ne'N Orleans that he was on his way home from Kaskaskia to 

report on the conditions of tre we stem trade. At the end of July, 

1·lichael replied t o Garret Pendergrass that Barnard left for England 

unexpectedly, but he did sell his skins befor e he embarked on his journey. 

t'ichael pajd off Pender grass 1 debt to Jeremiah Warder and secured a caveat 

against William Elliot for 300 acres of lanri at Bullock Pens, which he 

sent t o Pendergrass . 

There is no clear statement of the ourpose of Barnard's sudden voyage 

to London '!her e were ?robably several factors wh r h c~ntributed to his 

trir. Without doubt the resolutions against trade with Br itain had hurt 

Barnard and Michael Gr atz, as it had undermined the i.ncOJ'lles of most colonial 

merchants. Perhaps there was a desi re on the part of the Gratz br others 

t o work -with their London cormections and relatives to find some way out 

of thi s crippling dilemma. There had been one attempt in Jpril to sell. 

some British logwood which Solomon Henry had shipped to Barnard and Michael, 

but , as Michael said in his r eturn letter, mon~y was scarce in the colonies, 
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and it was difficult for Mathias Bush and J avid ?ranks t o pay t heir debts 

t o Henry. Certainly. both Michael and Barnard - and their associates in 

the western t r ade - were gravely concerned about the progress (or lack of 

progr ess) being made in London regarding their claiJns for western lands. 

I t see1'1s that Trent o.nd '.'1bart on, who wer e in London to represent the Indiana 

Company, had been working on their own behalf (on company ti.me and expenses) 

to secure another tract of land on the Ohio River. Barnard was to find 

out exactly wrat was going on and t o us~ his London connections to f urther 

the pr ogr am of the claimants of 1763 and 175L. In addi tion, he might be 

able to secure much needed supplies and goods for t rade in the Illinois 

reg i on. There ma,y even ha•c been personal reasons fo r bis voyage to London, 

hav_ng tD do with his family in Silesia , since Michael included a gift of 

money for his family in his Apr il letter to Solomon Henry - in spite of 

the fact that money was scarce in the coloni es. 

On Augus t 9, 1769, Michael wrote to Barnard in London . "Business 

here at pre sent i s very bad, 11 be r eported, "and little has been done since 

ycu left home . .. . '!here is not ten pounds worth of Indian goods to be had 

in this t01m . nJL Mr . Shipboy was i n Philadelphi a and would ha··e paid 3,000-

4,000 pounds sterling in cash for g oc>ds f or 3ir will iam Johnson - but none 

wer e to be had. No doubt, Croghan would want Indian goods when he returned 

to Philadelphia in September. And Willi am Murra,y and Joseph .Simon also 

needed goods f or trade in the west . Michael was particularly concerned 

abcut the rumor that Baynton, Wharton and Company bad been grAnted lands 

in the west . If this wer e true , there was even more urgency in obtaining 
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Indian goods as quickly as possible . Michael would be willing to borrow 

J00-400 pounds ster ling f rom Simon to purchase the needed cargo of goods . 

Goods were so s~arce in the colonies that Michael was able to ship only 

ten pieces of linen to Mackay at Pittsburgh - and he was reluctant even 

to do that, since prices were much higher in ~iladelphia . The following 

week (August bent y -first) , Kichael received wor d f rom M.M. Hays that he 

•iJas broke and had no funds with which to pay back his debt to Mtchael. 

Murray wrote again f r Oltl Illinois to report that his goods were selling 

well and that he needed more supplies - in spite of the fact that condi ­

tions in the area were unsettled at the moment. Ther e was some fear that 

the Seneca Indians might revolt, since they had not received their share 

Jf the purchase money frorrr the Stamdx Treaty. In addition, Rooert Callender 

was attacked by the Black Boys (fr ontier raiders) on the road to Fort Pitt 

near Bedford. He lost twenty- four hor se loads of Indian goods - about 

300 pounds worth of merchandise . Under the circumstances , Callender, Hart, 

and St. Clair and Limes were unable to pay their debts to the Gratz brother s. 

f>~ichael stated t wo fervent hopes in his August twenty- first l etter to 

Barnard in London - that he obtain Indian goods for the western trade and 

that the Acts be repealed soon. 

On September 1, 1769 , Vichael wrote to Willi.am Murray that goods 

intended for hilTI had arrived in Philadelphia on Sprout ' s boat , but David 

Franks demanded them and got them. As soon as more goods were available, 

they would be shipped to Murray in Illinois. The goods finally arri ved at 

Kaskaskia :tometime later that month; and, as might be expected ~ ~urray re­

ported that t hey vere not enough. Teas was especially needed - and sugar, 
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wine and liquor s . Murray was send ing home a dr aft for 235 pounds with 

Goe r ge Y.or gan 1 who was finally able to arrange passage on a northbound 

s hip f r om New Orleans . Y.urray r eported that among his customers were Robert 

Callender. Capta in Thompson, Thomas ~oker, Joseph Simon, Murphy, Burke, 

and David Franks The ~'estern t r•de was by far the brightes t out post of 

the far- flung business universe of Michael and Barnard Gratz. In September , 

the firm rece ived 12~ pounds .fr om Rober t Callender in part payment on his 

back bills and a bill from Murr ay for 2~L pounds against Levy and Franks 

to cover part of the debts he owed to the f i nn. Joseph Simon had continually 

given them close .financial support, and George Croghan was to arr i ve soon 

to pay his bills . On the other hand, Michael was forced to confr ont his 

A~lantic coast custo11W?rs face to face in order to get them to pay their 

bills - and he usually failed even at that. In spite of a trip t o New 

York, he was unable to collect any r.ioney f rom Hays or Hart. Many cf the 

merchants in the Atlantic colonies were beginning to chafe under the re­

str ictions of the boycott; some were even beginning to sell goods acquired 

after tm resol uti ons were passed. Jacob Polock returned from London in 

September with a large cargo of dry goods , which he was able to l and at 

Boston umnolested . l'.ichael r epeated hh fervent hope that t he Acts would 

be repeal~d soor.. 

Similar sent imtmts were co1.veyed t o Bar nard in a letter written to 

hiPl by Mathius Bush on November 7 , 1769 . " Trade in Al'llerica at present is 

very dull . 11 Money was extreJTe 1.y scarce, and the exchange rates were only 

L7~ to 50 percent. Woolens were very much in demand - as were many other 

corlllllodities being stored away because of the Non- Importation Resolutions. 
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John Ross, who had done business with Bush and the Gratz brothers, attempted 

to sr.eak in forty pipes of wine against the Acts. Someone informed on him, 

and ti"e wine was confiscated. When the colonial sailorr. discovered the 

informer, they tarred and feat~red him and paraded him through the streets 

of ?hiladelphia . James Thomson could give no account of 3 , 000 pounds he 

had borrowed, so the merchants had him arrested and placed in jail. I n 

addition. James James was in jail for debt. 

·.-:'hen t he ship 11 Du.chess of Gordnn11 arrived from London, it was clear 

that 11 tbings ir. England are in the greatest confusion. 11 The London mer-

chants were adversely affected by t he embargo on all British goods , and 

they were equally eager to find a solution to the conflict. Finally, the 

kjng himself was forced to acknowledge the problem. He reported the fol-

l owing in a speech before both houses of Parliament on January 9, 1770 : 

It is needless for me t o recominend to the .::erious 
cons i deration of my Parliament the state of rrrsr 
government in America . I have endeavored on my 
part, by every means, to bring back my subjects 
to their duty and to a due sense of lawful authori ty. 
It gives me mu.ch concern to inform you that the 
success of my endeavors has not answered my expecta­
tions and that, in some of my colonies, many persons 
have embar ked in measures highly unwarrantable and 
calculated to destroy the commercial connection be­
tween them and the mother country. 35 

A significant element in Britain's mercantilist designs f or the 

coloniez was the exploitation of the western frontier - but, in such a 

manner that i t did not detract from the trade with the Atlantic colonies 

and that British merchants rece ived the prof its from the fur trade and 

land sp?culation. In short, the same basic principle underlay her policies 

in the west as governed her dealings wi t h the established colonies along 
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the eastern seaboard. And they were railing there for ll!Uch the same 

reasons. Colonial settlers continued to pour into the regions beyond the 

Alleghenies; colonial tur traders cont inued to dominate the trade of the 

area: colonial merchants continued to inYest in plans to purchase huge 

tracts of western land f or s peculation and profi t; and colonial administra­

tors, ma~ of whom were sympathetic to these {:l"Ograms , round i t inlpossible 

to fight the cc.lonial merchants in addi t ion to t he French, the Indians and 

the rebellious frontiersmen. The pressure to accede to the demands of the 

colonial claimants to western land oontinued to grow in England. Even 

rembers of the Board of Trade and influential British merchants began 

t o lend their support to the program. A eignificant obstacle to this 

program was remared on December 27 , 1769, when the var ious colonial 

claimants met together at the Crown and Anchor Tavern in Landan and 

decided to merge their interests in a Grand Ohio Company. Samuel Wharton 

and William Trent vere present t o represent t he interests of the Indiana 

Company , as was Thomas Walpole, the administrator f or the promoters of 

t he Vandalia Company. 'Ihe interests of Barnard and Michael Gratz, Jlavid 

Franks and Joseph SiJnon were secured by the preser..ce of Naphtali Franks 

of London. Benjamin F'ranklin chaired the meeting, and he and Walpole were 

eventually appointed the administra tors of the program. 

The pl an of the cornpaey was to buy from the British govenment all 

of the l and contained wi thin the grant secured a t For t Stanwix fran the 

Iroquois Indians. The Indian traders of Pennsylvania and George Croghan, 

vho bad rec·:ived s eparate grants frorn the Six Nations, were t o be given 

the SUie grants of land b,r the Grand Ohio Coapany. Therefore, they were 
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to release their claims to land in the region circUJT1scribed by the Stanwi:x 

Treaty in favor of the Grand Ohio Company - whi ch they consented to do . 

Not included in this program were the various Virginia interests who were 

also petitioning for land in the west and who, in some instances, claimed 

tre very lands granted to tbe cr own by the Stanwix Treaty . These interests 

included the Ohi o Comoany of Virginia, the Mississippi Company and the 

representatives of the officers and soldiers of Virginia who had been 

promised land ey Governor Dinwiddie for their participation in the French 

and Indian War. Colonel George Mercer, agent .for the Ohio Company of 

Virginia. continued to push his claim i ndependently of the newly formed 

Grand Ohio Company, but he could make no progress whatsoever. On May 15, 

1770, Fr anklin Wharton, Pownall and Walpole s igned a compromise agreement 

with Mercer which admitted the Ohio Company of Virginia into the Indiana­

Vandalia combine . Early in t he spr ing of 1769 , Thomas Pownall wrote a 

most opt imistic letter to Sir william Johnson f rom London in which be 

described the formation of the Grand Ohio Company and outlined its pr oposals 

for a new government in the west. He indicated that ~he company had re­

ceived the backing of Lord Hillsborough and was about to petition th~ 

Counci l-ooard for "a charter of government." Following the expected 

approval of the Council-Board, the company would approach the Lords of 

Trade. Pownall proposed ~o use the charter of the Massachusetts Ba.y Com­

pany as his model, anrl he recommended the inclusi on of an Indian Department, 

which would regulate trade in the colony and cooperate ~·Jith t he military 

in the defense of t he area. 

On December 28, 1769, Michael was forced to deny Murray ' s request 
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for more goods - in spite of the fact that Murray was constantly returning 

a profit on their investment . There were just no goods to be had in 

Philadelphia. Murray's cause was aided by the unprincipled behavior of 

Goerge Mor gan , his chief competitor in Illinois . Re had the marvelous 

knack of antagoniz:L-,g the men upon whom he had to depend most. In January, 

1770, ex>nflict orupted once again over the i ssue of Campbell ' s debts . 

Colonel Wilken 1 s approved the sale cf Campbell ' s goods to pay his debts, 

but ~·organ was furious at tl"e idea and called the sale "unfair and illegal." 

He demanded that Rumsey protest Colonel Wilken 1s actions, thereby anger ing 

his most valuable business associa te. He even laLshed out against Dennis 

Croghan - a most danger ous venture . since Dennis Croghan was a favored 

nephew of George Croghan . 

In the mean t:iJne,, Geor ge Croghan was having his own troubles. 

Despite his magnetic personality and his tremend1ous success with the 

western Indians, he never seemed to oe able to eet out of debt. His credi­

tors -were hounding him for their payments, so that he WF s forced to sell 

the 9,0.50 acres of land he had acquired in the ~ohawk Valley . On March 1, 

1770, Croghan deeded over to Michael Gratz all title to these lands for 

which he received the sum of l , 8oo pounds in Newr Yor k curr ency. This was 

Michael 1 s first large adven ~ure in land; and, in the months ahead, he would 

devote himself to selling small tracts in order to realize a profit- on 

his investnent. 

In April, David Franks made some goods airailable to Michael for the 

western trade· and Michael illlmedia tely wrote to Y.urra.y to t ell him tba t 

goods worth 608 oounds in Philadelphia currency would be ship;>ed to him by 
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the earliest spring bateaux. Michael reported that John Cameron died, 

leaving 10, 000-1.21 000 pounds of debt outstanding . There was little likeli­

hood that Murray would ever receive any money for the goods he sold Can!eron. 

~Uchael had also refused to pay the claims of Callender and Ihompson against 

Murray until they could prove t heir account in court. If nothing more, 

this would certainly give Murray time to collect enough money to pay off 

the debt . In addit.i on, ~ichael was sending one Thomas McFee to Illinois 

to help ¥urray in his t rading enterpr i ses . 

On April 16, 1770, l~ichael ' s first child, SolO!llon, was born. The 

Lopez and Rivera faJ11i lies of Newport , Rhode I sland, bot h sent their con­

gratulations and the assurance that a new cargo of candles would be shipped 

soon to Philadel phia. 

By Y.a,.y, conditions in Illinois had reached their boiling point. 

James Rumsey severed his relations ~ith George Morgan and became a partner 

of William Murr ay. The decision was so sudden that Rumsey bad not ta.ken 

the time t o settle his accounts wi t h Morgan before he joined Murray . Horgan 

was furi ous and complained to the authorities. His hue and cry was so dis­

concertiJlS th2.t wilkens was forced to c omplain to Rwnsey about all the 

t r ouble Morgan was making. RUJ11sey a t tenpt.ed several overtures of peace 

and asked Morgan for his continued assistance in furs or money . Though it 

is not recorded, one can well ima&ine Morgan's outraged invective against 

this suggestion. 

On July" si.xt.h, Michael wrote to Barnard, who was still in London, 

regarding his activities in the colonies . Trade was v ery difficult, and 

111oney was growin g scarce. Daniel Wister was determined to cheat his creditors 
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and not pay his bills - a course of action much to the detriment of Moses 

Fr&nks in England and David Franks in Philadelphia. George Croghan also 

had not yet paid his debts , and Joseph Simon had gone up to see him at Fort 

Pitt . Clearly- , be was no longer pauperized, since Michael had given hiJll 

so much money for his Mohawk Valley lands. Michael had appointed Barnard 

and Moses Franks as his attorneys in London to sell the 9,050 acr es in 

upper New York, and he r eiterated again bis enthusiasm for t he pr oject . 

The l and was valuable land and sh~ld fetch a decent profit - some 2,QOO 

pounds sterling. The most significant part of his letter dealt with t he 

problems in t r ade created by the Non- Importation Resolutions . It was his 

fervent hope that the o~erous Acts of Par liament would be repealed; but, 

:h the event that they were not , Barnar d was encouraged to br ing home a 

cargo of canvas goods , linens and Indian goods - only be was not to ship 

thP goods to Philadelphia . Ille merchants of both Philadelphia and New 

York were determined tv enforce the boycott against trade with England. 

However . i t m)ght be possible to bring the goods into the colonies through 

Maryland, where enforcement of the regulations was somewhat lax. 

I find Lhis place is determined on not import ing, 
and it is really dange!"rus to attempt any t:.'Uch thing. 
There was one Captain Spencer, f r om Scotland, who had 
goods for New York and trd.8 place which they would 
not suffer to be touched in either place , but they 
were r eshipped to s~otland or England, which was done 
from New York and here. Though the persons that had 
the goods on hand, have made the attempt to l.Jri.ng them 
up in shallops from Lewistown and doom the river, it 
was f ound out and they were very glad to deliver them 
up to the Col'TIJTli.ttee. Else their houses , goods and t heir 
lives would have been in danger, on which t hey were 
obliged to make great acknowledgements to the Inhabi­
t ant s and make themselves cut liars •.•• •• • • t o all of 
which there are narnes signed at the Coffee House now. 
So i t is really dangerous ihat way . But to Baltimore, 
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Maryland, I will do as agreed on all the goods 
above mentioned. which i s the Indian goods. So 
I hope you will not remain long in England if the 
Acts 3.re n::>t repealed and nothing advantageous of­
fers ther e.36 

On October 3, 1770, Barnard was still in London, having little 

success either with his efforts to promote the opening of western lands 

for settlement or with the more particular task of selling Croghan ' s .Mohawk 

lands . He began t.o prepare for his return to America and appointed Willia.111 

Ererton of U:mdon as his London agent to sell the 9 , OSO acres in Albany 

County . Moses Franks, who also had power of attorney with Barnard, was 

to assist Emerton. Later that month, Barnard rece ived farewell wishes 

from Andreas Henry of Exon , England, (probably a cousin of Solomon Henry) 

with the encouragement tha t the American colonies were "not to give up their 

freedom and became like the Irish." It was his hope, and the hope of a 

great many English merchants, that the mainland colonies would soon come 

to their eenses and restore stabi~.ity to the trade rel.;. tions between the 

motherland and her dependents .37 

In the 112anti.rne , George Washington had deci ded to take matters into 

his own bands. Dissatis.tied with the progress being made in London and 

unsure of George Mercer 1 s efforts on be~.alf of the Virginia interests, 

Washington began to organize his own push westward. As early as April 15 , 

1770, he had indicated his opposit i on to the Walpol e Grant , claiming that 

the territory encompassed by the grant had been promised to the soldiers 

of the French and Indian War under the proclamation of Governor Dinwiddie. 

In a letter to Lord Bout.etourt , Governor of Virginia , be wrote: 
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Being fully persuaded of your Excellency's inclination 
to render every just and reasonable service to the 
peo?l e you govern, or to any body or society ~f them, 
that shall a sk it, and being encouraged in a more 
particular lllllnner by a letter, which I have just re­
ceived from Mr. Blair, clerk of the Council, to 
believe, that your Lordship is desirous of being 
fully in.formed how far the grant of land solicited 
by Mr. Walpole and others will affect the interest 
of this country in general, or individuals in 
particular. I shall take the liberty, as I am 
pretty iatirnately acquainted with the situation 
of the f r ontiers of this dol'lli.nion, to inform your 
Lordship, that tm bounds of that grant, if ob-
tained upon the extensive plan proposed, will com­
prehend at least four fifths of the land, f or the 
purchase and survey of which this government has 
lately voted tvo thousand. five hundred pounds 
sterling. It must, therefore, destroy tbe well 
grounded hopes of those, if no reservation is 
made in their favor, who have had the strongest 
assurances , that the government could give, of 
enjoying a certain portion of the lands , which 
have cost tgi.s country so much blood and treasure 
to secure.3 

And when he discovered t'~at ~ercer had s old out bis Virginia patrons and 

delivered over to the Grand Ohio Company their claims for the western lands, 

he was furi ous. On October 8, 1770 , he set out from Mount Vernon to tour 

the western reaches of the Ohio in order to establish support for his 

f r ontier ventures. His first stop wa s Fort Pitt, where he dined with 

George Croghan. Both r.en bad much in common, and Crogban ' s early experiences 

with the Virginia planters probably created a certain sympathy for Washington 1s 

cause. Croghan and Washington decided to t r avel together down the Ohio , 

accompanied by Valentine Crawford, Lieut. Janes Hamilton and a Mr. 11Magee" 

(who was probably Willi am McKee ) . They journeyed together as far as Logs-

town, where Croghan and his co!!IJ>mlY separated from washington and Crawford 

to continue thei r trip into the Illinoi s territory. Washington returned 
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to Fort Pitt . On November twenty- second, he di ned with Dr . John Connolly , 

a nephew of George Croghan, who was al so interested in developing new 

settlei11ents in the ~est. Five days later, Washington arri ved at Old Town, 

where he had arranged a meeting with Colonel Thomas Cresap, who had just 

r e turned from London. Washington was able to discover the latest develop­

ments in the Walpol e-Indiana pr ogr am and to enlist Cresap 1 s aid in the 

advancemrnt of the Virginia cause. After nine weeks of travel , Washington 

r eturned to his Mount Vernon estate, secure in the knowledge that Pennsyl­

vania interests would not acquire lands along the Ohio without a s t ruggle . 

John Connolly may have set the theme for this struggle when he exclaimed 

that "the magistrates of Pennsylvania usurped a power of jurisdiction 

that .1as not only illegal but extremely prejudicial to the inhabitants" 

(i.e . , the Virginia inhabitants of the western f r ontier s ) )9 

Tbroughcnt the month of DecemberJ negotiations continued for a final 

settlell'.ent of Michael's share in t he ship "Rising SUn ," which was now re­

t urning from her long journey to Amsterdazn, Teneriffe and tha West Indies . 

The difficulties arose from the fact that Hays and Polock wer e deeply in 

debt and unable to extr icate themselves. UltiJ!lately, their credi tor s were 

forced to have them arrested and jailec for t he non- payment of their bills. 

Their plan was to impound the "Ri sing Sun" and its cargo to help defray 

the debts accumuated by the Newport firm , and th~y were understandably 

hesitant to r ecognize Michael's claim to half owner ship in the vessel . 

When the boat finally arrived in New York harbor early in January , i t was 

taken into custody, and its cargo was confiscated. However, Michael 

cl.a.:iJMd first c.nersbip (i. e., ownership of the first half of the vessel ) , 

and Robert C. Livingson was eventually .:'or ced to gi ve hiJ!I title to t he ship 

and its cargo. 
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On January 26 , 1771, James Rumsey wrote to Barnard and Michael from 

Fort Chartres to report to conditions in Illinois. (\villiam Murray had 

returned to Fort Pitt in very ill health, and Rumsey was left in charge 

of their western ventures.) His report was most encou raging . He had 

alread_v sold most of the goocis which had been sent to Illinois with Thomas 

McFee, and ne renitted 640 pounds towards bis account . Rumsey was tending 

to two or three stor es at this juncture and developing a most lucrative 

trade . George Morgan was still a source of some competition, but Rumsey 

bragged that he had reduced him ("our common enemy") beyond recovery. 

~t.on, Whart on and Morgan were losing in this str uggle to capture the 

Illinois trade, and eventually they would have to disengage themselves 

c Jmple te)y. Rumsey did discuss one problem - Thomas YicFee. Rumsey called 

him a "scoundrel" for his unscrupulous dealings with the Indians . Having 

been introduced to the area by Murray and Rumsey, Mcfee proceeded to sell 

to tl'e Indians quantities of rum and sugar - but not one article from the 

stores of his ~nefactors. Rumsey ouickly pa.id him off and sent him on 

his way, whereupon McFee t hreatened to sue Rumsey and vilified him un­

mercifully - 11as only George Morgan could have done. 11 RuritSey recommended 

t hat Barnard and Michael prosecute the mar. and out him away fer good. 

Shortly thereafter, rtUJ11sey was able to convey good news again to his 

Philadelphia partners. Colonel wYilk:a.;1s, in canmand of the forces in Illinois, 

had contracted Murray and rtumsey to supply fresh meat to the troops stationed 

a t Fort Chartres, Kaskaskia and Cahokia on a weekly basis. 

George Washington was probably aware of tre success of Murray and 

RUJT1sey 1 s venture in !ll;nois tru.~ough his conversations with George Croghan 
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and the V:l.rginia frontiers11ten, and he was no doubt concerned with the grow-

ing influence of the Pennsylvania interests in this region . He still 

vociferously opposed the Vandalia Grant, the efforts of the Grand Ohio 

Company and any tendencies on the part of the colonial administrators to 

concede t" the claims of the middle and northern colonies for title to 

land west of the Alleg~nies. By n~N his personal influence was great in 

Virginia, and he was supoorted in his endeavors by other Virginians of equal 

infl. uence . Lord Dunmore the Governor of Virginia, under pressure from 

tt2se affluent and prestigcns sources, wisely chose to join their struggle 

ago.inst the north and began t.o assign military land grants to the officers 

and soldiers of th!! Seven Years' War. 'ft.ese military grants, once made, 

took precedence over all other claims . In addition, Lord Dunmore 1s support 

gave a much needed iJllpetus to the efforts of the Ohio, Greenbrier and 

Loyal Companies, all of whom began once again to plan their occupation of 

the fertile wtst. They were aided in their endeavors by the lawlessness 

of the Virginia frontier settlers , who refused to accede to acy- colonial 

injunction which might remove ttem from land which they clai.ITed to be their 

own by right of settlement and Virginia law. William Crawford , Washington's 

western surveyor, wrote of this lawlessness with admiration when, on August 

9, 1771, he rerorted the fallowing in a letter to Ja1:1es '!bil.Jnan: 

I understand by Capta:in John Haden, the bearer 
of this , that there is an agreement entered into 
by a nUJ11ber of the inhabitants of Monongahela 
and Redstone, who have entered into a bond or 
article of a.~ agreement that each man w.l.11 join, 
to keep off all officers belonging to the law, 
and, under the penalty of fifty - four [1754), 
[their land is) to be forfeited by the party 
refuaµig to join against all officer s whatso­
ever. LO 
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Meanwhile, t radP. along the coast and with the ~est Indies was 

still undergoing great difficulties. Archibald Mer ced drew 200 pounds in 

Philadelphia currency against Michael in favor of Jacobus Lefferts; and 

he apologized, stating that the draft was due to the "hard times" he was 

facing. However, ~erced was able to sell seven boxes of glass for Michael, 

which brought in a smal l profit. Marnel Josephson wr ote to Michael from 

Jl:ew York on July l , 1771, to complain about one Levi 1".arks, who had just 

swindled him and absconded t o Philadelphia with his goods. In July, 

~ichael was able to make a sizeable commission by selling the sugar con­

signed to him by SaJT1son and Solomon Simson of New York. The total account 

came to 746 pounds, f r om which he was forced to draw 150 pounds almost 

immediately to pay Messrs. Mercer and Burling . Michael bad shipped a con­

signment of beef to Jamaica, and, in August, he received word from Moses 

Adolphus that the beef ~as sold. In r eturn, Adolphus shipped him t wo small 

cargoes of pewter , copper and brass - one of which was worth !:inly dLCJ . 

This , then , was the trend of coastal t r ade: goods were scarce, and one 

was willing to settle for a smaH cargo and a snall profit - ,just to keep 

going. Afte::- all, many merchants were going bankrupt under the system! 

In September, Joseph Simon wrote to flichael .i'rom Lancaster, telling 

him of several shiµnents of furs soon to be sent to Philadelphia. Geor ge 

Shank was to deliver two chests of fur s which were to be kept in store for 

James Milligan. Michael was to sell the furs belonging to Simon, Milligan 

and McClure and to give Milligan the money when he ca.me for the furs . 

Michael was also to sell t he furs from Elliot and Callender, who had con­

signed them to Simon and expected his accounting of t hem within the month. 
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In October, Michael wrote to William 1"tllrray, who had since returned to 

Illinoi.3 , indicating his concern over Murray 1 s purchase of the remaining 

stock in Baynton, Wharton and Morgan 's trading stations in Illinois . The 

plan was to buy them out completely and thereby r i d the region of Morgan 's 

competition; but the price was t oo good, and Michael was worried that the 

goods were da.J!\aged and unable to be sold. Baynton, Wharton and Morgan ' s 

note came due next month; and, if t hey conld not meet their obligation on 

it, they might well have been the ones eliminated from competition in the 

west. However , Michael did give his consent to the "Tenture, and bis con­

cern was somewhat mollified by t he fact that Rmnsey reported a 5,000 pound 

retu-n on their investment to date. Davi d Franks had also seen Rumsey 1s 

report, and he was willing t o invest even more heavily in the pr ogram. 

He ordered Michael to ship to Murray a cargo of rum, spirits, sugar, tea, 

coffee and other staple goods , which he was in the process of gathering 

together. 

I t was about this time that Barnard ret urned frClll England. It is 

not clear whether he r e turned with a cargo of goods or not, but ~ne of 

the first letters he wrote after his arrival seems t o have been a complaint 

to Jacob Barrett of London about t he quality of the goods shipped through 

his counting house . In March, 1772 , Captain Francis Murphy arrived in 

New Orleani: with a car go of British goods, which were consi gned to him 

by Barnard and Michael Gratz, and it is quite possible that these were 

some of the goods brought over f r om London by Barnard. New Orleans was 

not bound by the Non-Importation Resolutions of the Atlantic colonies, 

and a colonial merchant could easily import forbidden cargo through its 
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port. Unfortunately, Captain Murphy was forced to report tl'B t the market 

for English goods was flooded ("all kinds of English goods are so plenty"), 

since fi"le or six vessels had arrived in New Orlea:.is with similar intentions 

just previous to the arrival of his ship. Furthermore, there was no pro-

duce available. A French vessel had juat bought up the entjre mrket, 

and the season was now ewer. Murphy decided to remain in Nev Orleans to 

find some my of dioposing of the cargo. 

On April twenty-seventh, Barnard and Michael sent an elated letter 

of congratulations to George Croghan "on the good news of the chartered 

goverrunent being settled.u Unfortunately, the rumor was soon to be proved 

false . Barnard and Mi chael were unaware of events taking place even then 

in London, for just two weeks earlier (April 15 , 1772) Lord Hillsborough 

had enunciated once again the opposition of the Board of Trade to the 

establishment of further colonies west of the Alleghenies . In his report 

to tbe king's Cou.lcil, he recommended that the following policy be estab-

lished with reference to western settlenent: 

Upon the whole, therefore, we cannot recommend to 
your lordships to advise his majesty to comply 
with the prayer of this memorial [e.g., the petition 
drawn up by Franklin, Walpole, Sargent and Wb.artonj 
either as to the erection of any parts of the lands 
into a separate gcwern"!ent or the making of a grant 
of them to the memorialists . But, on the contrary, 
we are of the opinion that settlements in that 
distant part of the cotmtry should be as much dis­
couraged as poss:i.ble and that, in order thereto, it 
will be expedient, not only that the orders which 
have been given to the Governor of Virginia not to 
make any further grants beyond tre line prescribed 
by the Proclamation of 1763 should be continued and 
enforced, but that another Proclamation should be 
issued, declaratory of his majesty's resolution not to 
allow for the present, any new settlement beyond that 
line and to forbid all persons from taking up or_ 
settling a!'\Y lands in that part of the country.41 
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Lord Hillsborough's report was t~ strongest denunciation of the 

western movement yet published. If his recommendations went unchallenged, 

the colonial cause in the west would be decisively thwarted - if not 

completely destroyed. Benjamin Franklin rose to the occasion; and, on 

July 1, 1772, he issued a scathing analysis of the "principle of policy" 

t hat no western settlements should be permitted, which exposed its pre-

post~rous nature so clearly that Lord Hillsborough was not only overruled 

but publicly discredited. 

In short, the Lords Commissioners admit upon 
their own Principles that it is a political and 
advantageous intercourse with this Kingdom when 
the settleJ"rents and settlers are confined to the 
Eastern side of the Allegheny Mountains. Shall 
then the expense of carriage even of the very 
~oarsest and heaviest cloths or other articles 
f rom the Mountains to the Ohio , only about seven~ 
miles, and which will not at most increase the 
price of carriage above a halfpenny a yard, con­
vert the trade and connection with the settlers on 
the Oh::..o into a predicament, "that shall be" as 
the Lords Commissioners bave said, "out of all 
advantageous intercourse with this Kingdom?'' 

•••• But even admitting that it might formerly 
have been a question of some propriety whether tbe 
country should be pennitted to be settled, that 
cannot sure].y become a subject of inquiry now when 
i t is an o.bYioua and certain truth that at least 
thirty thousand British subjects are alread,y settlec;i 
tlere. Is it fit to leave such a body of people law­
less and ungoverned? Will sound policy recol!IJllend this 
manner of colohi7.tng and increasing the wealth, strength 
and commerce of tle-Eltpire? Or will it point out that it 
i s the indispensabl~ duty of the Goverrunent to render 
bad subjects useful subjects, and for that purpose, 
illllllediately to establish law and subordination among 
them and thereby early confirnt their native att.ach-
ment to the laws, traffic and customs of this Kingdom? 

On the whole we presume that we have, both by facts 
and aound argummt, shown that the opinion of tM Lords 
Commissioners for Trade and Plantations on the objed. in 
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question is not well founded, and that if tbeir 
Lordships 1 opinion should be adopted, i t would be 
attended with the 111ost mischievous and dangerous 
consequences to tlE CoJllll1erce , Peace and Safety of 
His Majesty's Colonies in America.42 

While events were running their erratic course in England, things 

seemed to be moving T11Uch mor e s moothly for the Gratz brotWn-s in the 

colonies. James Rwnsey met with Captain Murpey ill New Orleans in May on 

his way to Philadelphia to r eport on the progress being made :in Illinois . 

Mu.rplzy gave hirn a full description of the ~ale of his goods in New Orleans 

and included a new order for leat her goods, trunla!J, tin kettles, stag-

handled knives and ammunition. August to March was the season for dry 

goods: "the rest of the year is very dull." Mur phy also planned to meet 

w' th Colonel Wilkins, who had been relieved of his OOIT1JT\and in Illinois and 

was to t r avel to New York to answer charges being brought against hiln. 

His successor was to be Captain Lord (who did not arrive until 1773) . The 

report which Rumsey conveyed to Barnard and Micha.el and to David Franks 

was extremely satisfying and indicated a considerable return on their in-

vestment. Ru.~sey was directed to return to Illinois, and four wagon- loads 

of goods were prepared for his return journey . In addition , several other 

wagon-loads of goods were being s hipped .ii··ectly to Carlisle with Morton:s 

wagons. Accompanying Rumsey on bis return would be a new clerk, a smi"Gh 

and a distiller, hired by David Frank.; for the western colony . Franks had 

sent 72L pounds worth of goods with Rumsey; and, in addition to their own 

allotment of goods, Barnard and Xichael included 95 pounds worth of jewelry 

to be sold on the account of their children - Rachel, Solomon and P'rances. 

The BaynU>n, Whar ton and Morgan affair seemed to be progressing nicely, 
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and the entire case aga inst them would be completed soon. 

By July 20, 1772 , conditions had come to a head i.n England The 

Privy Council had overruled Lord Hillsborough 1 s report and decided in 

favor of tl'e petition of Franklin, Wharton, Walpole and Sargent, which 

decision they passed on to the king. iilliam Hanna, who was in London at 

t he ti.me, described the popular reaction as follows: "This is looked upon 

here as a most extraordinary matter, and what no American ever accomplished 

before. nL3 On August el~venth and, again, on August fourteenth, proclamations 

were issued through the Pl-ivy Council, by the king 1 s consent, authorizing 

the establishment of "a separate government" within the tract of land ceded 

t o t he cr own under the cond i tions of the Stanwix Treaty. The land was to 

be deeded to the associates of the Grand Ohio Company upon the payment of 

10 , !:6o pounds sterling, "being the whole of the money paid by government 

for all of the lands purchased of the Six Nations at Fort St.anwix." In 

addition, the administrators of the new governJ!lent were to provide the 

crown with a ouit-rent of two shillings for every t wo hundred acres of 

cult i vatable land. The settler s already in the region were to retain t heir 

land; and the r i ghts of these settlers , the Indian boundaries and all other 

safeguards were to be preserved. Lord Hillsborough resigned; a.id the Earl 

of Dart:mrutb, De puty - Governor of Pennsylvania, vas appointee t o succeed him. 

The following is a Gigest of the of fic i al report of the order of 

the king 's Council of August 11, 1772, overruling Lord Hillsborough in 

favor of the estabJ ishment of a new colony on the Ohio . It is interesting 

to note that t he Council made use of each o.f too points raised in Franklin 1 s 

rebuttal. of tihe oolicy recOJ!IJ'l\ended by tfillsborougb and the Board of Trade. 
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The Lords of Committee, in obedience to the 
king's order of reference, reported : 

First , that the lands ill question have been 
for some time past and now are in an actual state 
of settling, numbers of families to a very considerable 
amount. removing thither continually from Your 
Majesty ' s other Colonies . 

Second, that the lands in question do not lie 
beyond the reach of advantageous intercourse with 
this Kingdom, it appearing from diverse policies 
of insurance laid before this Committee that sundry 
commodities, the produce cf those lands are exported 
from then~e to a considerable amount and evidence having 
been likewise produced of a person being employed t o 
collect and ship from hence a cargo of British merchan­
dise for the use and consumption of the said settJers 
and the natives • • •• 

And lastly, tre Lords of Committee are of opinion, 
to tm end that tre several persons actually settled 
or that may hereafter settle on the lands in question, 
may be more proper ly and quietly governed, that the 
said settlement and distr ict should be erected into a 
separate government j.n such form and manner as to your 
~ajesty's wisdom shall s~em meet, and under such other 
restrictio~J and regulati ons as tPe Lords Commissioners 
f or Trade and Plantations shall advise. 

His Majesty, t aking the said report into col"'..sideration, 
was pleased with the advice of his Privy Council to 
approve of what was trerein proposed, and accordi ngly to 
give the nessary directions to the Lor ds Commissioners 
for Trade and Plantations for carrying the same into 
execution. And His Y.ajesty is hereby pleased to order 
that the Right Honorable, tre Earl of Dartmouth, one 
of His Majesty's pr incipal Secretaries of State, co 
receive His Majesty ' s pleasure for directing His 
Majesty's 3uperintendent for Indian Affairs to apprise 
the chiefs of the Six ilations and their Confederates of 
His Majesty 1 s intention to form a se ttlement upon the 
lands purchased of them by His Majesty in 1768. L1 

Late in July, Barnard and ~ichael received word f r om McKee and 

Ross a t Fort Pitt that they were in such financial difficulties that they 

might have to close tl'£ir st.ore at tre fort . They drew on Barnard and 
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Y.ichael for 300 pounds in favor of John Ross to pay off their debt to 

YJr . Dunbar. In addition, they sent them their furs and asked for an account ­

ing as ouickly as possible, since they "--ere sorely pressed ior money . 

John Galoraith re?Orted that he bad sold 1 , 000 pounds worth of goods at 

Carlisle - which should br ing a tidy profit into the coffers of the 

Philadelphia combine . Aeneas Mackay wrote in August to register his com­

plaints. The goods that he had received from Barnard and Michael were 

damaged and incomplete. He needed 200 pou."lds of good, hard soap and 200 

pounds of loaf sugar , and he rad just l ost a sal e of Madeira wine to 

M'sieur de Bernier . ../hat he was r e ally angry about was the l oss of bis 

Negro 11wench . 11 Mackay had left a Neg;.res3 with Levi Andrew Levy in Lancaster 

to be forwarded t.o him at Fort Pitt . The woman did not arrive as scheduled, 

and he was a~cusing Levy of keeping the wench as collateral on pB3111ents 

long over due to Joseph Simon . Barnard and Michael wer e asked to secure 

t he woman and r eturn her to ~ackay , her r ightful owner. Yichae l seems to 

have inquired into the questi on: and, in October, he rece ived ~ord from 

3imon that t he Negress had married Mr. Barton ' s Negro . She refuser' to 

leave Lancaster; .9ogall and Morton r efused to take her : and Simon refused 

to coerce her. He included in his letter sever al bills , which he hoped 

that Mic hael would pay as s oon as possible - William and Richard Butler ' s 

bond to Ross ;md McKee for l.52 pounds, payable July 1 1 1773; and Ross and 

McKee Is bond T.O S:L-non and Company for 303 pounds, payable April a, 1773. 

Re also asked that Mic ha.el pay william Henry , Simon 1 s partner, the twenty 

pounds th3.t they owed him and t b:l.t be render account for J ohn Ca.mpbell 's 

furs, so that Simon CO\lld p<q him. 
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I t was in September that the g ood news concerning the king ' s 

accept.ance of the Franklin- Walpole plan for the establisment of a new 

colocy in I ndiana arrived f rom London. Barnard was in New York at the 

time and realrl i t directly, while Michael rece ived the rews in a Jetter from 

Governor lr1illiam Franklin Franklin bad been negotiating with George 

Croghan concerning the land owned by the Burlington Company . Croghan wanted 

to buy the land and was willing to put his other properties up for sale. 

The total cos t was to be 2,900 pounds, of which 1,000 pounds woulci come 

from the sal e of his PhHadelphia property a.rd t~ remainder f rom the 

recei pts af his Ot sego tract . In addition, revenue f'rom the Otsego tract 

would p~v off the mortgage 011 that tract held by Thomas Wharton and his 

as s oc• at es . Michael and Barnard were to act as his agents in the sale of 

both properties. William Franklin planned to arri ve in Philadelphia early 

in October t o discuss the settlement wi th the Gratz brot hers and to see 

how the sale of Croghan 1 s ...?states were progress ing. Unfortunately, the 

property did not sell ~uickly . Money was scarce in both the colonies and 

England, and few mer chants "Were willing to 5'peculat e in land dur Lig this 

per i od of c r isis. Shortly after he returned from Carlisle, Barnard was 

forced t o leave Philadelphia again t o t r y to stimulate interest in Croghan ' s 

land - and this time it was in his cwn interest as we~ since the Mohawk 

Valley t r act was not selli ng eitrer. 

The following advertisement a ppeared in Albany, New York, on May 

26, .J..773 :45 

TO BE SOLD, The following larxis, situat e , Js"ing 
and being on the south side cf the Mohawk ' s River 
in the county of Tryon, viz: 
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One tract contain i ng Nine Th.:iusand, Four Hundred 
and Fifty Acres of very fine land, adjoining to the 
well known settlement of Cherry Valley, between the 
Adaquinctinga Creek, or Branch of the Susquehannah 
Ri ver, and the main stream thereof, reing part of 
the towns hip of Belvidere, through which a branch 
os Schennevesses Creek and that branch of the 
Susoueh'innah River col!'.monly called Cherry Valley 
Creek, both run and make cons ider able quantities 
of low or interval lands. And also sundry other 
tracts of very fine lands . containing about Twenty­
Sive Thousand Acres , adjoining Lake Otsego, - which 
i s but eight miles from a large Ge:nnan se t tlement 
on the Mohaw River, - being part of a 'lract of One 
Hundred Thousand Acres of Land granted to George 
Croghan, Esquire, and others. For Terms of Sal e, 
a pply to too Subscriber, who will attend at Kinderhook 
at the House of Mr . Joseph Simons from the first of 
June till the seventh; f rom the ninth till the 
fourteent!l, at Mr. Tites in Johnstown , County of 
Tryon; from the f ifteenth to the twenty- first, at 
Widow Vernon ' s in Alban,y; from t he twenty-second to the 
twenty- ninth, at t he Hou;e of Mr. Robert Clench in 
Schenectady, where Purchasers may treat wi th him for 
any quantity of said lands, f or which an indisputable 
title vill be given by the Subscriber. 

Barnard Gratz 

One montL earlier, on April 3, 1773, the three- year partner ship of 

David Franks, James Rumsey, Barna.rd and Michael Gratz, Alexander Ross and 

Wil liam Murray was dissolv ed, 11aJ.l of the parties being desirous to have 

the s ame i::losed as soon as poss i ble . " William :Murray was given power of 

attorney to settle al l of t he account s of their busi ness and to close 

their store in Illinois . This was not an unusual or u.."lexpe cted occurance ! 

and i t did not impl y the reJT1oval of Davi d Franks or the Gratz brotrers 

from trade i n Illinoi s or evP.n f rom continued business relations with 

Murray and RUJ1tsey. The partnership of David Franks and Company was 

established for a specific period of ti.me - three years in tbis case - at 

vhich time the partnership arrangements would be reconsidered once again. 
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profitable to run their business in Illinois on their own without the co-

sponsorship of Franks and the Gratzes. Certainly they would continue to 

buy thei r oroducts from their Philadelphia compatriots, but the r elation-

ship woulc be one of custoner and creditor rather than equal partners . 

On M.a..v fifteenth, having completed his audit of their accounts, Rwnsey 

admitted a debt of 10.6)u livres , l u sols , in French money to David Franks 

and Ccm!pa~ . which he hoped to repay from the flour and other provisions 

supplied to the garrisons of the king's troops in Illinois , 

On Y.ay 6, 1773, Lord Dartmouth, Soame Jennings, Bamber Gascoyne, 

w. Jolliffe and Lor d Garlies signed a report in accordance with the 

kinb 's Order of Council of August h, 1772, concerning the grant to Franklin, 

Walpole and treir associates, in which t.hey recommend: 

that the lands comprehended wi thin the f ollowing 
boundaries be s~parated from the colony of Virginia 
and erected by letters patent under t he great seal 
cf Great Britain ngto a distinct colony under the 
name of Vandalia . 

The report went on to discuss a canplete plan of government, with a 

governor and a council of twelve appoin ted by the crown , a 1ouse of Repre-

sentatives elected by the fr'eeholders, and ~ ther such features of what in 

England was considered a very liberal colonial government, including the 

provision that "the aacred rites and cc.remonies of divine worship accor ding 

tt' th! liturgy of the Church established by the laws of England shall be 

deemed tl:e fixed form of worship in this colony ." Included in one of the 

last c:lauses of the report was the stipulation that the rights of the 

sufferers of the Pontiac uprising, as recorded in tne grant made to them 
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at Fort Stanldx, should be confirmed to them, with the boundaries of 

"Indiana" defined as in the original grant at Fort Stanwix. The long 

struggle had ended in victory for the promoters of west ern expansion, and 

the 11real sufferers" of 175L and 1763 were abl e to continue their plans 

for the develoanent and settlement of the interi or. George Washington and 

his Virginia associates opoosed the new colony with vigor a!ld began to 

marshal! their forces for 3.Il all-out attack on the program. As a first 

step, Washington journeyed with Lord Dunmore throughout the western frontier 

to provice him with a f irsthand awareness of the potential resources of 

t.be west for Virginia. 

On May fifteenth , Willi am Murra,y wrote to 3arnard and Michael 

from Fort Pitt to indicate that t he details of tl:e new col ony were qui ckly 

w _•king into shape . George Croghan reported that William Trent was to 

arrive a t any moment and th.at the new go•ernor woold arri ve wi thin the 

mont h. Croghan was empowered by the proprietors to grant l and, build 

houses, subdivide tracts and, in general, start the pr ocess of settl e-

ment on i ts way. The first tract was t o be located about twelv e and three­

quarter miles outs).de the current Pennsylvania border . Croghan had received 

confirmation of the Indian titles from bot h Lord Camden and Lord York. 

I n addition, Crogan indicated that the Bd'.ish considered the Illinois 

territory t.o be of strategic importance (" the master-key t o Ccnada 11 ) and 

were planning to sta tion a battalion ;,f troops in the area. This would 

he most. encouraging news to the new settlers who were well aware of the 

ever- present danger of an Indian uprising. 

At tM conclusion of his l etter, Murray reported that Thomas Minshall, 
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Robert. Callender, William Thompson and John Callender had joined w 1th 

Murray and the Gratz brothers in a new "Land Affair . 11 This brought the 

total number of persons jointl;r concerned in this venture to twenty- two 

shareholders. What was in t he offing was the formation of an Illinois 

Compaey t o purchase land v i thin the new government. tor speculation and 

settlement. AJ'llong the original shareholders in this enterprise were Yid 

Franks; his son, Moees Franks : his brother and nephew respective ly, Moses 

and Jacob Franks of London· Willia.Jll PaJllilton, a close business associat e 

of David Franksj Joseph Simon: Levi Andrew Levy: John Campbell, Si.l!lon's 

partoer at Fort Pitt; Barnard and ~fichael Gratz ; their Illinois compatriot, 

Will18ln Yurr<A3'; and James Rumsey . In short, David Pranks and Company was 

in c-~ration again, under a new name and with respe ct to a new business 

venture. William Murra,y was appointed the western agent for the new con­

cern and charged with the responsibili ty of negotiating a treaty for the 

land with the Illinois Indians • 

.Murray was consigned a huge load of supplies and Indian goods for 

bis return t o IlHnois. Part of the goods were to be used for the normal 

trade in that r egion, but the great majority of them were to be used as 

barter to 007 land tram the Indians. Ten hot tmen were hired in Philadelphia 

to transport tt.e goods down the Ohio into Illinois - but only three appeared 

at Fort Pitt. This see111s to have been ;.he only signifi cant obstacle to 

the venture (and it was auicklJr overcot'lle by hiring additional boatmen from 

&Jftong the frcmtiersmen at the fort ) , for, by July $, 1773 , Murr a.y had 

succeeded in his negotiations wit h the Indians. In exchange for five 

shillings cash and '37 ,000 worth of Indian goods, Murr~ was able to pur­

chase t wo huge tracts of land . The first grant included the lower triangle 
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of land between t re Mississippi River and the mouth of the Ohio River; the 

second comprised an enormous wedge of land between the Mississippi River 

and the Illinois River, extending northward to Cbecagow (Chicago) or 

Garlick Creek. This treaty of July fifth provided Willia?ll Murray and his 

associates with control of the portage from the Mississippi River to 

Lake Michigan, which was to become the most significant river highway be­

tween the Mississippi and tbe Great Lakes and Canada. In addi t i on, their 

first grant under this treaty allowed them to dominate traffic on the 

lower Ohio River and in the Mississippi Valley. This was the ver y section 

of ~d that George Washington and the members of the Mississippi Company 

had tried to acquire in 176). 

0ur~'7lg this period, Barnard received several significant letters 

from Hichael which described the various other enterprises in which they 

were engaged. Barnard was advised to procure cccoa and cotton from Isaac 

Adolpbns or the SimsCTis , since cotton prices were inordinately high in 

Philadelphia. Nonetheless, the western trade seemed to dominate their 

concern. John Henry was on his way to settle at Fort Detroit. If Barnard 

had not already sold the rifles of Simon and Henry, he was to deliver them 

over to Jotm Henry for the Detroit market. In addition, Henry was to pro­

vide another source for trade and information in that northern region. 

Myer Hart shipped a cargo of peltry to Barnard, and he asked hill'I to inter­

cede on bi~ behalf with William Henry , who was on his wa.y to Easton to col­

lect a debt Hart owed to Joseph Simon. Hart claimed that he was in diffi­

cult financial straits. 

B.r August first, Barnard had returned to Philadelphia from his trip 
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to the north, and he was forced to report to George Croghan that no 

purchasers were found for his New York lands. The same report was con­

veyed by Barnard to William Franklin at their meeting in July. Franklin 

could wait no longeT, and be sent Joseph Galloway and Richard Peters to 

demand the money f r om Croghan 1 s Philadelphia agents . Unless the JTB tter 

were settled immediately , Peter s was to take out an execution to have t he 

otsego l and sold by the sheriff. According to too by-laws of New York, 

this gave Croghan about s ix months to settle th~ affair. Thomas Wharton 

indi cated that he was not particularly concerned about his mortgage and 

even suggested that his brother, Sam Wharton, might be inclined to help 

Croghan when be returned home f rom Londcn; but the members of the Burlington 

Compacy we re anxious to close t he JTBtter quickly. In fact, i t might well 

have been theU' hope that Croghan could not raise the money . In that case, 

they could buy back t he tract "for little or nothillg11 and still find 

Cr oghan indebted to them. Barnard w01: ld do the best he could under the 

circumstances - and be was prepared to parcel the l and into 1,000 acre 

l ots, so that Croghan n.ight gain the greatest advantage should the l and 

go up for sale by the sheriff . Croghan , the eternal optimils t , replied 

on September e ighth that he antici pated paying off hia debts before 

Chris tmas. He instructed Barnard to pursue his suggestion that the land 

be surveyed into 1,000 acre lots; it would certainly help t o sell t he land. 

Jolm Campbell was l eaving for Fort Pitt shortly; and, i f possible, Barnard 

was to report to him concerning his meetings with Peters and Governor 

Franklin. 

John Campbell had just returned floo111 the Falls or the Ohio, where 

he and Dr . John Connolly bad spent the Sllllllller surveying that wilderness 
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site as the location of a significant new settlement in Kentuck;y . Dani el 

Boone bad been quietly exploring the Ken tuc.ky interior since 1769, and 

now the prOlllot.ers of the wes t vard expa.nsi on were r eady to open tnis region 

tor settle:rient as wall. Louisville was to be the first step in the develop­

ment and occupation of this interior region. At the same time, actual 

set tleMnt was taking place at Natchez on the Mississippi River. General 

!Jman, with the backing of his Connecticut compa.triots and v i th the help 

ot the Connecticut l'llilitia , arri ved at Natchez in the SUJllJ!ler of 177J , 

laid out t.•enty - three townships a n:i settled one hundred !9mili es there. 

ey August t"iJelith, the work was completed, and t he J!lllitiamen returned 

to their homes. 'nle reports fl-an Philadelphia also ind1ca ted tba t some 

3 ,~')() Irish i.mllligrants had arrived at that port within a two-week peri od -

eager for new l and and a n ew start in America. 

The succe ss of the western t.rade can be seen eTen more clearly i;i 

the brief report sent to Barnard and Michael from William Murray in 

September that be had received in full the ar.iount due David Franks and 

Compartr !'rC1:'11 JaJ'lles ~ey. According to t he records (October Jl, 1770 to 

April 2 , 1773), Williar11 Murray had accumulated a t otal credit with LeyY 

and Franks to the tune of 16 , 142 pounds. Tnvestment in western trade was 

truly a l ucrative enterprise r 

It was about this time that Was;'lington began to s ee t!l6 !'utilit;r 

of opposing the Pennsylvania land grants. What was important ns t o get 

vestem l and while the getting v as good and before somebody el$e clai.Nd 

it. On September 25, 1773, he instructed Crawfor d t o survey the territory 

lying below the Scioto Bi••r - lrt the region betw6en the Vandalia col on:r 
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and the Fall3 of Ull!! Ohio; and, on November !Second, be indicated to Lord 

Du.runore his acceptance of tte deci s ion of the king's Council concerning 

the establishment or a new govern111ent on the Ohio. Instead of refuting 

their claim. to t l'8se western lands, Washington requested that Lord Dunmore, 

as agent fo r nis majesty in Virginia, grant him land adjoining the new 

colony - thet is , that tract just south of the Ohio River 1n what was still 

cnns i dered Vir ginia territory. There is no record of whether the grant 

"as made , but, on Decetilber tenth, Lor d Dunmore did confer upon Dr. John 

Connolly a l!\U1tary ~ant of 200 1 000 acres of land at the Falls of the 

Ohio. Another indication that such mili"CarY grants were becoming more 

cOt1U11on was the petition submitted to the governor of Virginia and his 

c ouncil by t he Loyal and Gr~enbrier Companies, asking that these ailitary 

grant~ should not include la.nds previously gr a nted to the two companies. 

On December 16, 1773, the council voted t o accept the petition and so 

instructed the governor. The Lo.ral and Grtienbrier Companies resuned their 

surveys of the lands gr anted to them, and these surveys were continued 

until the Revolution. 

Developm1rnts in the west continued at a very rapi d pace. k 

February, 177h, George Washington lll'Ote t o Janes Tilghman of Philadelphia 

with t he suggestion that iriunigrants .from th~ Pi.latinate be Ulported into 

Virginia through Holland ~ settlers on hia western lands uong the Ohio . 

Later that month , at the recownendation ~r Mr. Young, he contac ted Henry 

Rid~ell wi th the proposition to import indentured Gennans Y:i.a R1ddell 1a 

sh1ppin1 compaJV" to serve the saJl'le purpon. On P'ebruary eleventh, Colonel 

John Canipbell and Dr. John Cormoll.y founded the city of Louisville. n:tey 

lilid off their lots and devtsloped thei r plan o! settlement. in the new 

co111J11unity. At the same time, the c:r<>grara to e stablish a new goverrortent 
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and Virginia frontiersmen had encountered one another head on. Open con­

flic t emerged over jurisdicti on of the territory around Fort Pitt - and 

whoever controlled Fort Pitt controlled access to the Ohio River and the 

western in terior. 

John Connolly was colTIJTLissioned by the Virginia interests to occuw 

Pittsburgh and its dependencies. He began making trouble as soon as he 

arrived in the area, and Arthur St . Clair had hill\ arrested. Allllost 1.mmediatel;f 

e i ghty Virginians bearing arms ap~ared at tre fort to demand his release. 

'.)r. Februar :r twenty-third Joseph Spear wrote to St. Clair to report that 

the Virginians iolere mustering their forces at the old Redstone Fort. Mr. 

3wearingen the Pennsylvania magistrate, was threatened and told that his 

juriediction no longer applied to that region. Spear concluded his letter 

with t he following plea: "l ~herefore th.ink i t Yould be advi sable to en-

deavor to have a stop put to those proceedings, if possible, as it creates 

the greatest disturbance and very much retards the execution of our civil 

process . 11L 7 In this observation, he vas more than correct. There was no 

civil govel'DJllent in vestern Pennsylvania; the area was in a state. of civil 

rebellion and var. The magistrates of western Pennsylvania had called 

upon the Virginia rnilitia to disperse, claiming Pittsburgh as a Pennsylvania 

settlement subject to Pennsylvania . Lav . The Virginians' rep~ vaa typical. 

The frontiersmen ignored the order to disperse, maintaining their right 

t o remain by force of arJM; and Lord Dunmore forwarded to the Earl of 

Dartmouth his re111onstrance aga inst the establishment of the new colon.r 

on the Ohio. George Croghan c.greed with the Virginia assertion that 

Fort Pitt and its i.riunediat,e environs were within the boundaries of Virginia . 
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In fact, he asserted that, while he obeyed the laws promulgated f or th.a~ 

regi on by the Pennsylvania l~islature , "I have always denird the juri s ­

dtct ion by not paying the taxes. nLB Croghan 1 s opinion, co'lldng tram one 

ot key deputies in charge of Indian Ufairs and the western frontier, 

carr ied a great d.f:lal of weight and gave a much needed boost to the Virginia 

t:ause. Towards the end ot Mar~·h, l 77L, John Connolly rece i ved t wo com-

nruniques ! r em Lord 'Du.nJ!lore, apphudi ng hi! defiance of Pennsylvania and 

~ncooraging hill' to persevere in his atte~pts t o F&in con t r ol of t he fort 

for V1 r.-:in1a . March thirty-first , Connolly arrested the sheri ff at 

Fort 1tt . assUJ11ed cont r ol of all civil am military authority and asserted 

th9 ju~1sd1ct1on of ~irgini& lav i n all matters pertaining to the fort and 

its environs. 

A considerable r.~ber of the inhabitants of th,..se 
back parts of this cruntry [are) ready to join hi.Ja 
on any ,..~rgen• ... , eYery arti.:e are be ing used to 
seduce the people, some being promot ed to civil or 
military e~ployments and uthe rs wi th the promisea 
of grants of lands on eaey terms; and the g1dd,y headed 
mob are St) infatuated as to suffer Uetc:9ebes t o be 
carried away by these insinuating delusi ons, for 
instance of which, the t wo constables appointed to 
serve in this tovnship ••• botb deserted us and joined 
the doctor ' s party. It is most certain the doct or is 
deternin~d to carry bis point or lose his life in the 
atte~pt, and it ' s equally certain tha t he has all the 
er:couragel!'ent and prorid.~es of suppor t ft-om Virginia 
thai be can wish for, so that unless an effectual re d,y 
will be speed! 1,y applied "'' kno'-1 not what 1'\"7 be the 
consequence, for matters are carried to T~ry d:a~eroua 
lengths already and a.re likel1 to beco~ r:ore so every 
c1..a,y.L9 

Aeneas "acka1 •a predict ion was 111ost accurate, !or , on •pril sixth, Dr . 

C'.onnoll.T appeared at Westir.oreland Court at the bead of a band of one hundred 

and ei hty- two amed J11en . Cori.nol]J''s party marched t o the Court House , 

surroundP,d it Ind pl aced the l ennsyl va.n1a 1118.gi!tra tes t.n custod,y . On tlie 
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eleventh of April , eneas MacklJ", Devereaux Sll\ith and Af.drew McFarlane, 

all magistrates of westmoreland .:Cunt,y, were seen on t bair way t.o Virginia, 

where they were being taken under guard by a group of Connolly 1 s nen . 

Eventually, these magistrates were placed under arrest in the Augusta 

County jail • 

'Il:-ere was no telline when or under what conditions this conflic t 

would end . It was quite possible that Virginia would vin the struggle and 

el"'erge in cmtrol of the roads to t he Ohio Riv~r and the interfor. From 

the roir.t of view of the Philadelphia arid Lancaster entrepreneurs , this 

would be an unwelcom~d situation - but one which had to be coped with 

r~alistically if the new colony ~ere not to be olaced in jeoparczy. On 

APr i l l~ , 177L, David !'ranks , John Campbell and William Murray , representing 

th~ir associatPs in the Indian CO'!"'Oine , subridtted a p!tition to Governor 

Dunmor e of Virginia asking hi.ril to recogni ze t heir title to t he lands en-

compassed under the plan for thP develo~ent of a new government in Vandalia. 

Virginia now held the upr,er ha."'ld, and Lor d Dunmore and his backers began 

to take charge of tile Jrogru. On t he twenty-firth of April, he i s bued 

the following pr ocl&J11ation: 

Whereas, 1 have Reason to apprehend th.at the Government of 
Pennsylvania, in Prosecution of tneir Clai11l to Pittsburgh 
and its Dependencies , will endeavour to obstruct his 
Majesty ' s Government thereof under 111.Y AdJ!\i.nistration , by 
jllegal and unvarrantable Cc tments of the Officers I 
have appointed for t hat Purpose, and t hat that Settlerient 
is in some ~anger of Annoyance frOll'I t he Indians also, and 
1~ being necessary to support t he Dignity of his Majesty's 
Goverr!lllent , and protect his Subjects in the quiet and 
peaceable EnjoYJ"ent of their Rights; I have therefore thought 
proper b7 and with the Consent and Advice o! hi• Majesty 1 ~ 
Co ncil, by this • ocl&Nti on, in his Majesty ' s N~e, to 
order and reouir the 0ff1~ers or the Militia in t~a~ ~is ­
trlct to e111body a sufficient NtU11ber of Men to reFel any 
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Insult whatever; and all his Majesty ' s liege Subjects 
within this Colony are hereby strictly required to be 
aiding and assisting therein, as they shall answer the 
contrary at their Peril . And I do farther enjoin and 
require the several Inhabitants of the Territory afore­
said to pay his Majestys Quitrents . and all public Dues, 
to such Officers as are or shall be appointed to collect 
the same with.in this Dominion, ~til his }fajest.y 1s 
Pleasure therein shall be known.50 

In addition, he ordered the rel.ease of the three Pennsylvania magistrates, 

and he assumed full l'esponsibility for their arrest Blld incarceration. 

The conflict had been clear-cut and pretty much confined to just those 

parties directly concerned vi.th this contest over jurisdiction. Un-

fortunately, it did not remain so confined. Raving been given authority 

to repel their oppressors by for ce of al"llls, the frontiersmen began to use 

that same violent force to set t le their disputes with the Indians and 

the fur traders. On May sixteenth, the shocking report arrived in Phl.la­

delphia that thirty- e ight to forty-eight Indians had been killed by white 

colonists along the Ohio. The var qui ckly spread until the entire Ohio 

Valley was caught up in the conflict. General Gage wae ordered t o return 

to America to resume hi s command of the British forces . Panic bad struek 

the western regions . 

'!he Peani c that has struck this County, threatening an 
entire Depopulation thereof, induced me a few days ago to 
make an Excursion to Pittsburgh to see if it oould be re .. 
moved and t he Desertion prevented. 

The only probable Remedy th.at offered was to afford 
the People the appearance of sOJlle Protection, accordingly 
Mr. Smith, Mr. Macka,y, Mr. Butler, and some other of the 
Inhabitants of Pittsburgh, with Collonel Croghan and 111Y­
sE1f, entered into an Asfiociation for the immediate 
raising an hundred l'<en, to be er.1pioyed as a ranging 
Company to cover thB Inhabitants in case of Danger, to 
which Aasociaticm several of the Magistrates and other 
L~habitants have acceded, and in a very few days they will 
be on foot. 
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~e have undertaken to mail"ltain for on~ Yonth at 
the rate of one Shilling and six-pence a ~.an per Diem 
th1~ we wi.11 cheerfully discharge, at the 5aJl'e till'• , 
~e flatter outselves that your Honour will approve 
the P•asure. aNi that the Goverr'1!1ent will not onl,r 
r lieve private Persons frOfTI the Burthen, but take 
effectual Measures for safety of this Frontier, and 
thi! I aJ11 desi~d by the Peorle in general to reaues t 
of your Honor. ~l 

I arr\ j ust returned f'ro111 the back country. I was 
up at the pl.ace where Courts are held for Westmoreland 
County; I found the people there in great Confusion 
and , Distress , J!la?ly f&Jftilies Returning to this side the 
11\0untains, others are about Building of forts in order 
t o ll\&118 a Stand; But '!hey are in Great want or AJl'll'l!un1-
t 1on and Aras, and Cannot get a Sufficient Supply in 
those parts . I wish some Nthod would be taken to 
Send a ~uppl.y frori Philadelphja, and unless they are 
Speedily furnished with ams and uairuni tion they v.i.11 
be obliged to Desert the Country.52 

The conditions of trade i n the western frontier during this period 

of con.fli:t between the Pennsylvania and Virg:lnia interests ~re iaost 

unpredictable . Nonetheless, every pffort was ~ade to continue the progress 

in trade and settlel!!l!nt that had been 111Ade up t.o th.at point - despite the 

obviot ~ risk3 and dangers. I n ~.arch , ichael was abl e to report the 

settlement i n western New York was progressing rapdil,y due t.o the 1.Mllligra-

tion of man..v new Oeman families into the area; a.nd, on April seventh, 

John Connolly and John CalllJ>bell fomall.y announced the establishlllent or 

their new set~lement on the ~alls of the Ohio. The ini ti&.1 flurry of 

interest in thb new co'"'Jl!Ull1ty was almost ~ediatel,y quashed by the out­

break of var in the west. In the spri!lg of 1771. , Barnard undertook a 

second jc.urney to Nev York to t.ry to sell his and Crogbans 's lands in the 

Mohavlc Valley. Srull parcels of land wre ha.rd to sell, particuhrl,y 

since money was scarces t •ong the pioneer !arnilies who would desire to 

buy such land, but land speculators continued their tnvestl!!f..nts throughout 



the Jlf'riod. Levi Andrew Levy ordered more MlJl'I fro:n ichael and reported 

that he had purchased 10~ additional acres o! land adjoinin& S< on' s est•te 

in Middle Creek. On May sixteenth, Willla:m l'urray wrote to Barnard at 

John 's rown Province in New York to report that Matthew Ridley and .iillia.m 

Russell, both business partners in &..l.tiltlore , bad replaced Jolt arxt Inglis 

respsct1vel.y as proprietors o! the h.nd co1t1paiy. In all , Murr'1 had been 

able to secure eight new investors from Maryland in the Illinois Company. 

On M.,- twenty- third, Jolm C&mptell left Philadelphia to return to 

Pittsmrgh, though the coru lict still raged &.l.oni the westem border s of 

Pennsylvania. He intimated that ~illi~ Murray was a lso planning t o leave 

aoon for Illinois , and he had already shipped so111e of Murray' s goods t o 

Fort Pitt . Joseph Sb!on had gone up to the fort earlier and now was a tuck 

there because of the Indian upris1nps. Levi Andrew Levy, heading hie 

Lancaster business i n his absence, reported to Michael that Mathias Slough 

s w a letter f?'o SaJT1uel Wharton in London to bis brother, Joseph Whar ton, 

in wh ich he stated that Lord Darbnooth had sent orders to Lord Du.runore not 

to vrant a toot of lands to any person on the Ohio and to make null and 

void the patents be had already granted. 1'he news of the Indian war bad 

reached London and created quite a d iaturbance. Dart.mouth aeems to have 

concluded (pro~ably v1.th the help ot :Yank.li.n, Wharton and othera) that 

the Virginians were to blam:3 for the upt' isings, and be directed them to 

restore to the ante bltllwn conditions of the area. In short , Pittsburgh 

and its enTirons were part of Pennsylvania. and under her jurisdicti.on. 

Alexander Lo-wry reported that Alexander Rou had just received 1,000 

pounds cash tr°"' Willia.'l'I Srni th end Purrl.ance 1n Baltimore for 10, 000 acres 

or land along the Raccoon Cl"eek near the Ohio River (near the l and which 
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Simon and Gratz had received from George Croghan). Therefore, Ross ha-d 

~oney at hand and could pay the debts he owed to Josepl1 Simon and Simon 

and Henry. Michael uas instructed to collect the money. In addition, Levy 

reiterated his order for ~ore rum. On May thirtieth, Campbell wrote from 

Pittsburgh to report that the Indians were still extremely hostile. Three 

traders, David Duncan, John Anderson and Captain White Eyes, attempted to 

reach the Shawnee towns, but were attacked and forced to return to the 

fort. The mi litia had been sent as far west as Wheeling to watch the 

Indians and to oppose them "if they .find them anywhere on the south side 

of the Ohio." Almost all the settlenents west of the Monongahela River 

were deserted, and a great number of f~ontier faJl)ilies had fled to the 

eastern side of the Allegheny Mountains. Ca.l!lpbell ordered gunpowder and 

aJ'Tl!Tlunition for the fort - and a union flag. The goods could be shipped 

up with Bogall or McFef, both of whom were expected there shortly. Camp­

bell reported th.at Dr. Connolly was doing a good job in i:reparing the fort 

for defense. On the following day, William Wilson arrived at Fort Pitt 

from the Lower Sha~~nee t~s, from whi ch he barely escaped with his life. 

He left. behi nd nearly fifty horse-loads of skins. One canoe of twenty 

horse-holds had ar\ived safe l Jr with hiJn . Wilson had no news concerning 

his fellow traders - Gibson, Blaine; Richard Butler, George, Jos eph Lindsay 

and Matthew Elliot - who were tradinP, at Hockhocki.ng when the repo~t of 

the I ndian upri sing arrived. 

On July- 22, 1774, Miriam Gratz wrote to Michael (vho vas pr:>bably 

in Lancaster on business) to report that Barnard bad successfully completed 

the sale of Croghan's Nev York l.at¥is . The three lots lying on Schoharie 

Creek and the 9,000 and 40,000 acre tracts near Cherry Valley were svld 
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t or a total or L, BliS pounds· and ~.rs . Gratz stated that she would pay off 

Peter' s judgemPnt a,ainst Croy,h~n, Banyer's mortgage and all other debts . 

in addition. tr.e 9 , 050 acres or landed on the Tenendorah, which oghan 

deeded t o ¥.ichael, were now his free and cl~ar . Illere were no mortgages 

or jod1e!'lents against it. 

With the s uccessf\11 sale of Croghan ' s ¥.ohawk lands, another phase 

in u-~ growing involvement of oa.mard and Yi chael Gratz in the western 

move111ent COl!le~ to a close . crtl.y another chapter has concluded; the great 

bulx of the book lies ahead. The J:eace which cue 1.n November, t77L, 

initiated anothe1· .. urge forward into the western interior - only to be 

curtailed by the outbreak or the ReTolutionary War a year later. Ex­

tensi-nt colonization was out of ~be question for the duration of the war. 

:'ollowin~ the var C&J1te the long per iod of colonial reorgan i zation. Border 

disoutes had to i..e settled once agQ!n , and the r i ghts of those who received 

gr ants of land in the west had to be reestablished. Finally, the grandiose 

schP es f or colonizati on along t he Ohio River and in Ientuck;y bad to be 

ut into effect - a drama which evinced the ~re't desti.n,~ of our nation 

as thousands upcn thousands of pioneer f aii ilies pushed westward to the 

~ississippi and, f rODl t hence , to the Pacific coast . Barnard and Michael 

Gratz, iMwdgrants tran 3ilesia and Er.gland, had been aJtong the initiators 

of the drama and two ot i ts most significant part i cipants . 

I 

I 



FOOTNOTES 

1 . Curtis P. Nettels, The Roots of American Civilization (Nev York : F.S. 
Crof ts and Ccmpaiy, 1938) , p. 93. 

2 . Harold Underwood Faulkner, American Economic History (Nev York: Harper 
and Brothers Publishers, 19LJ), p . 71: 

) · Ibid., ?· 115. 

h. ColUJ11bia University Quarter].y, JCXVII, September, 1935 , quoted in Nettels, 
p. 600. 

S. Nettels~ p. 607. 

6 . Howard M. Sachar, 1be Course o! Modern Jewish History (Cleveland: The 
Wor ld Publishing company, 1958), p. JO. 

7. The following persons appear frequently in the early business ventures 
of Barnard and Michael Gratz: ftyman Gratz of Silesia, their older brotller; 
Solomon Henry of London, their cousin; Jacob Henry of London and lullerica, 
Solomon Henry's brother; Jacob Praeger o.f Aasterdam, the husband o! 
Solomon Henry ' s sister; Jonathan Henry of London, another brother of 
Solomon Henry who married Judith Gratz, the sister of Banlard and Michael 
Gratz. It is possible that th~ Harts, Polocks and Pollocks, with 'Whom 
both Solomon Henry and the Gratz brothers are frequently associated, 
are also relati ves, since Solomon and Jacob Henry are the sons of Mr. 
Tsebi of Silesia - vhich becomes Herschel or Hart in English . (William 
Vincent Byars, B. and M. Gratz , Merchants in Philadelphia l tSL-1798 
(Jefferson City, Mo . : The Hugh Stephens Printing CO., 19lt), pp. 8-io, 61). 

8. The job vas probably secured for him by Naphtali or Moses Franks, brothers 
Davi d Franks , who had settled in Er.&land (all three brothers were born 
in AJTteric.a) and bee9le successful merchant-adventurers and leaders of 
the Ashlcenazic Jewish co!TUllUility in Londor (Jacob Rader Yia.rcus, t;;\ 
American Jewry (Philadelphia: The Jewish rublicati on Society of er ca, 
1955), !I, pp. lOf. ) , 

y , Miranda had obviously done well both as a western trader and as a 
shopkeeper for, a t his death , hi s estate i ncluded two houses in 
Philadelnhia, silver plate, furn i ture , a farm in La.ncaster County and 
several thousand acres of land ( i~id., II , p. 5). 

10 . Isaac Levy seems to have returned t o London, for fran the 17$0 1s on he 
appeared several tiJnes to press his claiJns for i:roperty in Georgia. 
Moses Fran~s al.so returned to London, there to join his older brother, 
Naphtali, who was already established in business . (~. , II , pp. 296-298) . 
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11. Thomas Lee died soon after the founding of the company, and the rnanage-
ent of 1 ~ affairs !'ell 1118.inl.y on t.he shoulders of Lawrence Washington . 

However, hi::; le.:.c!e rship also was short-lived, as his rapidly declining 
health soon termillated in his demise . Several of the company ' s shares 
changed bands, and ro ernor Robert iinwiddie and George Mason be-
cue proprietors. There were original.l,y only tlfenty shares issued, 
however, and the compaiy never consis ted or more than that number of 
.e~bers (W. 1. Byars, 'llle ~ratz Papers, 1750-18$0 (1915) , ~ec. I ., p . 85 
(micror1 lm)). 

12 . Several other c0111panies were forr:ed at this ti.rile in Virginia to develop 
grants of land in the west, but none of the.111 played as s ignificant a 
role in western land policy as did the Ohio Company or Virginia. 
June le, 17L9, the Virginia Council grantl'!d to a nUJ11erous oompal\Y of 
adv~nturers th~ right to s urvey and purchase 800, 000 acres of l.Auld 
west and north of the North Carol~a border. This canpany established 
itself as the Loyal Company of Vi rginia, and, in 1753, i t pet i tioned 
the Council for tour more years in which to cOMplete its surveys. The 
erup~ion of the Indian wars in 17SL disrupted i ts plans and drove off 
the eari,. settlers. tii.milar1y, on October 29, 1751, the /irgioia 
Council issued another order to the Greenbrier Company to take up 
lOC,00 acres of land J..ring on t:.he Greenbrier River, nortnwes t and west 
Jf Cow Pasture. The Indian wars also di srupted the surveys and settle-
r.ents of this company (~., sec. m, p . l). 

lJ . ~., sec . I , p. RL . 

l.L. Another possible source of infoma. ti.on on t:.he involvenent of Franks 
and Simon in the western t r ade Wa.3 his cousin, Jacob Henry , who, in 
17SL, was employed as David Frar.ks 1 agent at Pittsburgh (Byars, 3. and 
M. Gra~1, P• 31) . 

1$. FYen nov one CM point to tbe re,.t'llergence on American soil or that 
111ercantilist tendency for person.3 related togeth~r by birth or ~arriage 
to do bu. .. ines& one V: tb anoth"'!:r. The sister of v_yer Y.yers 1 wife 
('ebecca ears or yer sj 111arr1ed Yathiu~ ~sh, a second sister married 
Barnard Gr atz . her first cousin J11arried Joseph Simon, and another cous in 
would marcy Si.P.on' s da•~ hter , Pelle Silllon (tlalcobl 'I{, SterT'I , ericana 
of Jewi.~h r~scent (C cinnati: Hebrew Union College ?ress, 1960), p. l 6o) . 

16. M~rcus, II , p. 15. 

17. AccordinF to Stern (p. 6L \ , Michael Gra~z was born 1n Langendorf in 17uO, 
which would l'!alce hi:rn about '! teen years of age at the tilrle Barnard's 
letter to his cousin • and an eifhteen year old lad v~s expected to be 
fimly settled iil his bo!'tiness life . 

18. Byars, The Gratz Papers, sec . IJI , p . 91. 

19. • Geyet suggests that Solomon Henry's hesitancy to involve ~elf in 
trade with the ainla.nd. colonies m13" have been reall,y a question or CJ'ITer -

• 
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gxtended credit . AlthouFh the sairces consulted for this thesis give 
no clear indication of Henry 1 s financial activities d .:rinv this period, 
T get the impression that he continued his trade with the West _ndies 
and the Far East - thoUfh not wi th the AJ!lerican colonies . This is 
only an '4mpre ssion and WOJld need J'l'IUch further study to substantiate it. 

20. Byars, '1'?1~ Gratz Papers, sec. V, p. 26. 

21. Ibid •• sec. V, pp. LL-h6. 

22. R'jars su~gests that th·s tavern was probably locat ed in Philadelphia and 
is not to be confused w~ th the Indian ueen Tavern in La.ncas ter (ibid. , 
oec I , p. 3?) . 

23 rolf and Wh:!.tE""'ar SPem t~ suvgest (taking t">e·r cue f r cn Vohliler) that 
thP "Sufferinc Trad,,rs of 1763" and the "Suffering Traders of 17511" 
w~rk!-d to~ether at first 1n pr essine their clai.Ms for CO!Tlpensation. 
Latrr on they disassociated their efforts, and WilliaJ'!l Trent was given 
pm.-er of attorney to advance the case of the 176J claimants. I prefer 
,:arc s' suggestion that the initial effort ~as ~ade by tne fur traders 
who suffered losses in 1763 and that . onl,y when their efforts ~et w1th 
so~e s~ccess. did those wno had lost goods in 175L begin to press thPir 
claims (Edwin 101.t, 2nd, and Maxwell nbi teJ!Wl , The P.istary of the Jews 
nf i hiladel hia fi'Ot'll Colonial 'l'i.file s to the t1. e of Jackson ( Philcldel phia : 
The ewish cation .:>ocie ;y o Alllerica , p. ; Albert T. 
Volwiler, G~orMa Cro~an and the .Jestvard Movement, 171'1-1782 (Cleveland : 
':'!le Arthur H. rk mPaJ\Y, 1926} , p. 169; and Marcus, II, pp. 2bf.). 

2L. Byars, The Gratz Papers, sec. V, p. 7). 

2$. It may have been the massacre of the Conesto~ Indians b/ the co.rs frO!I\ 
Pa.xtor, County which first br ought 1111113.J!l Murray into contact with Barnard 
and Michael Gratz - through Joseph Simon and the Lancaster fur traders. 

26. It s quite possible t~at :lav'd Franks was concerned with Michael in this 
West Indies venture. Barnard Gratz and I sa-ic Adolphus ;llay als:> have 
invested in his progra!ll. It ·s even possible that SolOMon Henry of 
London was involved - through the Gr~tz brothers and his connections in 
the vest Indif's . 

?7. Byars, T"n11 Gratz Pa oers • sec. vu, p. 65. 

28 . Ibid • • sec. VII, pp. 95-97 . 

29 . Ibid.' sec. VIII, p. lL. 

JO. ~., sec. VIII, pp. 17f. 
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31. The Stanwi.x Treaty was signed by William Franklin, Governor of New 
Jersey; Frederick Smith, Chief-Justice of New Jersey; Thomas Walker, 
Commissioner for Virginia; Richard Peters, of the Council of 
Pennsylvania; John Skinner, Captain of the 70th Regiment; James 
Tilghman, of Pennsylvania; Joseph Chew, of CoMecticut; John Weather­
head, of New York; John Walker: of Virginia; E. Fitct, of Connecticut~ 
Abraham or Tyahanesera, chief of the Mohawks; William or Sennghois, 
chi ef of the Oneidas; Hendrick or Saquarisera, chief of the Tuscaroras; 
Hunt or Chenaugheata, chief of the Onondagoes; Tagaaia, chief of the 
Cayugas; and Gaustarax, chief of the Senecas (ibid . , sec. VII, p. 99). 

32 . ~., sec. VIII, pp . 97f. 

33 . Six of Joseph SJ.men 's daughters were married, and the names of their 
husbands frequently appear in the Gratz papers. Miriam Simon marri ed 
Michael Gratz; Susannah Simon aarried Levi Andrew Levy; Belle Simon 
married Solomon Myers (-Cohen); Shinah Simon married Dr. Nicholas 
Schuyler; Rachel Simon married Solomon Etting; and Leah Simon married 
Levi Phillips (Stern, p. 194). 

3h. Byars, The. Gratz Papers, sec. IX, pp. 42f. 

JS. Ibid., sec . IX, p. 83 . 

J6 . Ibid., sec . X, pp. 5lf. 

37 . Dr . Chyet has correctly observed that public opinion in both England 
and America was by no means unanimous on this issue . 'lbese Acts of 
Parliament (i. e . , the Townshend Acts, the Declaratory Act and the 
earlier Stamp Act) were passed, in great measure, because of the 
pressures brought to bear upon the legislature by ''the merchants and 
manufacturers of .E)}gland . 11 Yet, once the colonial policy of economic 
boycott became keenly felt in England, these very merchants and 
manufacturers petitioned for their repeal . 

All the principal manufacturing towns have sent 
petitions for a repeal of the Stamp Act. A 
manufacturer from l-eeds ••• said, since the stagna-
tion of the American trade, he has been constrained 
to turn off 300 families o~t of the 600 he con-
stantly employed •.• The country Members (of Parliament) 
are somewhat alarmed at so many people losing employ­
ment; if anything repeals the Act, it must be this.(p.llS) 

Henry Cruger , Jr., of Bristol, England, whose funds were deeply 
COl!Ul'.itted to the American trade, wanted nothing eo much as to rid 
the trans-Atlantic trade of Parliamentary control, and he strongly 
encouraged the embargo of British goods in America. Yet his colonial 
compatriot, Aaron Lopez, evinced a very phlegmatic attitude toward 
Resolutions. 
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39. 

40. 

Ll . 

42. 

43 . 

44. 

4-5. 

46. 

47. 

156. 

That year of 1765, t he year of the Stamp Act 
crisis, found him •• • heavily involved in the trade 
with England, and a prolonged suspension of com­
mercial relations with the mother country, even 
though it might have served him in disposing more 
easily of tr.e goods he had on hand, threatened to 
undermine his business at the very moment he wished 
to expand i t. {p. 129.) 

Baxter suggests that John Hancock of Boston could regard "a stop­
page of trade" as "exceedingly convenient, 11 since 

stocks that had been lying on the shelves for 
months could then be sold, and there would 
be no need to pay English creditors ••• a no­
trade agreement would have its compensations; 
it would provide a welcome pause for retrench­
~ent and a sound reason for not paying debts to 
England. (p . 135, note 254) 

And, while the program to boycott British goods was more fully 
organized and more strictly enforced with respect to the T~nsbend 
Acts, one can well imagine that no singular motive or opinion pre­
valed even then in either Britain or the colonies and that many 
persons in each land refused to accede to the majority path (Stanley 
Franklin Chyet, "A Merchant of Eminence: The Story of Aaron Lopez" 
(!.111published Ph.D. tlissertation, Hebrew Union College- Jewish Institute 
of ReJigion, 1960 ), chapters nine through eleven). 

Byars , The Gratz PaEers, sec. X, p. 41. 
Ibid., sec. x, p. 72. 

Ibid., sec . X., p. 115. 

Ibid., sec . XI, p. 13. 

~., sec. XI, p. 28. 

Ibid., sec. XI, p. 34. 

Ibid., sec. XI, pp. 40f. 

Byars, B. and M. Gratz, p. lJl. 

Byars, The Gratz Pa,eers, sec. XI, p. 83. 

~., sec . xn, p. 8 

48. Ibid. . In this instanr,e, he was j oined by most or the Virginia frontiers­
men; who also refused to p~ the taxes r,equired of them by the Pennsyl-
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vania magistrates . See Ibi d . , sec. XII, p . 22 . 

49 . Ibid. ' sec. XII, p . 8. 

so. Ibid ., sec . XII, p. 22 . 

51. !bi<;. ' sec . XII , p . )J , 

52 . Ibid. 
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